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Five Years Financial Summary

hFMHRE

Year ended 31 December

HE+-BA=+—HLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Results e “E--F§ “ETEF “E-NE “EN\E R o
Revenue Wiz
(RMB'000) NS ) 173,974 275,541 804,898 90,251 615,899
(Loss) profit attributable EATZHEBA
to owners of the FE(L (8538) i
Company (RMB'000) (NREF7m) (400,926) (7,775) 74,184 (34,461) 44,702
(Losses) earnings per share % (E518) BB A
(RMB cents)* (NEHED)*
- Basic —EK (157.55) (4.26) 40.66 (21.57) 29.37
- Diluted -8 (157.55) (4.26) 40.66 (21.57) 29.37
* Based on share consolidation of every ten old shares consolidated e RIEEHRERD S H RPN & 05
into one new share. Ho
At 31 December
R+ZB=+—8H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Assets and liabilities BERER —EBC-F 2%y “E-hE “BE-N\EF “T—tF
Total assets EEBE
(RMB'000) ARETT) 722,210 1,096,471 1,183,485 1,535,616 1,382,377
Total liabilities =gk
(RMB'000) (NE®EFm) (444,133) (353,288) (494,908) (942,117) (787,982)
Net asset value BEFE
(RMB'000) AR®F) 278,077 743,183 688,577 593,499 594,395
Equity attributable to owners BATZHB A
of the parent (RMB'000) bR
ANR®Tm) 284,107 685,468 631,426 557,022 556,359
Non-controlling interests el 4
(RMB'000) (NE®Fm) (6,030) 57,715 57,151 36,477 38,036
Total equity e 278,077 743,183 688,577 593,499 594,395
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the major business segments of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) during the year
ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year"”) is as follows:

Property Development and Investment

During the Year, the revenue attributed to the property
development and investment business amounted to
approximately RMB173,974,000 (2020: RMB247,878,000),
representing sales of properties of approximately
RMB172,547,000 (2020: RMB246,450,000) and
rental income of approximately RMB1,427,000 (2020:
RMB1,428,000). The Group operates two property
development projects located in Maoming City, Guangdong
Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
first Maoming Project has been developed into a composite
of residential and commercial properties in three phases
(the “First Maoming Project”). Majority of the commercial
and residential properties of Phases 1, 2 and 3 of the First
Maoming Project had been delivered in 2019 and most of
the proceeds from sales of the First Maoming Project has
been used in the development of the second phase of the
Maoming Project situated at Maoming Jixiang District* (7%
LM E /&) (the “Second Maoming Project”). During
the Year, the total area of residential and commercial
properties of the First Maoming Project recognised as sales
approximately 11,801 square meters and 4,983 square
meters respectively (2020: 14,600 square meters and 1,693
square meters respectively). 160 units (2020: 1,051 units)
of car parking spaces for both private cars and motorbikes
were recognised as sales during the Year.

The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the sales of the
First Maoming Project are near the end while the Second
Maoming Project is still under development. Gross margin
was decreased as selling prices of the remaining properties
were adjusted in accordance with the existing market and
the major competitors’ market prices in Maoming City
under a selling campaign.

BIEE &ﬁ#ﬁ

75 [0l R

TR KRENBLRARE ((AEE) RBE_Z
T H+-B=+—HILEE (TxFE)) >
TEXEHFOASEBNT

MEBRRIRE

RAFEE MELZRBRAREEERERMLGZK
HHARB173,974,0000 (ZCE_ZF
ANER#247,878,0007c) » BN EHE LN A
RE#172,547, 0000 (ZEZEF : AR
#246,450,0007T) RS W AN AR
1,427,0000 (ZE-ZF : AR®1,428,000
o) c A EBERKEMBEUNPEAREMEA
(THhE) BEREAXELTHNREMERZEER o
B —E% %IEEE‘_HHE’* AEETRBE
MENGEEE ((F—EXLER))  F—E
R2BESE— 8B F_HEMRE-BABOBE
BREEVMEER _E—NEXNE—1E
REBEENAKBOHEEMSRNBEBERNRKRS
EHNEXLEEEF_HANREZE(TEZE
**%IEEJ)OFZKEF“ BIBABEEZE—E
RLABEENGECEAEAYEZLERS BN
11,801 F H K K4,983F K (ZEBE_ZF .
DR14,600F H K K1,693FFK) c RAE
B BIAAHEAREAELEZFENS
16018 (ZZ -4 :1,0511@) o

Wmm b ETBZEEANRNFE —BEEXREBEENHEE
Emﬁ&m% mE_EXLEEDERMZE SR B
REGMENHEEBRESRNBEETHTRIE
fﬁ*ﬁ‘ﬁ%)ﬁ’zigﬁ%%ﬁl‘iﬁ R&EM ™5 E
BIELAE  WEFMKAMRTE-
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEF RO

Due to the challenging operating conditions in property
sector under pandemic COVID-19, and the economic
uncertainty leading to negative market sentiment, the
properties held for sale recorded an impairment loss
of approximately RMB302,818,000 (2020: nil), and an
impairment loss of approximately RMB71,026,000 (2020:
nil) was recognised for properties under development.
Selling and marketing expenses increased by approximately
RMB7,308,000 mainly due to the promotion expenses of
the Second Maoming Project.

The Second Maoming Project

On 27 November 2019, Maoming Shang Cheng Real
Estate Company Limited* (%% LB X B RAE) (the
“Maoming Shang Cheng Real Estate”), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, successfully won
the bid of land use rights of the Second Maoming Project
situated at Maoming Jixiang District* (%R & ™ & #/)\&)
with a total site area of approximately 29,274.16 square
meters and the consideration of which was approximately
RMB241,512,000. The land acquisition transaction by
Maoming Shang Cheng Real Estate was completed in
2020. The Second Maoming Project was planned to be
developed into composite of residential and commercial
properties with the following approximate planned areas:

Land site area
A& AR

Gross saleable area
WOl EmBE
Residential areas
FEERA
Commercial areas
ElEEE
Carpark spaces

FE
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HRFEESRFESMAEBETYETSER
BRENRBE A VDEKCERABREZENTHER
Bam FEFHENYERSREBELOAR
#302,818,000c (ZE_ZF : &) UK
EEYMERIDBAEREBOAR®KT71,026,000
T(CE_BFE 8 HERESHBEMY
ANER#7,308,000c 3 FEHRFE_BRLIE
EWEERI T -

BF_ERBER

R_E—NEFE+—BZ+tH c&EBREE
E2EWBATRLLEHEXRBRERASD (MK
ZLEHEXE)) MRKEBAARM241,512,000
TP ERETEHENESE_EARRER
(M5 EFREAI29,274. 16 FK) =2 Lt H#ifE
R -RLLLHEXEMNIHEBTZER =
T EERRCoR_ERREBERERAE
TERERYEALA—BNESXEER MO8
FEmBEWT

29,000m?
29,000F 75 K
84,000m?
84,000 A K
59,000m?
59,000 75 3K
25,000m?
25,000F 75 K
1,000 units
1,0001&



Management Discussion and Analysis

Due to the pandemic, construction of the development
of Second Maoming Project had been delayed, so as to
the pre-sales plan. As at March 2023, approximately 48%
of the construction had completed. Construction of the
basement, kindergarten and first 2 blocks of residential
buildings had been completed. Pre-sales of the residential
blocks was started in June 2022, and the pre-sales of the
other parts of the project was rescheduled as follows:

Pre-Sales of residential properties (The two blocks)
FEMERE (MiE)

Pre-Sales of apartment properties

NREYMERE

Pre-Sales of commercial properties
MEYERE

Pre-Sales of car parks and shops
FEAKRHBAUEE

Completion and delivery

% T 3 32 {9

The management of the Group believes that the pre-sales
in 2022 and 2023 will strengthen the financial position
of the Group so that the Group can explore other new
properties development project onward.

Trading of raw cane sugar

For the Year, there was no revenue from trading of
raw cane sugar as the global market of raw cane sugar
remaining volatile due to the COVID-19 outbreak. The
management of the Group will continue to take extra
precautions to mitigate relevant business risks.

BIEE &ﬁ#ﬁ

SREBEEE F_ERXLEENHEESRKTE
EfEWER BE_S _=—F=H > %48%
MERDKT oM ~E 41 5 B KA iEE
TENERETH - FEEENEEEN_Z
T CENBEHGB O BEEEMBONBERMEE
Mg

June 2022
—EZ"HFRA
Second half year of 2023
—E=FT¥EF
Second half year of 2023
TEBEC-ZFTHE
First half year of 2024
“—ENFELEY¥EF
First half year of 2025
TEChAFELE¥F

AEBEEERE Tk -"FT "=
RERAMBREEEBNMBRR EFEEY
EERBEMTYEERER -

REREE S

REFE HRFESRRBEMXEEIRE
ERHNREREZTHDNAKRETE AL
BEREBREREREZNERA - TEEEEERE
BIREEESN TR LUBLE AR E B R
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEF RO

MARKET OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

As the COVID-19 pandemic continued to ravage the world
in 2021, the global economic generally suffered a strong
setback. Amid the effective public health measures, China’s
economy was comparatively stable in 2021. However, the
real estate sector was overshadowed by the debt defaults
of some largest property companies. Economic uncertainty
leading to negative market sentiment, together with
the stringent measures on loans and debt refinancing,
housing sales in China had declined in 2021 and 2022.
The property market is still a cornerstone of GDP growth of
China, with the government policy on easing of financing
in 2022 and the recent border reopening, the management
is cautiously optimistic about China’s property market.
Given the continuing urbanisation and infrastructure
development in Maoming and western Guangdong
province, the management expects that the property
market will be vigorous again as local demands remain
strong while effect of the COVID-19 fading out.

Regarding the First Maoming Project, as more and more
residents moving into the area, the sales campaigns will
be focusing on the remaining commercial properties and
car parking spaces. The Group will also accelerate the
construction progress of the Second Maoming Project to
catch up with the pre-sales schedule. The management
will keep cautiously reviewing the property market and
seek for suitable property development opportunities.
Regarding the trading of raw cane sugar business, due to
the pandemic, the management of the Group has put an
extra precautions on the commodity price fluctuation of
raw cane sugar as it becomes more volatile and will further
explore trading business of sugar while sufficient risk
mitigations can be implemented.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the Year, the Group’s revenue, all contributed
from property development and investment business,
amounted to approximately RMB173,974,000 (2020:
RMB275,541,000). The loss attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately RMB400,926,000 (2020:
RMB7,775,000). The increase of loss was mainly due to
the decrease in revenue, decline in gross profit margins,
impairment loss recognised on properties held for sale
and properties under development, and fair value loss on
investment properties upon disposal and revaluation.

As at 31 December 2021, bank balances and cash were
approximately RMB40,142,000 (2020: RMB77,848,000)
and pledged bank deposits amounting to RMB4,482,000
(2020: RMB11,486,000) have been pledged to guarantee
the mortgage loans granted by the banks to customers
of the Group. As at 31 December 2021, the total assets
of the Group was approximately RMB722,210,000
(2020: RMB1,096,471,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 34% (2020: 7%). The decrease was mainly
due to the impairment loss recognised on properties
held for sale and properties under development, and fair
value loss on investment properties. As at 31 December
2021, the Group's total secured bank borrowing,
bank overdrafts and other borrowing amounted to
approximately RMB18,129,000 (2020: RMB21,609,000).
As at 31 December 2021, the gearing ratio, expressed
as a percentage of total secured bank borrowing, other
borrowing and bank overdrafts over net assets was
approximately 7% (2020: 3%) and the current ratio was
approximately 1.6 (2020: 3.2).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at
31 December 2021 was approximately HK$254,469,052
divided into 254,469,052 shares of HK$1.00 each.

BIEE &ﬁ#ﬁ

FiA %5 [ol B

RAEE > AEBNKZ (E2BREVELER
RIEEER) A AREE173,974,0007T (ZF
—ZHF . ANRME275,541,00070) c KAEER
ANELEEA AR®400,926,00050 (ZF
ZEZE D ARKEET,775,0007T) o B NTE
HPRWEBRD EFER LD BREEEHEY
ERTERMERBEEUAREEMENHE
REHFNAAEEBEEBRRN

N _E_—F+_RBA=+—H BT &E"F
BRI A AREEL0,142,00070 (&=
T ANRMT7,848,0007) R IKWMIRIT

FARARMA, 482,000 (ZE_ZFF : A
E111,486,00070) BEIKIF » LLIERRTT

BRYAEBEANEBBER R_T_—F
+ A=+ —H AEEBNEEEANA
E1722,210,000c (ZE_EF | AR
1,096,471,0007%) » B LW34% (ZE =
FiT7%)  ZBLOTHEEERRERFEHE
MERTEBRYMENREERBURKEYE
NAEBEMR RN _E_—F+_-_B=+—
H AEBNEIRFRTER RTEIRE
MERBE AN AREK18,129,00050 (Z &=
THE AREE21,609,0007T) cRZE=Z—4F
+ZB=+—H EBEEBEX (UBFERIET

B EMER NIRRT EZ BERUEEFE
ZEDLFE) AYT% (CE_ZF 1 3%) >

MABSEEAENI 6 (CE_FF 13.2)°

BARLGE

A B —F+_B=+—H ARABENEE
TEBERERAAELBE254,469,05270° DA
254,469,052 S REEEM1.00TcH D
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEF RO

CHANGE OF AUDITOR

The Group’s former auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmastsu
("Deloitte™), has resigned as the auditor of the Group with
effect from 15 August 2022 as the Company and Deloitte
failed to agree on the scope of the independent forensic
investigation. Please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 17 August 2022 in relation to the resignation of
Deloitte.

In the letter of resignation of Deloitte, Deloitte advised
that, inter alia, Deloitte has not completed the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and the
financial statements of the subsidiaries of the Company
incorporated in Hong Kong for the year ended 31
December 2021.

On 9 September 2022, the Company has appointed
McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited (“McMillan”) as
the new auditor of the Company to carry out the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for year
ended 31 December 2021. There were differences between
unaudited results published on 31 March 2022 and the
audited results.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in auditor
during the last three years.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenues and incurs costs in
Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The
Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in
Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management will monitor foreign
exchange exposure closely and consider the use of hedging
instruments when the need arises.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s leasehold
land and buildings with an aggregate carrying values of
approximately RMB13,878,000 (2020: RMB14,765,000)
were pledged to banks for securing general banking
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries of the Company.

As at 31 December 2021, pledged bank deposits of
RMB4,482,000 (2020: RMB11,486,000) of the Group
were pledged to obtain the mortgage facilities provided
to certain purchasers of the Group's properties for which
guarantees were provided by the Group to the banks.

As at 31 December 2021, banking facilities of
approximately RMB9,979,000 (2020: RMB13,189,000)
were utilised and approximately RMB8,767,000 (2020:
RMB20,744,000) were unutilised and available for the
Group's future financing.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The details of segment information are set out in note 6 of
notes to this report.

CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had commitments for
development of properties amounted to RMB316,705,000
(2020: RMB369,138,000).

BIEE &ﬁ#ﬁ

BEERR

A B —F+"_BA=+—H AEEBHER
HEAOART13,878,000 0 (ZEZFF . A
K #14,765,00070) METHEE £ ith R iEFIE

BPRIT FRAERAETHE AT ER —R
RITEEZHER-
RZIE_—-—F+ZHA=Z+—H' AR%

4,482,000t (ZEZFF . ARE"11,486,0007T)
2AREBCEFRITERSERT LWESIE
HFAEEYEETERZRIBER M4
EEEMZEREBERHRITRMEER

A B —FE+__BA=Z+—HBH HARK
9,979,0007t (ZEZZF . ARK™13,189,0007T)
MIRTEEEH ARG ARES,767,0007 (Z
BZFHF . ARBE20,744,0007T) F< B B A 4
R AERRKME o

SEER
DEER ZFBEHEH N RS M EZ M 5E6 -

B R EMEE

A B —F+_B=+—H AEERZEY
HEOEREREAARE316,705,0007T (ZE
—ZEF . AR¥369,138,0007T) ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEF RO

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed 58 (2020:
41) full time employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. Total
remuneration of the Group for the Year was approximately
RMB18,449,000 (2020: RMB15,199,000). The Group’s
emolument policies are formulated on the basis of market
trends, future plans and the performance of individuals,
which will be reviewed periodically. Apart from provident
fund scheme and state-managed social welfare scheme,
share options will also be awarded to employees according
to assessment of individuals" performance.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s maximum obligation
in respect of the mortgage facilities provided to certain
purchasers of the Group's properties amounted to
approximately RMB80,814,000 (2020: RMB163,165,000).

DIVIDEND

No dividend was declared or proposed during the Year. The
board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

There were no significant investments held as at 31
December 2021 nor material acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries during the Year and there is no plan for
material investments or capital assets as at the date of this
report.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FORENSIC INVESTIGATION

Certain bank accounts (the “Bank Accounts”) of two of
the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC, Maoming Huada Real
Estate Development Limited* (R&HEAEMERZE
FR‘A =) (“Maoming Huada”) and Maoming Shang Cheng
Real Estate (collectively, the “Maoming Subsidiaries”) were
frozen in January 2022. Please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 28 January 2022 and 28 March
2022 for details. An independent forensic consultant was
engaged to conduct an investigation into the incident of
freezing of Bank Accounts (“Investigation”).

The Investigation had been completed in September 2022.
The reason for the frozen of the Bank Accounts is that an
associate of the former executive Directors (the “Subject
Party”) was under investigation by the Security Bureau of
Zhangjiang City (“Security Bureau”). The Security Bureau,
for prudence sake, temporarily froze all assets that might
possibly be related to the Subject Party, including the Bank
Accounts of the Maoming Subsidiaries. Pursuant to the
legal opinion issued by the PRC legal adviser, the subject
of investigation by the Security Bureau did not include
the Maoming Subsidiaries. The responsible officer sent by
a PRC bank (the “Bank”) to monitor the Bank Accounts
has expressed that the Maoming Subsidiaries operated
legally and were not involved in any illegal operations or
illegal activities, and there was no evidence as shown in
the Industrial and Commercial Register that the Maoming
Subsidiaries have any relationship with the Subject Party.
The Bank Accounts have been unfrozen since 9 March
2022 upon entering into the custodian agreement
(“Custodian Agreement”) between the Maoming
Subsidiaries and the Bank, the Bank Accounts have since
then been operated jointly by the Bank and the Maoming
Subsidiaries which requires approval by the Bank according
to the terms of the Custodian Agreement. Normal
operational transfer of funds in the Bank Accounts have
been approved by the Bank to ensure the normal operation
of business of the Maoming Subsidiaries.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEF RO

During the course of the Investigation, it was found that
some of the transactions under the Investigation were
lack of proper approval or supporting documentation. The
Board noted that no money was lost on those transactions
and concurred with the view of the independent
investigation committee (which comprised the independent
non-executive Directors) that there was potential deficiency
in the internal control systems and the Group's internal
control mechanisms need to be strengthened. Please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 31 October 2022
for detail findings of the Investigation.

The management has conducted a throughout review and
found that there were (i) subcontract of construction works
to the minority shareholders of the Maoming Subsidiaries
in the amount of approximately RMB10 million, and (ii)
provision of short-term loans to the minority shareholders
of the Maoming Subsidiaries in an aggregate amount of
RMB6 million which had been fully repaid.

Subcontract of Construction Works to a Minority
Shareholder

The Investigation found that in October 2021, Maoming
Shang Cheng Real Estate paid a construction progress
payment of RMB5 million to one of its minority shareholder
who holds 20% equity interest in Maoming Shang Cheng
Real Estate through a corporation in which he owns 50%
equity interest (“Shang Cheng MS"). The construction
works subcontracted to Shang Cheng MS were mainly
for the repair and maintenance works done upon the
completion of the First Maoming Project in 2020 including
installation of fire-proof doors, restoration of underground
parking, waterproof and repair works, and restoration of
shops. Total amount of the subcontracts was approximately
RMB10 million. All the subcontract payments with Shang
Cheng MS, except the one for restoration of shops in
October 2021 amounted to RMB174,570, were fully
settled during the Year. Since then, the Group has no other
subcontracts or transactions with the Shang Cheng MS.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Short-term Loans to a Minority Shareholder

The Investigation also found that in July 2021, Maoming
Huada advanced RMB5 million to its minority shareholder
who is interested in 10% equity interest in Maoming
Huada (the “Huada MS"). Nevertheless, there was another
RMB1 million advanced to the Huada MS in July 2021. The
two short-term loans were fully repaid before the year end
of 2021, and since then, the Group has no other loan or
financial assistance provided to the minority shareholders of
the Maoming Subsidiaries.

The above subcontract of construction works and loans
to the minority shareholders constituted connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

In order to strengthen the internal control systems
of the Group so as to avoid the occurrence of similar
non-compliance with the Listing Rules, the Board had
appointed an independent internal control consultant
("IC Consultant”) to review the internal control systems
of the Group. The IC Consultant had finished the internal
control review exercise and had provided the Board with
suggestions to improve the Group's internal control
systems. The Board had adopted the suggestions and
implemented relevant internal control management policies
and measures, particularly those for conflict of interests,
connected and notifiable transactions with training to the
Board. The IC Consultant was satisfied with the result after
the implementation of the policies and measures, and
believes that the Group’s internal control management
system has been improved, and there are no major risks or
concerns in the Group’s internal control system.

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any
material subsequent event after the reporting period and
up to the date of this report.
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SUSPENSION OF TRADING

Due to the delay in publication of the audited annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
("2021 Audited Annual Results”), trading in the shares of
the Company (the “Shares”) on the Stock Exchange was
suspended from 27 May 2022 pending for the publication
of the 2021 Audited Annual Results. The Stock Exchange
issued the resumption guidance on 17 July 2022 for the
resumption of trading in the Shares. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 1 August 2022 in relation
to the resumption guidance. As at the date of this report,
the management endeavour to fulfil other resumption
requirements as soon as possible.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Pan Shimin (“Mr. Pan”), aged 52, was appointed as
an executive Director and the chairman of the Board on
28 January 2022. He was appointed as the chief executive
officer of the Company on 10 February 2022. Mr. Pan
resigned as the chief executive officer of the Company
and was appointed as the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
on 17 June 2022. He has over twenty years of corporate
and project management experience. Mr. Pan obtained his
bachelor's degree in engineering from the Northeastern
University in the Peoples’ Republic of China in 1994. He
was a director of the light metals department of HATCH
Project Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from August 2011
to September 2014. He served as the director of Asia
Pacific affairs and the general manager of Brochot (Tianjin)
Metallurgical Equipment Manufacturing Co., Ltd. from
October 2014 to May 2015. He was the general manager
of the mineral resources department of Beijing Qixing
Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. in 2019.

Mr. Chen Xian (“Mr. Chen"), aged 59, was appointed
as an executive Director and the vice-chairman of the
Company on 12 October 2007 and was re-designated as
the chairman of the Company on 30 November 2007.
Mr. Chen was re-designated again as the vice-chairman
of the Company on 17 August 2012. He is also a director
of several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen is one
of the founders of a sizeable property development
company in Zhuhai, the PRC and has been a member of
the senior management of a subsidiary of that company.
Mr. Chen was mainly responsible for the investment and
development of real estate projects of such companies.
Before joining those companies, Mr. Chen worked as a
senior member of certain state-owned companies and the
local authority. He has more than 19 years of extensive
experience in the investment and development of real
estate projects. He holds a Master Degree of Business
Administration from the Asia International Open University
(Macau).
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Biographical Details of Directors
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Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 54, was
appointed as an executive Director and the chief executive
officer of the Company on 17 June 2022. He has over
28 years of working experience in various industries
including corporate governance in listed companies, real
estate developments, infrastructure developments and
management, real estate investment trusts (REITS), asset
management, banking and corporate finance, securities
investments and natural resources etc. Mr. Cheng has
been the chairman and an executive director of each of
De Tai New Energy Group Limited (@ company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 559)
and Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange; stock code:
1466) since August 2021 and September 2019 respectively.
Mr. Cheng was a non-executive director of IRC Limited (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 1029) from February 2017 to March 2020
and an executive director of Ming Lam Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Sino Haijing Holdings Limited) (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 1106) from February 2017 to August 2018. Mr.
Cheng previously held other positions in Kingston Securities
Limited, Australian Property Development Company, Yuexiu
REIT Asset Management Limited, Zhongrong International
Asset Management Limited, CITIC Ka Wah Bank and BNP
etc.

He obtained a Degree in Business Studies from University
of Glamorgan in 1992 and a Master Degree in Business
Administration from Cardiff Business School in 1993. He is
a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association
of International Accountants. He is also a member of
Institute of Management Accountants.
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. To Kwan (“Mr. To"”), aged 48, was appointed as an
executive Director and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) on 15 June 2022. He holds a bachelor degree
in commerce (accounting and finance) from The University
of Melbourne, Australia. He has been an independent non-
executive director of Easy Repay Finance & Investment
Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 8079) since 1 November 2022. Mr. To was
an executive director of Sino Union Energy Investment
Group Limited (“Sino Union”) (now known as Yanchang
Petroleum International Limited) (@ company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 346) during
April 2012 to August 2014 and the chief financial officer
of Sino Union during December 2009 to March 2012.
He was also the chief financial officer of Hoifu Petroleum
Group Limited (now known as Wisdom Wealth Resources
Investment Holding Group Limited) (a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 007)
during May 2012 to April 2014, the chief accountant and
financial controller of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 603) during September 2004 to December
2008 and the chief financial officer of Tem Fat Hing Fung
(Holdings) Limited (now known as China Daye Non-Ferrous
Metals Mining Limited) (@ company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 661) during
December 2002 to May 2004. He has over 20 years of
experience in accounting, corporate finance, merger and
acquisition and corporate governance. He is a member of
the CPA Australia.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEMEN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Yau Sze Yeung (“Mr. Yau”), aged 45, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) on 6 July 2022. He has over 20 years
of experience in various sections of the financial industry
including audit and corporate finance. He has been an
independent non-executive director of Chi Ho Development
Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange; stock code: 8423) since February 2017. He was
the financial controller of Janco Holdings Limited (“Janco™)
(@ company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange; stock
code: 8035) from July 2015 to October 2019 and was also
an executive director and company secretary of Janco from
April 2016 to October 2019.

Mr. Yau obtained a bachelor’s degree of business
administration in accountancy from City University of Hong
Kong. He is currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Chen Weijiang (“Mr. Chen Weijiang”), aged 49, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee respectively on 3 January 2020. Mr. Chen
Weijiang has over twenty years of experience in the sugar
markets in the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Chen
Weijiang obtained a law degree from the Xi‘an Politics
Institute of the People’s Liberation Army* (A2} 5 78 2 X
JA2 ) and commenced work at the Zhanjiang Hengde
Sugar Company Limited* CEIIEEMEEBRAE)in
1997. From 2007 to 2017, Mr. Chen Weijiang acted as the
executive director of Zhanjiang Hengde Sugar Company
Limited* GRILIBEMEEARRA).
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. Lee Chun Tung (“Mr. Lee”) (formerly as, Li Chun
Chiu), aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee on 17 June 2022. He obtained a
Master's degree of science in financial engineering from
City University of Hong Kong in 2007. He was awarded the
Bachelor's (Honour) degree in accounting and finance from
Manchester Metropolitan University in 1994. Mr. Lee has
been an executive director of Pinestone Capital Limited (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 804) since 14 September 2022. He was the
senior vice president of Eternal Sincere Finance Limited
from May 2019 to 12 June 2022. He was a chief operating
officer of BOA Financial Group Limited from September
2017 to May 2019, a director of the synthetic prime
service of Haitong International Securities Company Limited
during December 2015 to September 2017, a director of
global commodities division of China Merchants Securities
(HK) Co., Ltd during April 2014 to December 2015, an
operations manager of QRMO (Quality Risk Management
& Operations) from June 2013 to April 2014, a director
of finance and treasury division of BOC International
Holdings Limited during August 2006 to June 2013, an
assistant manager of the risk management department of
Mizuho Securities Asia Limited from September 2005 to
June 2006 and controller of Hong Kong product control
division, Singapore financial control division and Hong
Kong financial control division of Credit Suisse First Boston
(HK) Ltd. during May 2004 to October 2004, October
2002 to April 2004 and December 1999 to October 2002
respectively. Mr. Lee has extensive experience in internal
control, risk management and regulatory compliance.
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Corporate Governance Report

TEELRHRS

The Board and the management of the Company are
committed to the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are
based on the principles and code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Company has complied with all the relevant
Code Provisions of the CG Code throughout the Year.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Company confirms that all Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the Year.
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Corporate Governance Report

COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of
the management of the business and affairs of the Group
with the objective of enhancing its corporate value. As at
31 December 2021, the Board consisted of seven Directors,
comprising four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. At least one of the independent
non-executive Director possess appropriate professional
accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise, which complies with the requirement of the
Listing Rules.

Executive Directors
Mr. Liu Feng (Chairman) (resigned on 28 January 2022)

Mr. Chen Xian (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Lau Sai Chung (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 10 February 2022)

Mr. Liu Zhongxiang (resigned on 28 January 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (resigned on 6 June 2022)

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen (resigned with effect from
30 June 2022)

Mr. Chen Weijiang
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EEERHRS

The Directors’ biographical information are set out in pages
17 to 21 of this annual report. All executive Directors have
given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience to
hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively.
There is no relationship among the members of the Board
except Mr. Liu Feng is father of Mr. Liu Zhongxiang (both
are former executive Directors).

The Board has delegated the executive Directors with
authority and responsibility by handling the management
functions and operations of the day-to-day business of
the Company, while reserving certain key matters for the
approval by the Board. The types of decisions to be taken
by the Board include annual and interim period financial
reporting and control, equity fund raising, declaration of
interim dividend and making recommendation of final
dividend or other distributions, notifiable transactions
under Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules and
making recommendation for capital reorganization or
scheme of arrangement of the Company.

The Board and each Director have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management.
A Director who considers a need for independent
professional advice in order to perform his/her duties
as a Director may convene, or request the secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) to convene,
a meeting of the Board to approve the seeking of
independent legal or other professional advice.

The Company adopts the practice of holding meetings
of the Board regularly for at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also
be convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. Notice of meeting of the Board will be sent to all
Directors at least 14 days prior to a regular Board meeting.
Reasonable notice will be given to Directors for ad-hoc
Board meetings. Directors may participate either in person
or through electronic means of communications.
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During the Year, 4 meetings of the Board were held,
Directors are provided with relevant information to make
informed decisions. The attendance of Directors at the
Board meetings and the Board committees’ meetings is set
out in the table below:

EEELRHRS

FFEEERTHREFE TR EFCESHE
HEHUFHANBRE - EFEREFEET
BEFZEZHFEBREIIN TR

Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

LR/ SERLREZEE
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee  General Meeting
BEith Bxg BERZEE HWEEE ReLZEE RRAE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Liu Feng (resigned on 28 January 2022)  B1$5E (K -E-"F
—AZF/N\B#E) 44 - - - il

Mr. Chen Xian BRERE 44 - - - il
Mr. Lau Sai Chung MBEE KT ZF

(resigned on 10 February 2022) ZHTHF#E) 4/t - - - 11
Mr. Liu Zhongxiang AR E KZE-Z

(resigned on 28 January 2022) —A=+/\Fé#) 414 = - - 10
Independent Non-executive Directors B JFH{TES
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael BRBLE (K TEC

(resigned on 6 June 2022) NAARE 414 20 2 171 17
Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen ERREE FFEZEZ

(resigned with effect from 30 June 2022) 7Y A=+HEEH) 44 M Wy 11 1
Mr. Chen Weijiang BEIEE 414 22 2 1 1
Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional EEZABREBRERERE

Development

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, should keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business and
activities of the Group. Each newly appointed Director
would receive a comprehensive induction package covering
business operations, policy and procedures of the Company
as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations
of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently
aware of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and other relevant regulatory requirements. The Group
also provides briefings and other training to develop and
refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills, and update all
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirement to
ensure compliance and to enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.

EREF (BEBUFATES) 9ATHR
SFAEFEZHARE  URKTEBZETK
EH-BUMEZAZEFHEWI —MHEEZ
ABER SR RELARTZEBEE BR
REFURFREFZ R - EZEAREES
T UBFREFEN THRERN EHRAREM
HEABEERE TZEE -AEBTERHEN
EhEMBIN UERKREMEST ZMH MK
TR EREESRHABM LT RNREME
REEREZENER URFAREFETHBA
RAKRMBEFHRFEXERERZTH -
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During the Year, the Directors participated in the REAFE EFFEUTHAL2EEREES
continuous professional developments in relation to BZEMAE - BEE2HBHBE RN ERE
regulatory update, the duties and responsibilities of the BZRBEXERTE .
Directors and the business of the Group in the following
manner:
Attended
Seminars or
Briefing/Read
Materials
Name of Directors MM Ex
E5H4 BhE BEME
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Liu Feng (resigned on 28 January 2022) Elb= e
K ZEZ—F—HF—+/\HFE) v
Mr. Chen Xian PR & St v
Mr. Lau Sai Chung (resigned on 10 February 2022) BRI E
(R-FE_- & F+HEHT) v
Mr. Liu Zhongxiang (resigned on 28 January 2022) 2BMEE
K —EZ_F—HF—+/\HFE) v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIERITES
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (resigned on 6 June 2022)  BEB&LE
(R ZEZ_—F AN HEF) v
Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen BHRLE (AT -_F
(resigned with effect from 30 June 2022) NA=+HEER) v
Mr. Chen Weijiang PRETI A v

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER FRERITHAER

During the Year, the roles of the Chairman and chief AANBDETERITHEAR (TTHER)) 286
executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive EFET KA BLEERIBERLE SR
Officer”) were segregated and were held by Mr. Liu Feng - FREBEAEE KRR NEEESS
and Mr. Lau Sai Chung respectively. The Chairman is B MITHRAEHEERAER 2 RERER
responsible for the Group's strategic planning and the VR FFHATHABH ZE D T EMW > URERF
management of the operations of the Board, while the BHREBEED M-

Chief Executive Officer takes the lead in the Group’s
operations and business development. There was a clear
division of responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer which provides a balance of power and
authority.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a term of three years, and subject to re-election on
retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Company's
articles of association (the “Articles”). One of the
independent non-executive Director has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Company has received the
annual confirmation of independence from each of the
independent non-executive Directors as required under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based on such
confirmations, considers all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

EEELRHRS
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee
with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. On 20 December 2013, the Board adopted a
set of the revised terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee, which has brought it in line with the new
Listing Rules relating to the board diversity with effective
from 1 September 2013. The revised terms of reference
setting out the Nomination Committee’s authority, duties
and responsibilities are available on both the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. During the Year
and as at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee has the following members:

Members

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen (Chairman)
(ceased on 17 June 2022)
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (ceased on 6 June 2022)
Mr. Chen Weijiang
Mr. Pan Shimin (Chairman)
(appointed on 17 June 2022)
Mr. Lee Chun Tung
(appointed on 17 June 2022)

The Nomination Committee has adopted a written
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria
for the selection and recommendation of candidates for
directorship of the Company.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
are reviewing and supervising the structure, size and
composition of the Board, identifying qualified individuals
to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors
and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

Potential new Directors are identified and submitted to
the Nomination Committee for approval. The nomination
of Directors should take into consideration the candidate’s
qualification, ability and potential contribution to the
Company. A candidate to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director must also satisfy the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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During the Year, one meeting was held by the Nomination
Committee to recommend the re-appointment of the
Directors standing for re-election at the annual general
meeting, to review the size, structure, composition as well
as diversity of the Board, and to assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors. The Nomination
Committee has also reviewed the board diversity policy to
ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group has
achieved the objectives of the board diversity policy during
the Year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee
with the written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The terms of reference setting out
the Remuneration Committee's authority, duties and
responsibilities are available on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration
Committee has adopted the operation model where it
performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board
retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. During the Year and as at the date of this
annual report, the Remuneration Committee has the
following members:

Members

Mr. Chen Weijiang (Chairman)

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (ceased on 6 June 2022)

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen (ceased on 17 June 2022)
Mr. To Kwan (appointed on 15 June 2022)

Mr. Lee Chun Tung (appointed on 17 June 2022)

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee are making recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration
of Directors and senior management, and reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the corporate goals and objectives resolved by
the Board from time to time.
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Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in
note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. During
the Year, two meetings of Remuneration Committee were
held for, inter alia, reviewing the remuneration policy and
structure for as well as the remuneration packages of all
Directors and the senior management. No Director was
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code. On 1 January 2019, the Board adopted a set of
the revised terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
which has brought it in line with the requirement of the
Listing Rules. The revised terms of reference setting out
the Audit Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities
are available on both the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. During the year and as at the date of
this annual report, the Audit Committee has the following
members:

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Chairman)
(ceased on 6 June 2022)
Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen (ceased on 17 June 2022)
Mr. Yau Sze Yeung (Chairman)
(appointed on 6 July 2022)
Mr. Chen Weijiang
Mr. Lee Chun Tung
(appointed on 17 June 2022)

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any questions
of resignation or dismissal of such auditor; reviewing the
interim and annual reports and accounts of the Group; and
supervising the financial reporting process and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings
and performed the following work:

1. Financial Reporting

reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December
2020 in conjunction with the external auditor
and the unaudited financial statements for
the six months ended 30 June 2021;

reviewed the accounting policies and
practices which may affect the Group with
the management of the Company and the
Company’s auditor;

reviewed the auditing and financial reporting
matters, including the key audit matters of
the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2020 which are set
out in the annual report of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2020;

reviewed the audit planning for the Year in
conjunction with the external auditor;

2. External Auditors

reviewed the fees charged by the then
external auditor of the Company, Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu;

approved the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;

reviewed the re-appointment of external
auditor and was satisfied with their work,
their independence, and their objectivity, and
therefore recommended the re-appointment
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the Group's
external auditor for shareholders’ approval;
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3. Internal Audit
° reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
audit functions of the Group; and

4, Risk Management and Internal Controls
J reviewed the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems.

Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted
access to the auditors and all senior management of the
Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

All members of the Board are responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions. The terms of reference
of corporate governance functions was adopted by the
Board on 29 March 2012 and is in compliance with the CG
Code. During the Year, the Board has reviewed the policy
of the corporate governance and the corporate governance
report of the Company.

DIRECTOR’S NOMINATION POLICY

The Director’'s nomination policy of the Company was
adopted by the Board and became effective on 1 January
2019 and the Nomination Committee is responsible for
execution.

Director Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods for
identifying director candidates, including recommendations
from Board members, management, and headhunters.
The Nomination Committee may also put forward director
candidates who are not nominated by Board members.
In addition, the Nomination Committee will consider
director candidates properly submitted by shareholders
of the Company through formal procedures set out in
the Company’s Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director.
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For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations for the Board's consideration
and approval. For proposing director candidates to
stand for election at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation.

All director candidates, including incumbents and
candidates nominated by shareholders of the Company are
evaluated by the Nomination Committee based upon the
director’s qualifications. While director candidates will be
evaluated on the same criteria, the Nomination Committee
retains the discretion to establish the relative weighting of
such criteria, which may vary based on the composition,
skill sets, and experiences of the collective Board rather
than on the individual candidate.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to the recommendation of director candidates
by the Nomination Committee to stand for election
at any general meeting. The Board will take such
recommendations under advisement and is responsible
for designating the director candidates to be elected at
the annual general meeting of the Company and electing
directors to fill Board vacancies.

Procedure for Appointment of New Director

Director candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with
their written consent to be appointed as a Director and
to the public disclosure of their personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in
relation to their standing for election as a Director.

The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the director
candidate, evaluate such director candidate based on
the criteria as set out below to determine whether such
director candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable director
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each director candidate (where
applicable).
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For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
director candidate based on the criteria as set out below
to determine whether such director candidate is qualified
for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation
to shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting (where applicable).

A director candidate is allowed to withdraw his/her
candidature at any time before the general meeting by
serving a notice in writing to the company secretary of the
Company.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated
persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by
the Board to stand for election at the general meeting.

Procedure for Re-appointment of Director at General
Meeting

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
Directors including their attendance of Board meetings
and, where applicable, general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall also review and
determine whether the retiring Directors continue to meet
the criteria as set out below.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then
make recommendation to the shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of Directors at the general
meeting.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z=—&5#

EREERREEZMNEARTRRARE LE
BREFNAT RREZEERKEUTIA
MEAFEZEFBREA LUREZRESFHEE
ARECEREFRESR TH RE2RZEEK
SREEERMNREAR G LERERES

MARRELEZ (WEA) -

EFHEEATRRRERERTEEMF KA
ARBACIMELELEEENRE-

EEEXLHRRBRA ®REBALTFATRRK
HEREFgHEERR ARG LB E-

RIREXRE LEREZNERF

RLZEQRBNRIESHALRTNER
BERMERT BEAEHEEFEEZERREX
TWER NMHEXR UREESEN2HE
ERk&RR-

h%ﬁﬁ TEENREEREEETESD
AT AL TAIBRRZER -

RBVZESER /NEFTTRUNKREARS L
EREEESTNRRELESR-
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Director Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee considers the following
qualifications are at a minimum to be required of a director
candidate in recommending to the Board potential new
Director, or the continued service of existing Director:

(a)

the highest personal and professional ethics and
integrity;

proven achievement and competence in the
nominee’s field and the ability to exercise sound
business judgment;

qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are
complementary to those of the existing Board;

the ability to assist and support management and
make significant contributions to the Company’s
success;

the contribution on diversity of the Board and any
measurable objectives adopted by the Nomination
Committee for achieving diversity on the Board;

an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities
that is required of a member of the Board and
the commitment of time and energy necessary to
diligently carry out those responsibilities; and

meet the “independence” criteria as required under
the Listing Rules and the composition of the Board is
in conformity with the provisions of the Listing Rules
from time to time (where applicable).

Other than the foregoing, there are no stated minimum
criteria for director candidate, although the Nomination
Committee may also consider such other factors as it may
deem to be in the best interests of the Company and the
shareholders of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

On 20 December 2013, the Company has adopted a board
diversity policy (the “Policy”) setting out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
education background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement the Policy and review such objectives from time
to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving those objectives.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision
will be made upon the merits and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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As at the date of this report, the information (including sex,
age, educational background, professional experience, term HEER BEELR
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of appointment and designation) of the Board is as follows:
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No. of Director

BEAH
Age group: 41 to 50 3
FHe 4R A1 ZE508%
51 to 60 4
51ZE605%
Gender: Male 7
MR 5
Female 0
Z
Educational background: Hong Kong and Macau 2
HEE=R: BE KR
The PRC 2
FRE
Overseas 3
g4
Length of service (year): Below 1 4
ARFS IR (6F) - TELF
1-5 2
1255
6-10 0
6E 105
Over 10 1
105U &
Designation: Executive Director 4
5 HITES
Independent Non-executive Director 3

BIIFRITES
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For the purpose of implementation of the Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

ik

The Company shall comply with the requirements
on board composition under the Listing Rules from
time to time.

The number of independent non-executive Directors
should be not less than three and one-third of the
Board.

At least one of the independent non-executive
Directors must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

At least one Director should be the professional or
have intensive experience of the industry on which
the business of the Group is.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives in the

Policy.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The audit works of the Group for the Year were performed
by McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited.
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The total fee paid/payable in respect of the statutory audit
and non-audit services provided by external auditor is set

out in the following table:

SMNBS 1% BLBM PR 12 2 0% E R B SR 12 BUBR 75
ZEN /BN ZERBHEHINTR:

Fee paid/payable

Services rendered FRrig (AR 7S B2t FEHER
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
BEZE-—H ®BHEZZTEF
+—-_BA=+—H +=-HA=+—H
IFEE EEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT 5T
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu =2 e A=A GEHEMIT
— Audit services —Z RS 2,150 1,350
— Non-audit services —IERZEARTS
Interim review REAER RS 615 590
Assurance — Very substantial ER-IEBERKESE
acquisition - 220
McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) RBE (&) SstEnEHm
CPA Limited BRAF 1,000
Total fee paid/payable BBz EREH 3,765 2,160
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary
is subject to the Board’s approval in accordance with the
Articles. Mr. Fu Lui ("Mr. Fu”) has been appointed as the
Company Secretary since 2 July 2010. Mr. Fu resigned as
the Company Secretary with effect from 10 February 2022.
Mr. Lam Tsz Chung (“Mr. Lam”) has been appointed as the
Company Secretary with effect from 10 February 2022 and
resigned on 6 June 2022.

The Company engaged an external professional company
secretarial services provider, Uni-1 Corporate Services
Limited (“Uni-1"), to provide compliance and full range
of company secretarial services to the Group in order to
assist the Group to cope with the changing regulatory
environment and to suit different commercial needs.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ying Stella (“Ms. Chan”), the representative
of Uni-1, was appointed as the named Company Secretary
on 6 June 2022.

Ms. Chan has complied with the requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The primary contact person at the Company for the
Company Secretary is Mr. To Kwan, an executive Director
of the Company, in relation to any corporate secretarial
matters.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors have acknowledged for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements at the end of the
Year which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flows for the
Year. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for
the Year, the Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis. The statement by the auditor of the
Company regarding their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in
the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 101 to 108 of
this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that
sound and effective risk management and internal controls
are maintained, while the management of the Company
is charged with the responsibility to design and implement
an internal control system to manage risks. A sound system
of risk management and internal controls is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Framework of
the Group

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of risk
management and internal controls and reviewing its
effectiveness. The Audit Committee supports the Board
in monitoring the Group’s risk exposures, the design and
operating effectiveness of the underlying risk management
and internal control systems. The management of the
Company assesses and presents regular reports to the
Audit Committee on its own assessments of key risks, the
strengths and weaknesses of the overall internal control
systems, with action plans to address the weaknesses.
External auditor also reports on any control issues identified
in the course of its work. Taking these into consideration,
the Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of
the Group’s system of risk management and internal
controls, and reports to the Board on such reviews. Work
and findings of the management of the Company are
considered by the Board in forming its own view on the
effectiveness of the system.

The Group persistently engages independent professional
team and internal team in performing internal audit work
after considering the independence, flexibility, and overall
efficiency.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Framework S EIE R AR IREE
Diagram
“Top-down” The Board
Mf M Ty EXg
Oversight, identification, Has overall responsibility for Sets strategic objectives Monitors the nature and

assessment and mitigation of
risk at corporate level

the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems

SURBER

extent of risk exposure for the
Group's principal risks

BB R ST AT AR BEERERNEAREER Reviews the effectiveness of ERASETEARNUE
hEEHER NERE R 24 the Group’s risk management KkEE
and internal control systems
B AEERREERALE
BRI
Internal professionals
REABHNAERES
Management Au‘ii,t Comzrln gtee External professionals
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External auditor
ShEEIR BT
Designs, implements and Supports the Board in Supports the Audit
monitors the Group’s risk monitoring risk exposure, Committee in reviewing the
management and internal design and operating effectiveness of the Group’s
control systems effectiveness of the underlying risk management and internal
FE BITRERAEEN risk management and internal control systems
REBEERALELELR control systems BHBREE SR AEER
BYEFEERAREEK RREERNIEERAN
Assesses the Group's risks and N R AN R AEE PR
mitigating measures D%
DMEZIS%IEW 5 KA FE R
ERIEN
“Bottom-up” Operational Level
EATML) FHEEER
Identification, assessment Risk identification, assessment and mitigation e Risk management process and internal controls

and mitigation of risk at
business unit level and across
functional areas

E NS Y g & 3
MESEHENRR

performed across the business

Al SHE R R ETRR

areas

23y

practice across business operations and functional

EREENBERENTRAREERF RN

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —ZZ—&F#

43



44

Corporate Governance Report

EEERHRS

Risk Management and Internal Control Systems and
Procedures

Control Environment — The Group has been operating
under an established and appropriate control environment
with reference to principles of “Internal Control and
Risk Management — A Basis Framework” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Risk management and internal controls cover effective
operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations.

Risk Assessment — The Group continues to drive
improvements to its risk management process and the
quality of risk information generated, while at the same
time maintaining a simple and practical approach. We seek
to have risk management features embedded within our
operations, aiming to have a risk management system that
is practised on a day-to-day basis by our operating units.

The Board reviews and understands the risk factors of the
Group and operations annually, and the management of
the Company continuously monitors the scope and quality
of ongoing risk management and internal control systems.
The "Top-down” monitoring ensures risk management
features embedded within the operations and operated
effectively.

Meanwhile, the heads of operation units participate in
risk identification from “Bottom-up” so as to identify the
Group's overall risks.

Control Activities — The Group's core property
development business and trading of raw sugar involve
well-established business processes. Control activities have
traditionally been built on top-level reviews, segregation
of duties and physical controls. We have been formalizing
and documenting the control processes in policies and
procedures. Written policies and procedures with defined
limits of delegated authority are in place, which facilitate
effective segregation of duties and controls.
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Planning and budgeting processes are one of key control
activities of the Group, which have been refined to
take into consideration risk factors. All operating units
prepare their respective operating plans pursuant to
corporate objectives for consideration. In this process,
they are required to identify material risks that may
impact the achievement of their business objectives.
Action items to mitigate the identified risks are developed
for implementation as well as for achieving the budget
and business objectives. Variance analyses are regularly
performed and reported to the management of the
Company and the Board. These help identify deficiencies
and enable timely remedial actions to be taken.

Capital expenditures monitoring is also significant to the
capital-intensive nature of the property business of the
Group. Depending on the nature and the size of the
projects, detailed analyses of expected capital expenditures
are submitted to the heads of operating units, executive
Directors or the Board for consideration and approval.

Monitoring Activities — The Board and Audit Committee
oversee the process, monitored by internal and external
professionals of the Group. The management of the
Company has emphasized in its updated reports to
the Audit Committee on movements of top risks and
appropriate mitigating measures. There is at least one Audit
Committee meeting substantially devoted to risks items.

EEELRS

EEREKEEHEBRERAEENETES
TRz — THEEERABAZNTEMF
HLE-FAEEEEMUZRATNBRE BRI
EESFIUMHBER - BETEEEUTEZHA
HEREXGERUEARENERNAR L H
SITTEREMEHANERE  BRERBEMN
EGER - EXHFEEBUCHETEED M
THEEENMEFTETER UMNEFRRZE
A 38 5 £% B 48 S8 H5 It o

ﬁ#$$l%%?¥ WEARENE  BE
EARAXT+OEZ-RIEHABENMLEEK

ﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁ AR FEEREBEEMNETE W
TEFHEFTEE Rt E-

ERIF-BHEFEAERZETEE ML
EERNARIIBEEMER - EEECHNESA

FHNEERBENFEER MBABEZES
EEﬁfﬁﬁﬂ BEZZEEEEF RLH
P-RERTEHHIRAKRES -

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z=—H5#

45



46

Corporate Governance Report

EEERHRS

Procedures and Internal Controls for Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

In handling and dissemination of inside information, the
Group:

will conduct immediate dissemination once inside
information is available and/or respective decision is
made, except the inside information falling into the
Safe Harbours of Securities and Futures Commission
that allow non-disclosure;

- complies with applicable laws, rules and guidelines
on disclosure of inside information issued by
Securities and Futures Commission;

- decides and implements monitoring procedures
regarding dissemination of inside information; and

- communicates with relevant persons about
corporate information disclosure practices with
respective training.

REVIEW ON EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
IN 2021

The Company engaged an independent internal control
consultant (the “IC Consultant”) to review the internal
control systems of the Group. The IC Consultant had
provided the Board with suggestions to improve the
Group’s internal control systems. The Board had adopted
the suggestions and implemented relevant internal control
management policies and measures, particularly those for
conflict of interests, connected and notifiable transactions
with training to the Board. The IC Consultant was then
satisfied with the result after the implementation of the
policies and measures, and believes that the Group's
internal control management system has been improved,
and there are no major risks or concerns in the Group’s
internal control system.
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RECOMMENDED BEST PRACTICES

Group'’s Risk Factors

As a basis of risk management, we should understand the
Group's existing risk factors and respective change from
time to time. Listed below are the nature of significant risk
factors that the Group is facing, whilst the listed factors will
not be exclusive:

Risk factors

o The Group may be unable to sell property
investment at expected prices or terms due to
volatility in the property market of the PRC.

o The Group is required to comply with numerous
government rules and new regulations to be
promulgated from time to time, and may be
affected by tightening measures launched by the
PRC government for regulating the real estate
industry.

o The business of the Group may be significantly
affected if the engaged external construction
contractors encounter any problem during
development of property given our full reliance on
them to conduct all the construction projects.

o Principal revenues and expenses of the Group -
Property development business are denominated
in Renminbi. Investors may indirectly invest in
the assets denominated in Renminbi. If Renminbi
weakens against Hong Kong dollars, the asset value
of the shares denominated in Hong Kong dollars will
decline.

o Implementation fluency and efficiency of exchange
control of the PRC will mitigate the ability of the
Group's fund transfer.

o COVID-19 outbreak in the PRC may detriment the
sale of existing property of the First Maoming Project
and development of the Second Maoming Project.

o COVID-19 outbreak in the world may suppress the
demand of raw sugar and enhance price volatility.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board makes its endeavour to maintain an ongoing
and transparent communication with all shareholders
and, in particular, use general meetings to communicate
with shareholders and encourage their participation. A
shareholder's communication policy was adopted by
the Board on 29 March 2012 aiming at providing the
shareholders and potential investors with ready and timely
access to balanced and understandable information of
the Company. The Company also uses various other
means of communication with its shareholders, such as
publication of annual and interim reports, announcements,
circulars and additional information on the Group's
business activities and development on the Company's
website: www.chinauptown.com.hk.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders
and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from
investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the
Board or the Company Secretary may be sent by post to
the Company’s head office and principal place of business
at Suite 1501, 15/F, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Dividend policy

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”)
was adopted by the Board and became effective on 1
January 2019.

The Dividend Policy is to ensure that the Board maintains an
appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the
dividend payment of the Company. The Board endeavors
to strike a balance between the shareholders’ interests and
prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend

policy.
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The declaration and recommendation of dividends is
subject to the decision of the Board after considering the
Company’s ability to pay dividends, which will depend
upon, among other things:

the Group's financial results;

o the Group's cash flow, liquidity and capital
requirements;

o the Group's debt to equity ratios and the debt level,

o the accumulated profits and distributable reserves of
the Group;

° the Group's shareholders’ interests;

o the Group’s current and future business operations,

conditions, cycle and strategies;
° the general market conditions;

o the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation and
industry’s norm;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may
be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions;
° past dividend record; and
o any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a
dividend and the form to pay, subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Laws of Cayman Islands and the
Articles. Any final dividends declared by the Company must
be approved by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders
of the Company at an annual general meeting and must
not exceed the amount recommended by the Board.
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The Board may also consider declaring special dividends
from time to time, in addition to the interim and/or final
dividends.

There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting
may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any
one or more shareholders holding not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company and the
securities being held carrying the right of voting at any
general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall
make a written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s head office and principal
place of business at Suite 1501, 15/F.,, Tower 1, Silvercord,
30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong,
specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder,
his/her contact details and the proposal regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.

Procedures for putting forward Proposals at a General
Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office
and principal place of business at Suite 1501, 15/F.,, Tower
1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/
she intends to put forward at general meeting regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z=—&5#

PR R, RARBREI EEZE R AEFE
BEIRFHRE -

7 A B) A BE R 55 i 1E (A1 45 E HA K AT AR
BEZBEZRE -

AR R Z HEF
RRBARREFINAREZER

BEMA EFETIEABRARLRERTH
ERA+D 22 —BHFFEFEESFMNERETATME
ARREAE LRZZEF ZEFT-—LRNZH
RRZERAARRFIARE -REARNES
ERARAMERLEEER UREFMERSF
EXQRTZEMEERTBEXME Gt D
BANERVEEREIORHFTBRLE —H
15181501F) » ERIBEARRZFRER 5F
MBMB AN FEEARERS EB2ER
R E ST/ o

RIRRARE LRREBZZIERF

KREENEEFEXALAAMERHIERER I
BEBERTEARAZERERERTIESE
EHE A BEBARERDIBERBEIONRM
BHROE—HI1581501F) » EHRFAKE
FREE BB - EBRNREAZT LR
EEBEARERS (B 2EZEREX
FX o



Corporate Governance Report

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary at the Company’s head office and principal place
of business at Suite 1501, 15/F, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30
Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong or send
email to info@chinauptown.com.hk.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at
the general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there is no change in the Company's
constitutional documents.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Reporting Guidelines

This is the sixth Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") Report of China Uptown Group Company Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”). This report is prepared in compliance with the
ESG Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Main
Board Listing Rules and Guidance published by the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). Reporting
principles of Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and
Consistency are applied in preparation of this report:
Materiality: Material ESG issues of the Company
are identified through engaging with
stakeholders on an ongoing basis.
Quantitative: Data are presented in a manner
conducive to year-on-year comparison in
order to provide clarity about progress in
addressing ESG issues.

Balance: The Company strives to report its positive
as well as negative impacts along with
steps it is taking to improve its ESG
performance.

Consistency: Consistency of data, including
comparability with data for previous
periods, is maintained to facilitate
meaningful comparison over time.

Reporting Scope and Period

The report covers ESG performance of Hong Kong office
and property development business in the People’s Republic
China ("PRC") for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2021.
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Feedback

The Group shall continue to enhance its ESG disclosure
in the future. We welcome stakeholders’ feedback
on the report and any suggestions on sustainability-
related matters. You may share your thoughts at:
info@chinauptown.com.hk.

BOARD STATEMENT

Acknowledging the growing concern about sustainability
around the globe, the Group, as a socially responsible
property developer operating in China, is committed to
operating in an environmentally and socially responsible
manner to produce long-term value. The Board of
Directors oversees key risks associated with environmental
management, talent acquisition, product quality and safety,
and customer satisfaction, as well as deciding ESG-related
strategic directions. Senior management is in charge of
material ESG topics identification, and various departments
are in charge of ESG-related implementation in the course
of daily operations.

This report outlines the efforts the Group has made to
address the ESG related risks and opportunities in property
development, which account for the majority of its
environmental impacts. The Board of Directors examines
the progress on environmental objectives on a regular basis
to ensure that the management policy effectively addresses
the environmental impact of the Company’s operations.
The Company's Board of Directors confirms that it has
studied and approved the report.

Stakeholder Engagement

We engage with internal as well as external stakeholders,
including employees, shareholders, customers, sub-
contractors and the local community, and identify topics
that generate significant impact to the environment,
economy and society in our business operations. ESG-
related risks that are relevant to the Group are identified
and prioritized based on the likelihood of occurrence,
followed by the Board's evaluation and approval, to
manage risks to the business.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

Striving to be a responsible company that abides by
governmental initiatives, the Group is dedicated to
managing and monitoring its environmental impacts. An
ISO 14001-certified Environmental Management System
("EMS") is in place, led by the senior management and
backed by the environmental protection and monitoring
team. Environmental technicians of the Group are
competent to keep track of its environmental performance.

In addition to internal management, the environmental
protection department communicates closely with
outsourced contractors and suppliers working on our
construction projects. Regular checks are conducted to
assess the green practices they followed and mitigation
measures they implemented on various parameters,
including air emissions, waste and noise. Maintaining
environmental performance is not the only concern,
potential environmental impacts must also be reduced to
the extent possible.

To conform with the relevant national standards through
the building design and construction stages, the Group
continues to commission a qualified inspection and
testing organisation to conduct an environmental impact
assessment on noise, air pollutants and sewage.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance of relevant laws and regulations' that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

L List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z=—&5#

RIREE

AEERINEEREREREFE LR
AETHREZENEEXLE HMAZKEL
ISO 14001 RFEMNIRIEEEZRA (TEMSJ) > H
SREREEEE THIBEREEREKIEHS
B AEBREBEEMAERENERARIER
o

FRBEERN RESMABRSERMANERT
BN A REEHET BB RMARRE
EHEE UTERSAMRANREES K
EFMEBNRRERNS B2 BEERY
BBKRGE - AEERFRERR ER

BB DEEREZE

RETEREERXSTRBEERETSEABABEREZ
2> REBFEDT S 0018 BRI & 1 8RR
E-TROARYKSKARIRIEE &l e

BREHER AEERANTEREMHEE
%l@&% TENERETRKRAERES
B BERAKKR A REERE RESLR
MRRER AR -

' AR RERIREIOERER -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Climate Change

We are concerned about the likelihood of climate change
having an impact on our operations. Extreme weather
occurrences, such as typhoons and floods, might disrupt
our everyday operations. The Group is committed to
managing the climate change risks of its operations,
formulating strategies in accordance with industry practices
to mitigate the impacts of climate change on its operations
and increase its awareness of climate change resilience.

A Climate Change Policy has been formulated, which
lists actions required and taken for addressing climate
change. To ensure that relevant information and resources
are available for monitoring and regularly reviewing the
impact of climate change on its employees and business
operations, the Group periodically reviews its climate
change policy.

Energy Consumption

Operations of the Group consume petrol and electricity
while no Liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG”) was used this
year. During the reporting period, the Group consumed
approximately 1,421.50 gigajoules (“GJ") of energy, with
energy intensity of 0.99 GJ per square metre of floor area.?
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Carbon Emissions

The Group’s operations emit greenhouse gases (“GHG")
directly (Scope 1) and indirectly (Scope 2). Direct emissions
refer to GHG emissions from combustion of petrol by
its vehicles while indirect emissions are from purchased
electricity. During the reporting period, the total GHG
emissions amounted to 218.54 tons of carbon dioxide
equivalent (“tCO2e"). There were about 59.05 tCOze Scope
1 and 159.49 tCO2e Scope 2 emissions, with emission
intensity of 0.15 tCOze per square metre of floor area.
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To address the alarming impact of climate change, we
strive to optimise energy efficiency and reduce energy
consumption in both office operations and property
management. While the Group aims to fully switch
to electric vehicles by 2030 and ensure 100% of its
electrical appliances should have energy-saving labels by
2025, the Group has further incorporated various energy
conserving initiatives in agreements with service providers
in the property development sector, making certain their
operations are compliant with our environmental protection
policies and guidelines.
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Air Emissions

Petrol consumption is a result of increased travel of
operating vehicles for site visits, resulting in emissions of
approximately 0.33 kg of sulphur oxides (SOx), 23.55 kg
of nitrogen oxides (NOx) and 2.09 kg of particulate matter
(PM) during the reporting period. Sprinklers and protective
nets are used at the construction sites to reduce flying dust
generated by machinery and vehicles.

Solid Waste

The Group generated 8.1 tonnes of non-hazardous waste
at construction projects during the reporting period.
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To facilitate solid waste reduction, environmental protection
department of the Group has set up a centralised waste
collection point to stimulate recycling rate of construction
waste and encourage employees to adopt green office
measures for paper waste reduction, with a target to
gradually move towards 100% paper recycling. Operations
of the Group do not generate hazardous waste.
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Noise

Construction work results in generation of considerable
noise and its control is important for the Company. Our
contractors are bound to work during permitted hours only,
manage transportation vehicles effectively, adopt sound
insulation and vibration reduction measures and set up
greening areas to diminish noise from vehicles.

Water Consumption

The Group used 6,931 cubic metres (m*) of municipal
water in property development and office operations
during the reporting period, and its intensity was about
4.84 m? per square metre of floor area. There were no
issues on sourcing water that is fit for the purpose. The
Group is targeted to achieve 100% compliant discharge.
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As a water conservation initiative, the Group operates
temporary water treatment facilities for filtering and
reusing water at construction sites. To this end, all water
used for construction projects is treated prior to discharge.
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OUR PEOPLE & COMMUNITY

At China Uptown, we believe our success is built upon
our employees’ dedication and competency. As such,
promotion and rewards are offered based solely on
expertise, contribution, performance, and experience. As
an equal opportunity employer, we strive to nurture a
diverse and inclusive work environment where any form of
harassment or discrimination is not tolerated. Should there
be any discriminatory conduct, staff should report to the
senior management for further action.

As of 31st December 2021, the Group had a total of 55
employees. Employee composition by geographic region,
age, gender and position is shown as below:
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Turnover and New Hire Rate by Age
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Turnover and New Hire Rate by Gender

BRI RIE 5 B KR R BB EE 2R

15% 15%
6%
2%
0% 0% 0% 4% | 0%
Below 30 30 to EOZiyears old 51 or above Male Female
30U 305 2505% 51 £ B Zk

[l Turnover Rate
TMARE

[ New Hire Rate
HrEELE=

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance of relevant laws and regulations?
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

The Group is not susceptible to a high risk of child or
forced labour. Yet, we do stay vigilant about preventing
recruitment of child or forced labour and verify the age of
applicants to make sure they are not underage. During the
year, we were not aware of any non-compliance with laws
and regulations having a significant impact on the Group
relating to employment and labour practices; nor did we
come across any incidents relating to the use of child or
forced labour.

E List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.
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Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance to occupational
health and safety. In order to minimise occupational health
and safety risk, we require contractors to strictly comply
with our well-defined safety policies at construction sites, in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations.*

During the construction process, supervisory engineers
collaborate with contractors to monitor their performance
in respect of adherence to safety practices. Contractors
are required to prepare emergency action plans and
install necessary equipment and to mitigate any safety
hazards. Before construction work commences, contractors
are required to submit a safety measures plan to the
supervising engineer and the Group for approval.

No work-related fatalities were recorded during the year. To
raise safety awareness, we regularly organise safety training
for employees. In 2021, a total of 480 person times of
safety training was recorded.

Total safety training hours
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The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws
and regulations® that have a significant impact relating to
providing a safe working environment and protection of
employees from occupational hazards during the year.

it List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.
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Training and Development

China Uptown spares no effort to help its employees
excel and thrive by providing inspiring opportunities for
professional development. Various kinds of training is
therefore delivered to employees across all levels, including
directors, senior management and frontline staff. On top of
organizing mandatory training to update employees about
the latest trends in laws and regulations, we continue
to explore development opportunities that support the
employees to meet operational needs.

Enhancing the capability and competency of our sales team
is crucial. As such, we have formulated comprehensive
training plans for our sales employees. During the year,
professional training focusing on various skills and
knowledge as outlined below was provided. We strive to
equip employees with a thorough understanding of the
market and pave the way to reach sales targets.
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Trainings for sales professionals
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In 2021, 33% of male employees and 86% of female
employees received training, while 13% of managerial staff
and 94% of frontline employees were trained. The average
training hours completed per employee was 17.8 hours
during the year.

Community Involvement

The Group is keen to fulfil its corporate social responsibility
and actively participates in community services wherever
appropriate and financially feasible. Looking ahead, we
would continue to explore opportunities for collaborations
with third parties in community contribution.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE

The Group strives to adopt the best practices in the
property development business. We aim at maintaining
high standards in goods and services we provide. We do
this through active supply chain management and product
assurance.

Supplier Management

To ensure delivery of high-quality products, the Group has
maintained a stable and close relationship with its business
partners and customers.

Selection of suppliers and contractors is in accordance
with a list of key criteria, including track record, financial
strength, quality standards, ESG performance and ethical
integrity. To fulfill our commitments in quality control, social
and environmental responsibility, internationally recognised
certifications such as ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and ISO 45001
are also highly valued and considered in the selection
process.

The Group continuously engages with its suppliers and
contractors and enters into well-defined agreements and
contracts to maintain the quality of goods and services.
Terms and conditions listed in contracts ensure all suppliers
meet our standards. We also regularly monitor and evaluate
their performance, which is recorded for future screening
processes.

Aligning with our corporate values, contractors are
required to fulfill their respective corporate responsibilities.
Regarding environmental obligations, agreements are made
with contractors to minimise construction disturbance and
potential risks caused to nearby communities. To maintain
occupational safety and quality, provision of worker
training and establishment of quality award system are also
encouraged, for achieving high standards of contractual
requirements.
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RIF B RERHRS

Product Responsibility

As a responsible property developer, the Group is
committed to offering products and services of top-
class quality and great user experience. To assure product
quality, we enhance performance of our contractors by
comprehensive selection and approval processes. Inspection
and evaluation of property development quality are based
on criteria such as construction standards, hygienic and
safety conditions.

Product Assurance

The Group maintains close relationships with its contractors
and ensures quality assurance throughout the construction
period. Before construction commencement, our
contractors establish specialised construction management
agencies in charge of on-site operations and conditions.
Construction permit and commencement report are
obtained upon setting up supervision procedures.
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Quality assurance in construction projects

BEIREERE

Contractors

¢ Make agreements with the
Group regarding construction
standards

e Set up supervision procedures
of high quality and safety
standards

e Establish management agencies
in charge of daily operations

8B
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c BEERRHRRMENE
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Government Departments

The Group

e Ensure standards are met upon
project completion

e Assign supervisory engineers
who are responsible for
monitoring and addressing on-
site operational issues

TEHE
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e Perform inspection on standards including safety and environmental standards
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A number of environmental protection, safety and quality
control measures are planned and implemented under the
supervision of appointed engineers. In case of any defects
identified during construction, we work with contractors
for taking appropriate actions followed by immediate
re-examination. In addition, all national and provincial
standards are met upon project completion.

Customer Satisfaction

The Group has been enhancing customer satisfaction by
continuous ongoing engagement with customers and
providing responsive services. We endeavor to disclose all
necessary information to assist our customers in making
informed purchase decisions. Customer satisfaction
is maintained in cooperation with qualified property
management companies. Customers are also encouraged
to provide feedback via our communication channels.
Looking ahead, we would continue to review our
performance and make improvements based on customers’
feedback.

Code of Conduct

The Group places great importance on upholding the
highest standards of ethics, honesty, openness and
accountability in the workplace. Employees at all levels
are expected to follow the stringent code of conduct with
integrity, impartiality and honesty.

Information privacy

Customer information privacy and rights are protected
by adhering to relevant laws and regulations.® While
making every effort for managing information disclosure
of property development projects, identity of employees
is not divulged without their consent, under normal
circumstances. During the year, we were not aware of any
incidents of non-compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group concerning
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of
redress.

e List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.
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IRIB B RERHRS

Anti-Corruption

The Group regards ethical integrity as the foundation
of its success. In compliance with relevant laws and
regulations,” we strictly prohibit any form of corruption
including improper transfer of benefits and other unethical
behaviours from all employees.

R&5

FEBRETRBARINNESG - HFETHE
BMERRZR BERBERELEEAER
WESTR BEATEMNaBEREMEESE
BT R-

e Ensure the compliance of relevant laws and regulations

The e Conduct investigations on suspected cases of misconduct

e Take disciplinary actions and inform responsible public regulatory

Group bodies where necessary
o MRETHMEERRER
g/ S

Anti- 4
Corruption EENTYNIINS

. HEAURETARNES
o REACERESHE TN BB T E R EH

e Conduct selection based on past records of
ethical integrity
¢ Sign contracts or agreement with the Group

Pol icy HED . RIEBE S T

RES

Employees

EBE . EHESRESE
. RERREHASREEELRELESR

For prevention of misconduct, employees are encouraged
to report any suspected cases of corruption using our
whistleblowing mechanism. Disciplinary actions including
termination are taken when malpractice or misconduct
offences are proven after due and diligent investigations.
Offences are also reported to appropriate authorities if
there is any evidence of criminal activities in breach of legal
and regulatory requirements. During the year, the Group
was not aware of any breach of laws and regulations that
had a significant impact on the Group relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

U List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z=—&5#

o HAEMEBRI AN RE

e Undergo regular anti-corruption training
e Report suspected cases to senior managers as encouraged under the
whistle-blowing mechanism
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APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Emissions

e

Use of Resources
BRER

Employment

(=4

Health and Safety
Rz S

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Anti-corruption
k&S

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR ERERHRS

BRZEERER

Laws and Regulations

ERRER
. Environmental Protection Law of the PRC

. (FEARAMBIRIZREE)

o Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Air
Pollution

. (REARENBEARSREAED

o Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of

Water Pollution
. (rPE AR HEMBEAKSEBREED
o Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environment Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes
. (FEARENEERREY) S FIRRAE)
o Law of the PRC on Environmental Impact Assessment
. (PEAREMNBEIRIZEZETEL)

o Law of the PRC on Conserving Energy
. (PEARHEMBEIEAGERZE)D

o Labor Law of the PRC

. (PEARENMESEE)

o Labor Contract Law of the PRC

. (PEARHNMBESSHEREE)

o Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor
. (BRUEFEREIRE)

o Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

. BB (BRI

o Production Safety Law of the PRC
. (PEARHENMBEZ2EEZE)

o Regulations on the Quality Management of
Construction Projects
. (BRTRRESEEERA)D

o Criminal Law of the PRC
. (REAREMEMZE)
o Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong

. BB (B LLFRRRRA)

Section

E B

Environmental
Management
B g

Environmental
Management
IRIEEIE

Our people and Community
HMWE T KRt&E

Health and Safety
REREAZS

Quality Assurance

au
ko

BEER

Anti-corruption
R&EE
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RIE-HEKREGHRS

PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY BYBERE

Employee Total Headcount

== HAE
By Geographical Distribution
e e N il
Maoming 40 28
X%
Hong Kong 15 13
BE
Total 55 41
wast
By Age
REhe
<30 7 2
<3073%
31-50 42 37
31-508%
>50 6 2
>505%
By Gender
gl
Male 27 26
S
Female 28 15
pegi
By Educational Background
RYEEE=
Degree or above 55 40
REBFU L
High school or below 0 1
ST
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RIB-HERERHRS

By Employee Category

BB T85!

Management 23 23
BB

Front line 32 18
A4

Employee Turnover Rate

BT RAR

By Age

BEh

<30 7% 3%
<305%

31-50 0% 11%
31-50%%

>50 0% 0%
>505%

By Gender

el

Male 6% 3%
S

Female 2% 1%
pegis

Employee New Hire Rate

METARE

By Age

B Fhe

<30 15% 0%
<308%

31-50 0% 3%
31-50%%

>50 0% 0%
>505%
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RIE-HEKREGHRS

By Gender

el

Male 0% 3%
5%

Female 15% 0%
pegi

Percentage of Employees Trained

SHETHDE

By Gender

gl

Male 33% 46%
B4

Female 86% 93%
geqid

By Employee Category

BB TR

Management 13% 35%
BB

Front line 94% 100%
Al 4R

Average training hours 17.8 3.61
T EI R

By Gender

Eeeguill

Male 11 2
LRk

Female 24 7
geqid

By Employee Category

ZETHER

Management 4 1
B

Frontline 28 7
A4
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RIB-HERERHRS

Safety Safety Performance

Z% ZERE
Work-related injuries 0 0
I
Lost days due to work injuries 0 0
HIGERIIIEEH
Work related fatalities 0 0
HMTEERANRGEIR
Training on Occupational Health and Safety
Wi RRE T 2 E
Total personal-times training 480 804
(EPNE R 5
Total training hours 1,008 532
e lliS3

Environment Total Resources Consumption

R1E BRHFEHEE
Electricity (kwWh) 198,317 610,293
B (FTRE)
LPG (kg) - -
BIEEHRR (2 )
Petrol (litre) 22,200 93,646
ol (RF)
Total energy consumption (GJ) 1,422 5,182
HBAEFE (H5)
Total energy intensity (GJ/m? floor area) 0.99 2.3
MEERE (FE S8THK—EBEER
Water (m?) 6,931 28,907
K LK)
Water intensity (m3m? floor area) 4.84 12.9
KEBE QAR BEAK-—BRERR)
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RIE-HEKREGHRS

Greenhouse Gases Emissions

BERBBBIN

GHG emissions (tCOze) 218.54 736.7
BRERBEN W_atkE2)

Scope | (tCOze) 59.05 249.1
HE— (WE_FRES

Scope Il (tCOze) 159.49 487.6
#HE" W _SERES)

Emission intensity (tCO2e/m?2 floor area) 0.15 0.3

FHREE WM_StREE SFHAK-—EEER)

Air Pollutants from Vehicles

BEWERSRY

NOx (kg) 23.55 16.06
K81 (2 )

SOx (kg) 0.33 1.04
et (R )

PM (kg) 2.09 1.34
RF R (R )

Waste

BEY)

General waste (Tonnes) 8.10 8.4
— AR EEY) (ME)

Community Donation (RMB'000) 0 0
HE B (ANRETIT)
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ESG CONTENT INDEX

A. Environmental

AIRIE
Aspect A1:
Emissions

BmEA1 :
BERH

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR ERERHRS

BRIE-HERERATERSI

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

&R PIIRGE 4L & K BRI S 55| K

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges

into water and land, and generation of hazardous and

non-hazardous waste.

—ARIER

BRERIRERBHN MK AT HEEE - BERE
EREEYNEESEN

@ HBX;k&

(b) BTFHETABEAZEZNHEREZRKRFANER -

KPI'A1.1

RESRAE IS
TBAT.1
KPI A1.2

RESRAE IS
EAT1.2
KPI A1.3

Bk dpve:s
ZA13
KPI A1.4

RIS
1ZA1.4
KPI A1.5

RESRAE XIS
1ZA1.5
KPI A1.6

RESRAE IS
ZA1.6

The types of emissions and respective emissions
data.

BRI iE 4E S AR R FE I B o

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope

2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity

B# EE) keREE GE D) BERE
mgbmE UUWstE) &k (ER) BE -

Total hazardous waste generated (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity.
FREAX B EREEMEE CIEE) &k (NE
) BE-

Total non-hazardous waste generated (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.
FRrEEREREEYRE QUEE) &k (1#E
) BE e

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them

HIFTE] L VBINE B R R AERELEER
PTEREX B9 27 B3 o

Description of how hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
HERIERENBEREYN G L Rt
PRETILB9IRBE B 1R e 7 555 L B AR P EREY
By BR o

Section/Remarks

E B/

ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT

Carbon and Air Emissions
Bk K2 BE mBE R

Carbon and Air Emissions

B e BE mBE IR

Solid Waste

E RS EEY)

Solid Waste

E RS EEY)
Environmental Targets
RIEER

Environmental Targets

RIEER
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RIE-HEKREGHRS

Aspect A2:

Use of Resources

[BmEA2 :
BIRER

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

E A ARG &R ERIREIE51Z2 R

General Disclosure
Policies on efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.

—fRIREE

BRERER (BHEER  KREMRMED BIER-

KPI'A2.1

RERAE WIS
1ZA2.1
KPI A2.2
RARAE WIS
1ZA2.2
KPI A2.3

RESRAE IS
1ZA2.3
KPI A2.4

Bk v
ZA2.4

KPI'A2.5

RE SR AE IS
EA2.5

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity.
RENEI DN ERER, S EEEREES
UFETREFE) REE-

Water consumption in total and intensity.

BIEKEREE -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.
PRSI MBE RERA M E B R R AERE
LE B AR PR ERERRY 27 B o

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for the purpose,
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them

371 SK BB A 7KORR Bl B (el B RE » LUK P
ST A B R R A E RS L B IRFTER
Ay B3 o

Total packaging materials used for finished
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.
SR B EMERRE (Ut E) K (0
R BEEBMEE-
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IR B RERHRS

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks

BABBRFAIRIE @R ERIREISS|ER = g/
Aspect A3: General Disclosure ENVIRONMENTAL
The Environment and  Policies for minimizing the issuers’ significant impact on the MANAGEMENT
Natural Resources environment and natural resources.
[EEA3 : — ARk EE RIREE
RIRRRAER BIRBTAHIRERRABERGEMEATERIHE -

KPI' A3.1 Description of significant impacts of business

activities on the environment and natural

resources and actions taken to manage them.
RRENIE M EBTHHRRERRARERNEATE
TEA3.1 REXRNEEERTENTH-

Aspect A4: General Disclosure Climate Change
Climate Change Policies on identification and mitigation of significant

climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which

may impact, the issuer.

[EEA4 : —ARiREE RI=E1E
RIZEME uit?n'JEzF’%“ﬂE‘,%% KEIfEEHETAEEFENEAREN

RS ERIEER

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related Climate Change

issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.
RRENIE HAEKKAIEGHETAEERENEAR RIEET
1AL RIGHEBEE > REHTE-
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RIE-HEKREGHRS

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
BABRFAIRIE @R ERIREISS|ER =8/ E
B. Social
B.At®
Aspect B1: General Disclosure Information on: OUR PEOPLE &
Employment a) the policies; and COMMUNITY
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
related to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
[BEB1 : — AR IR EE RMPNB I KitE
1= 1% BRAF N e ~ RIS R B A~ TIRR 80 (RHEA~ T 514
2 Znlbs REGEUREMGBEREF :
(@) HER; K&
b)) BIHETAFBEARZNHEERERINE
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, OUR PEOPLE &
age group and geographical region. COMMUNITY
RAENMIE B EREE - FRANRMES DHNE RANEIRHE
12B1.1 ISEEY 6
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group OUR PEOPLE &
and geographical region. COMMUNITY
RARENMIE BER - FRE RMER DHNEERKLLE RANEIRHE
12B1.2 Ko
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Aspect B2:
Health and Safety

JEmHEB2 :
BEHZE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR ERERHRS

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

E A A FTIRIG A E R ERIREIE51Z2 R

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that

have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

—ARiREE

BRRMHZ2TFRERREEEBEHELREN

(@) HER; &

(b) BTFHETABEARZENMERERARAINE

KPI'B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities
occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.

RRAENIE BE=ZFN BERSTFEE) AIEREFEET

12B2.1 BYNBUR B

KPI B2.2 Lost person days due to work injuries.
RARENIE RIEEATIERE
12B2.2

KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented
and monitored.

RASRAENIE HEMPTERANAVI 22 (2R B 2 248 I LUK AR

1ZB2.3 RAIT B ZR 5 ©

Section/Remarks

= g/

Health and Safety

BERZE

Health and Safety

BERZE

Health and Safety
RERZE

Health and Safety

BERZE
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RIE-HEKREGHRS

Aspect B3:
Development and
Training

[EEB3 :

2R B3

Aspect B4:
Labour Standards

JEEBS :
% T#H|

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

E A ARG &R ERIREIE51Z2 R

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
— ARk EE

BRI EEEIT LER B # Kk i SRR BUER o #iE
EIEEIR
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by
gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).

FmRENE BMHREEER WSRERE PREE

ZB3.1 B%) BlnmzilllEEB Db
KPI B3.2 Average training hours completed per

employee by gender and employee category.
RRENIE BT REEERE D BREETHZI
1%B3.2 ERS ST

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to prevention of child or forced labour.

— AR ER

BRAPy LB T ais %5 ThY

@ HE &

(b) BTFHETABEARZENEREERRAINE
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment

practices to avoid child and forced labour.
RASENMIE s s 1B IS 1B HIRVE i LRk %2 2 T K 58l
ZB4.1 BTo
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered.
RARENTE HAEEIRERBREHIRE BB T EREX
1%2B4.2 By BR o
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Section/Remarks

B/

Training and Development

Bl R

Training and Development

Bl E R

Training and Development

Bl %R

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY

BPNEIKRt&

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY

RMPNBI KitE

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY

RMPNBTI KtE
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R - ERESHRS

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
BABBRFAIRIE @R ERIREISS|ER 5 8/ E
Aspect B5: General Disclosure Supplier Management
Supply Chain Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
Management supply chain
[EmEBS : — AR EE HiEm B
R E IR EIEHRERENIRE R E EREBER
KPI'B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supplier Management
RRAENIE BMES DN EEREE - HIEmEE
ZB5.1
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supplier Management

suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.
RENIE M ARMEREREEES mENTAERE HEFEIE
12B5.2 BARNHEEHE  UkERENN#®ITR
BRFG A
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Supplier Management
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
RRENIE M AMANERESERONIRERME HEFEIE
12B5.3 R ERVIEG] > U AT REE A
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supplier Management
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how they
are implemented and monitored.
RENIE HTHREHERNREESARRERKR HEFEE
1ZB5.4 FBEVIE G LURABRA AT B A ©
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HEKREGHRS

Section/Remarks

B/

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

E A ARG &R ERIREIE51Z2 R

OPERATIONAL
EXCELLENCE

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and

methods of redress.

— R

BRAFMEHERMRBNEERAZ2 - BES5 RR MBS

BRI ERN

@ HERR

b) BIHETABEARZNHEBERZERRINE

KPI B6.1

Aspect B6:
Product Responsibility

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subjected to recalls for safety and health
reasons.

Information Privacy

80

RESRAE IS
1ZB6.1
KPI B6.2

RESRAE IS
1ZB6.2
KPI B6.3

RESRAE IS
1ZB6.3
KPI B6.4

RESRE IS
1ZB6.4
KPI B6.5

Bk Fve:s
1ZB6.5

BENEEZERBHPTRZ 2 BREEER
(SIS v

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they were dealt
with.
BERANERMBRBIRFBEURES S
P

Description of practices relating to observing
and protecting intellectual property rights.

R B A T R (RSN S E R RARVIE A -

Description of quality assurance process and
product recall procedures.

HHEEREBRREREMBIWER-

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored.

1 10H B B MR IR IS R AL FREUR » LUK AR RE
MITREEE A
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIB-HERERHRS

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks

BABBRFAIRIE @R ERIREISS|ER 5 8/ E
Aspect B7: General Disclosure Anti-corruption
Anti-corruption Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
[BEB7 : — AR EE R&=
R&5 BRAMILEFRER ~ $15 ~ IEE RSB R0 ¢
(@) HER; K&
(b) BTFTHETABEARZENERERARRAINE
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-corruption
charges of corrupt practices brought against
the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.
FEEMIE RERPAHETAHEERETIEEE ~RES
1ZB7.1 NESHFAREGRIBMB RFLER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and Anti-corruption
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.
RAENMIE WS EMAERET  URERAAITR RES
12B7.2 b
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided
to directors and staff.

FmRENEE HRRESkE T RMHNKRESE-

ZB7.3
Aspect B8: General Disclosure Community Involvement
Community Policies on community engagement to understand the
Investment needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to
ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.
fEmEBS : — AR B HE2H
HERSE BRIt @2ERTRETASEMETLREEMNERE
EREBEETRUEN TR
KPI' B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Community Involvement
FRENIE ELERBE HE2H
12B8.1
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Community Involvement
RRENIE TEIRNBRBAEIR HE2H
12B8.2
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Report of Directors
EETHRS

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Group are engaged in (i) property
development and investment; and (i) trading of raw sugar.
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's turnover by business segments
and geographical segments for the Year is set out in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the Year are set out in this annual
report on pages 109 to 228.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the Year.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities,
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements is set out on page 4 of this annual
report. This summary does not form a part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND MARKET
OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTUS

A review of the business of the Group during the Year and
a discussion on the Group's future business development
are provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 5 to 8 of this annual report.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects would be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties including market risk, credit
risk, and liquidity risk. The risk management policies and
practices of the Group are shown in notes 40 and 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group commits to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting
in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group
endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction.

The Group also commits to the principle and practice of
recycling and reducing. To help conserve the environment,
it implements green office practices such as re-deployment
of office furniture as far as possible, encourage use of
recycled paper for printing and copying, double-sided
printing and copying, reduce energy consumption by
switching off idle lightings, air conditioning and electrical
appliances. Details for the environmental policies and
performance of the Group during the Year are set out in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages
52 to 81.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the Year, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group.
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Relationship with Suppliers, Customers and other
Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a
good relationship with its suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

During the Year, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers
and/or other stakeholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the memorandum of association of the
Company and Articles, the applicable laws and regulations,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. Such permitted
indemnity provision has been in force throughout the Year.
The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
officers” liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE
OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s ordinary share
capital and share options are set out in notes 30 and 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME" of this annual report, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company during the
Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles and the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 113 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

There is no distributable reserves of the Company as at 31
December 2021, available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the provisions of Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands (2020: Nil).

Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. The reserves of the
Company available for distribution further depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest
customers were less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue
for the Year.

The Group's suppliers are mainly contractors for property
development. For the year ended 31 December 2021,
the Group has only one supplier and purchase from this
supplier amounted to 100% whereas purchase from the
largest supplier for the year ended 31 December 2020
amounted to 88%.

Save as disclosed above, during the Year, none of the
Directors, their close associates or any shareholders of the
Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the total number of the Company’s
shares in issue) had any beneficial interest in the five largest
customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the report date are:
Executive Directors
Mr. Liu Feng (Chairman) (resigned on 28 January 2022)

Mr. Pan Shimin (appointed as executive Director and
Chairman on 28 January 2022 and
Chief Executive Officer on 10 February 2022 and
resigned as Chief Executive Officer on 17 June 2022)

Mr. Chen Xian (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Lau Sai Chung (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 10 February 2022)

Mr. Liu Zhongxiang (resigned on 28 January 2022)

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (appointed as executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer on 17 June 2022)

Mr. To Kwan (appointed on 15 June 2022)
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (resigned on 6 June 2022)

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen (resigned with effect from
30 June 2022)

Mr. Chen Weijiang

Mr. Lee Chun Tung (appointed on 17 June 2022)

Mr. Yau Sze Yeung (appointed on 6 July 2022)

Mr. Pan Shimin, Mr. Chen Xian and Mr. Chen Weijiang shall
retire from office by rotation pursuant to article 87(1) of the
Articles, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, Mr. To Kwan, Mr. Yau Sze Yeung and
Mr. Lee Chun Tung, who were appointed by the Board in
year 2022, shall hold office until the forthcoming annual
general meeting pursuant to article 86(3) of the Articles,
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in pages 17
to 21 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Pan Shimin has entered into a service contract with
the Company on 28 January 2022 without fixed term. He
may receive a discretionary bonus as determined by the
Remuneration Committee based on his performance and
the Company’s performance.

Mr. Chen Xian has entered into a service contract with the
Company. He is entitled to a double pay in accordance with
his service contract. He may receive a discretionary bonus as
determined by the Remuneration Committee based on his
performance and the Company’s performance.

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin has entered into a service contract with
the Company on 17 June 2022 for an initial term of three
years commencing from 17 June 2022 unless terminated
by not less than two months’ notice in writing served by
either party to the other or payment in lieu of notice.
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Mr. To Kwan has entered into a service contract with the
Company on 15 June 2022 for an initial term of three years
commencing from 15 June 2022 unless terminated by not
less than two months’ notice in writing served by either
party to the other or payment in lieu of notice.

Mr. Chen Weijiang has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing
on 3 January 2020 and expired on 2 January 2023.

Mr. Yau Sze Yeung has signed an appointment letter issued
by the Company on 6 July 2022 for an initial term of three
years commencing on 6 July 2022 unless terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either
party to the other or payment in lieu of notice.

Mr. Lee Chun Tung has signed an appointment letter
issued by the Company on 17 June 2022 for an initial
term of three years commencing on 17 June 2022 unless
terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing
served by either party to the other or payment in lieu of
notice.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either
direct or indirect, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any its
subsidiaries was a party at any time during the Year.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yau Sze Yeung, Mr. Lee
Chun Tung and Mr. Chen Weijiang, an annual confirmation
of their independence pursuant to the Listing Rules and the
Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

An independent forensic consultant was engaged to
conduct an investigation (“Investigation”), and the
Investigation has been completed in September 2022.
Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
31 October 2022 for reasons and detail findings of
the Investigation. Among those transactions under
the Investigation, there were two transactions involves
payments to two minority shareholders of the Maoming
Subsidiaries.

Subcontract of Construction Works to a Minority
Shareholder

The Investigation found that in October 2021, Maoming
Shang Cheng Real Estate paid a construction progress
payment of RMB5 million to Shang Cheng MS. The
construction works subcontracted to the Shang Cheng MS
were mainly for the repair and maintenance works done
upon the completion of the First Maoming Project in 2020
including installation of fire-proof doors, restoration and
repair of underground parking, waterproof works, and
restoration of shops. Total amount of the subcontracts was
approximately RMB10 million. All the subcontracts with the
Shang Cheng MS, except the one for restoration of shops
in October 2021 amounted to RMB174,570, were fully
settled during the Year. Since then, the Group has no other
subcontracts or transactions with the Shang Cheng MS.

Report of Directors

EFEHS

EFERAUREHALME

EFkFTERESHFALTIMEFBRHNE
G BWERMEI2

FEX %
RMPEZE—LBUZZIBRBETHAE (T
RBE)) ZBEER B _FhLATEMA
HZBENREAKRERNFE F2REQT
A _"_F+RA=1+—HHNAH &%B
BEIRNZERZT  AMEARZ I RBX%4
B AR M D BRERAR

m—RVBRRDBEREIRE

ZHEHIR R _E_—F+H RELELHE
X LR VEBREZNEELEENRARE
5,000,000t DB F LA/ VEBRENEET
BIFEA_S_EHEERFEBXREER
BB REETRE SIFTER N
BEREBEM TEER - BHKITREREHE
BN BHEENAARE10,000,0007T Bk
T —F+RAESEAARKI174,570 &
' LV ERENESE TEREY
ERAEELAST OZEE AEFEHE FHD
FREFWEAEAMDEBHARFZE K

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z=—H5#

89



90

Report of Directors
EETHRS

Short-term Loans to a Minority Shareholder

The Investigation also found that in July 2021, Maoming
Huada advanced RMB5 million to Huada MS. Nevertheless,
there was another RMB1 million advanced to the Huada
MS in July 2021. The two short-term loans were fully repaid
before the year end of 2021, and since the full repayment,
the Group has no other loan or financial assistance
provided to the minority shareholders of the Maoming
Subsidiaries.

The above subcontract of construction works and loans
to the minority shareholders of the Maoming Subsidiaries
constituted connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Company did not have
any connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which were subject to the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
during the Year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics, and approved by the Board.

Details of the related party and connected party
transactions are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of the Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO")) (1) which are required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFQO); or (2) which are
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein; or (3) which are required,
pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Number of shares held the Company

ordinary pursuant to in issue

share(s) share options EEAFE

Capacity/Nature of held RiERERE BTk

Name of Directors interests Fr¥s FFANER FEEIGLE

EHe 51/ it E EERUE RAYE At

Mr. Liu Zhongxiang Beneficial owner - 1,500,000 0.59
A BHEE EaBEEA (Note 1)
(fszE1)

Interest of 24,210,526 - 9.51

a controlled corporation (Note 2)
REF AR NER (fizE2)

Mr. Liu Feng Beneficial owner - 400,000 0.16
ABRE EaEEA (Note 1)
(FfazE1)

Mr. Chen Xian Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 0.39
BRELE SHREAA (Note 1)
(FfszE1)
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Approximate

percentage

of the total

Number of number of

underlying shares of

Number of shares held the Company

ordinary pursuant to in issue

share(s) share options EEAFE

Capacity/Nature of held IRERERE BETRN

Name of Directors interests it FEMER B BEAY

EE% g/ EmtE LERYE Rir#E Bt

Mr. Lau Sai Chung Beneficial owner - 800,000 0.31
ABEE BEnlEA (Note 1)
(Rff5E1)

14,800 - 0.0

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael Beneficial owner - 100,000 0.04
BRERYE ETEAA (Note 1)
(MEET)

Mr. Char Shik Ngor Stephen Beneficial owner - 100,000 0.04
EHBEE SREAA (Note 1)
(FizE1)

Notes: BT

These shares of the Company represent the share options
granted by the Company on 13 July 2017 under the old share
option scheme of the Company.

These shares of the Company are held by China Sugar
Holdings Limited which is 100% owned by Mr. Liu
Zhongxiang. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Liu Zhongxiang is
deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company held by
China Sugar Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company nor
their associates had any interest or short position in shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations which were recorded in the register
required to be kept under 352 of the SFO or notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model

Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2021, so far as was known to the
Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company) has interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register of substantial
shareholder required to be kept by the Company under

section 336 of the SFO.
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EFEHS

FERR

R _BE_—FT+-RA=1T—H BEFEXLUTF
AL (BFERBDEFHETETHABIN KE
ANBRMBERROPHEEERIKE > MR
BESRBERAEXVEE2R3IDEEBAR
NEWE > AL AR RBREZSF R AERA
EIHZRERAFEZETERRELMA

Long position in ordinary shares REBERZIFE
Approximate
percentage
Number of of the total
underlying number of
Number of shares held shares of
ordinary pursuant to the Company
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests share(s) held share options in issue
RiERERE (GEAFEEST
EEZ =gz RIPHEEA
TERREL A g/ EmtE g ERHUE Rir#E E N
Ming Hung Fung Company Limited Beneficial owner 72,000,000 - 28.29
HBEERAH BEnlEA
Liu Dong Interest of a controlled corporation 72,000,000 - 28.29
(Note 1)
S SR ABNED (ME1)
China Sugar Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 24,210,526 - 9.51
FEIERERERAT EREAA
Guangdong Nanyue Bank Person having a security 24,210,526 -
First Direct Branch* interest in shares (Note 2) 9.51
BREERTRNBRAR EERNZEREGZZAL GEZ)
F—HBXT
Chen Qiang Beneficial owner 14,950,000 - 5.87
[T BEGBEEA
*  For identification purpose only
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Notes:

1. These shares of the Company are held by Ming Hung Fung
Company Limited which is 100% owned by Mr. Liu Dong. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Liu Dong is deemed to be interested in
the shares of the Company held by Ming Hung Fung Company
Limited.

2. China Sugar Holdings Limited has provided a share charge in
respect of the 24,210,526 shares of the Company held by it in
favour of Guangdong Nanyue Bank First Direct Branch*.

*  For identification purpose only

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive
of the Company are not aware that there is any party who,
as at 31 December 2021, had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would be required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The old share option scheme, which was adopted by the
Company on 30 November 2009, was terminated and a
new share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
was adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 May
2019. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a
period of 10 years commencing from the date of adoption
of the Share Option Scheme from 29 May 2019 (the “Date
of Adoption”) (that is from 29 May 2019 to 28 May 2029).
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant share options to the participants who, in
the sole discretion of the Board, have made or may make
contribution to the Group or any invested entity as well
as to provide incentives and help the Group in retaining
its existing employees and recruiting additional employees
and to provide them with a direct economics interest in
attaining the long term business objectives of the Group.
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The Company may grant to eligible participants (including
any directors, non-executive directors, employees, advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers of any member of
the Group whom the Board considers, in its sole discretion,
have contributed or will contribute to the Group) options
to subscribe shares in the Company, subject to a maximum
of 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the adoption date and as at the approval date of
refreshment from time to time, excluding for this purpose
shares issued on the exercise of options. The subscription
price will be determined by the Board and will not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares, (i) the average of the closing price of the shares
quoted on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the
five trading days immediately preceding the grant date and
(iii) the closing price of the shares on the grant date.

Upon acceptance of the options, the grantee of the Share
Option Scheme shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as
consideration for the grant. The acceptance of an offer
of the grant of the option must be made within 21 days
from the date of grant. The exercise period of any option
granted under the Share Option Scheme is determined by
the Board upon granting the options but in any event must
not be more than 10 years commencing on the date of
grant.
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not, in the absence of shareholders’
approval, in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the Share Option Scheme. The Board may seek approval
by the shareholders of the Company at general meeting
to refresh the 10% limit. However, the total number of
shares available for issue under exercise of options which
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme in these
circumstances must not exceed 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the refreshment of the 10% limit.

The total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme and the old share option scheme
of the Company is 24,646,905 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 9.69% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of this annual
report.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 30% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue from time to time and the maximum
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to each eligible participant shall not exceed 1% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue for the
time being in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of offer of the grant.

During the Year, no share option was lapsed, cancelled or
exercised.
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Details of the share options movements during the Year RAFEE EEREFIET 2 BRESEF
under the old share option scheme are as follows: BT

Number of share options

BRkEHE
Date of Balance Granted Balance
Name or category of grant of Exercise Exercise as at during as at
grantees share options Price (HK$) Period  Vesting Period 1/1/2021 the Year 31/12/2021
RIEZ— RIEZ—%
R I8 —A—H ® +ZA=+—-H
Y d S AR AR BiERH (B%) f7fEsn FEH 28R FEERE 2HEER
Executive Director and beneficial owner
of a substantial shareholder of the Company
FRARTESRIERRZEZEBA
Liu Zhongxiang 13/7/2017 2.50 13/712017 - N/A 1,500,000 - 1,500,000
st 121712022 AER
Directors
B
Liu Feng 13/7/2017 2.50 13/712017 - N/A 400,000 - 400,000
e 121712022 AER
Chen Xian 13/7/2017 2.50 13/712017 - N/A 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
HE 121712022 AER
Lau Sai Chung 13/72017 2.50 13/712017 - N/A 800,000 - 800,000
b 121712022 AER
Poon Lai Yin Michael 13/7/2017 2.50 13/712017 - N/A 100,000 - 100,000
HieE 121712022 AER
Char Shik Ngor Stephen 13/7/2017 2.50 13/712017 - N/A 100,000 - 100,000
E5ER 12/7/2022 1A
Former Directors
HTEE
Li Jiansheng 13/7/2017 2.50 13/712017 - N/A 100,000 - 100,000
TRt 121712022 NER
Xia Dan 13/7/2017 2.50 13/712017 - N/A 500,000 - 500,000
Xia Dan 121712022 NER
Other employees
Hitvgg
In aggregate 13/72017 2.50 13/712017 - N/A 1,900,000 - 1,900,000
A 121712022 NER
Total 6,400,000 - 6,400,000
st
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE COMPANY'S
SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the sections “Share Option
Scheme” and “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in
the Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” above,
at no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of
the Company (including their spouses and children under
age of 18) to have any right to subscribe for securities
of the Company or any of its associated corporations as
defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

No Director had interests in a business which competes or
is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules,
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied
throughout the Year with the Code Provisions of CG Code.
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices
are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section
of this annual report.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On or about 27 January 2022, the Board was informed that
certain bank accounts of Maoming Subsidiaries were frozen
by Zhangjiang City Public Security Bureau* G&IH AL /E)
("Public Security”).

Upon execution of the Custodian Agreement with a PRC
bank by each of Maoming Subsidiaries for joint custodian
of company chops and U-keys for their bank accounts, all
the bank accounts of Maoming Subsidiaries formerly frozen
were unfrozen by the Public Security on 9 March 2022.
Maoming Subsidiaries can operate their bank accounts
for their ordinary business normally and their PRC legal
advisers will apply for the termination of the Custodian
Agreements.

The Company has engaged an independent professional
firm to conduct the Investigation. The Investigation
had been completed, and the Company received
an independent forensic investigation report (the
"Investigation Report”) from the Independent Forensic
Consultant on 27 September 2022, details of the
Investigation Report were set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 31 October 2022.

Having considered the Investigation Report, the
independent investigation committee formed comprised
all the independent non-executive Directors is of the view
that the findings of the Investigation revealed concerns in
the Company’s corporate governance and internal control
system, and recommended to the Board to undertake
an internal control review to improve and strengthen the
Group’s internal control system and policies.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Company has appointed an independent internal
control consultant to review the internal control systems
of the Group and the review has been completed and the
Group has implemented certain measures and policies
as recommended by the independent internal control
consultant to strengthen the Group’s internal control
systems.

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any
material subsequent event after the reporting period and
up to the date of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge or its Directors
as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) resigned as auditor
of the Company with effect from 15 August 2022 and
McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited (“McMillan
Woods") has been appointed as auditor of the Company
with effect from 9 September 2022 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte.

Save as aforesaid, there was no change in auditor during
the last three years.

A resolution for the re-appointment of McMillan Woods
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

On Behalf of the Board

PAN Shimin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

M McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
PELEEERRAR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Uptown Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the”Group”)
set out on pages 109 to 227, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

WAZ R EMER S

RPELHEBRERARDEZERR
(RHEHFEFMUT ZHRAE)

BER

RIZEEM (U TEBIEM) EBZNERSE
1o9i227EEPItiﬁJZ$@EBE@1(F%’A
Bl RENBRB (BATEEE)) 2K
EMERR HEPEER _ZE-_—F+Z ﬁ
_+ Bz%?é.\ﬁﬂ&#/ﬁﬁiﬁi%z%uzatﬁ
EzizcEakx SolEakEthe2Emka
%\%\,,T\Affgﬁfﬁéﬁ\%&ﬁAfﬁémi% » MUKz
REMBRENG BEFETFBERME-

ZARD GEMBTRRECREZTBESMQ
Z(EBGHMLG)) BHR2EBYBERS
ZR (TEBMBREER) EEMATHK
IR EEER_ZF_—F+-_H=+—HZ
HREVMBRAREBEZALEEFEZRSE
F%ﬁ&ﬁAﬁ%mg’ﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂjﬁ
PZRBEBRESZRmAE -

ERER

ZPRBEEESSHMATRMHh 2T AETE
A (TEBBHER)) ETER - REZFTE
A BN EER AT REZBRBLEG Y
BREZEE—NTE—IFHR - REFES
St ARGz EHEGSMESETR (T57R)) »
aﬂsz‘ﬂﬁ_LEA EEE WEERTHETHEM

BEREE-

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z=—H5#

101



102

Independent Auditor’s Report

BAZREMER S

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

The key audit matters we identified are:

1. Revenue recognised from sale of properties; and
2. Valuation of properties held for sale/properties under
development.
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Key audit matter
HREEZER

WAZ R EMER S

How our audit addresses the key audit matter

MAREZPRIEMREZEE

Revenue recognised from sale of properties

MY EHERT 2 W=

Refer to notes 3.2 and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements

We identified revenue recognised from sale of properties
as a key audit matter as it is significant to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

EPNTRYES S FRPAl Gt af S Fn A P
IR ERRD 2 W B SERERFEIE

The Group’s revenue from sale of properties for the year
ended 31 December 2021 amounted to approximately
RMB172,547,000, representing approximately 99% of
the Group’s total revenue. As disclosed in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements, revenue from sale of
properties is recognised when the development of the
relevant properties have been completed and the control of
the completed property is transferred to the customer.
BHE_T_—FI+_A=+—HLEFE> EEEY=
HEZWRAYAREE172,547,0007T 0 1 EEMMARU
##999% o MU AR & A TS IR SISPT IR B M EHE X
WHENTEREREMYMERE T ITYE L ETI#EEE
T & P RS o

2t i

JIL T

B BHRERMEE3. 245

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognised from
sale of properties included:

BRPERFRYEHERB N m 2 EFEE

Obtaining an understanding and evaluating the
Group's internal control over the process of revenue
recognition of sale of properties; and

THEKTE SEEARMYEHERINEE
P2z NEBERYE ; &

Assessing whether the criteria for the delivery of
properties have been fulfilled by checking, on a
sample basis, to the terms of the sales and purchase
agreements, the relevant completion certificate for
construction work, as well as the delivery notices
issued by the Group to the buyers to assess whether
the control of properties is transferred to the buyers.
RMEEETEERENRERSEREES
WEAHRR BREIRERABATHESEUR 85
EAaTaEENEESEBETERAMAER
BRI HBRIER
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Key audit matter

ik 3 e B

How our audit addresses the key audit matter

MR EZPRIEMEEZEE

Valuation of properties held for sale/properties under development

FIEHEYME TTEMEZGE
Refer to notes 3.2, 4 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements

We identified the valuation of properties held for sale (the
"PFS”) and properties under development (the “PUD") as
a key audit matter as it is significant to the consolidated
financial statements and significant judgements and
estimation are involved in the determination of the net
realisable value (the “NRV") of the PFS and PUD.
ARFHERE 2 YZE ((FIEHEYE)) REEYE (T
BYE) 2 HEHRESUBRRCEEM RN EEFE
HEMERTEYE TEIRFE (AR FE)) KT
R B RH b R (5t PR E B R #ARIREZEE

The Group's PFS of approximately RMB233,744,000 are
situated in the PRC as at 31 December 2021 as disclosed
in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. The
management of the Group determined the NRV of the
PFS with reference to the valuation performed by the
independent professional property valuer (the “Valuer”)
and recent sales transactions in nearby locations, rate of
new property sales, the legal and regulatory framework
and general market conditions.
N_ZE_—F+"A=+—H> BEEHARK
233,744,000 2 FELEMEMNAE GHWMES
MBHREAMTI18IRE) - EEREEEETHF
HEMEZNERFIER2ERBUEEYELEM
(M ERD)) ETZHERBEBOIBHEERSZ WY
FHEXR EREMRGEEERUKRERM T

The Group's PUD of approximately RMB364,000,000 are
situated in the PRC as at 31 December 2021 as disclosed
in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. The
management of the Group determined the NRV of the PUD
with reference to the valuation performed by the Valuer
and recent sales transactions in nearby locations, rate of
new property sales, the legal and regulatory framework
and general market conditions.

WUMEGREM R F18FIIRE R B2 —F+28

=+—H EEEEEYEHIARM364,000,0007T157
FE. SEEEEEZ2EGEMELNEE LRI

ERIMHER S HYEHER ZREREEERN
R—MRHREE R EN R R E
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Our procedures in relation to valuation of properties
held for sales/properties under development included:
BAERSELEYE TBRYEZHEZRERE
1=

Evaluating the Valuer's competence, capabilities and
objectivity;
MO EMZBEEE-BHREEN

Obtaining an understanding from the Valuer about
the valuation methodology, the performance of the
property markets, significant assumptions adopted,
critical judgemental areas on key inputs and data
used in the valuation;

ML ER T RLEREZ - METBRE IR Z
BEABR EEMRKBZEIEHABRBEBEZE
KHER RS ;

Engaging independent competent auditor’s expert
to review the valuation process, methodologies
used and market evidence to support significant
judgements and assumptions applied in the
valuation model prepared by the Valuer; and
BFEEIISERZUMEREREERRE - EA
NAZERTHEE > UXFHGEMRRENEER
BIhPRE A E A H BT R R 5 &

Assessing the management’s estimation of the NRV
of the PFS, on a sample basis, by comparing the
estimated selling prices of the PFS to the recent
sales transactions in the same project and in nearby
location, rate of new property sales, the legal and
regulatory framework and general market condition,
based on our understanding of the Group's business
and operation and our research on the PRC real
estate industry.

R EE BANLEKFLEY AL EBA
HEEBKRBETHREERZ MY EHER A
BREEERAERT R REXMY E&£EF
EBREENTRURBRMANPEEMEITEN
MR L EEEHNF R EME IS FERN
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Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020 were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those
statements on 30 March 2021.

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

VR ER S IE

Hth=18

EEEHE_T _EF+_B=+—HIF
EZHEEVBRER]TTBES X ZHMEZ &
REHER _SE_—F=B=+tHHEZERX
BERAKEIRR -

Hh &
BERBEFAHHEMENET - HMENBHE
FAFHZER EFNREREU BRI LI
PIBY % BB R 5 o

RMUEGREVHERRMFEZEREIAEEH
thER  ZATAFETHEMENEREFALA
AL o

MEMBLGEEMBFERRMS > HANEES
REAEMER TR ILBRFR > ZEEMER
RRHEGEVMBRRABXMANELDAFA
MERBEREE AUFAEERERRIL -
ERFEMEAT I HEMAB/ILEEMSE
HEEXREZRRL  HMABAREEBREE -5
b HMBBRIFHERS -

EEMGRESMBRRARIEZRE

EADEFAEERBEEBESHMATREM
ZEBUYBREEAREBRATDKAINZIKRE
RMERRGEUBERE ULESMBEHRKRMF
HEEMAFHRBR HMEBEEDREREK
G BBRERFAOBZAMES > LUEEG T
BRI GFEBANRFABERMERNZEKRE
AR Rt o
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The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z=—&5#

ERZZEEMPEFRETRTEE E&5H
MHEREEFHBS -

REBMMBZGEMBHRRARKEZEE

RPNERACEREGROMBREAEEM
ERO A FEHRRMFHABRMERNZEKX
ERRL THEEHAERMER 2 ZHENR
S HPEREERRRS  FILZINFIER
tMEN - ZAFTERERSATREMEMMA
TELtHAREFAESE- 2 EREBSERZ
ZE EIRBEEBSS ERETZER IR
NRBBERBIEEZERERMR - # 2
BRICPT R ERSFERSE R M AL > M @R W EREE
CERHBRATIRECRAEREZSTRS
MHERRFLUZEBERER  IRESEKRE
R Rt o

REEAESHENETERE RMAEREX
H TREEEZBERRITERIERRE
= )

. s Bl Kz 5F 1 BB S ERSF SR EE SR T B AR
GHMBEREFEENERRAZ AR
R RATEZRREFUBREZSAR
URERTRRBEZEZERE FR
RMERZER -BARUMFEAIES REH
m O RE - ERER ERRANERE
P BBl 2 1B T 0 (&I L 5K BE 3% 3R (R HR5F
MERZERERRANERS I ARGE
HRABRMERZERNERRALAE
i



Independent Auditor’s Report

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial
statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

VR ER S IE

. THREEZARNABIZES > URE
ENEZREF BLIFAE SEERN
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. HEEEMRAES R ZEBERE
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EMFLER LREBEMESZELER
BREELFERFEABRERZ
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Chun Sing

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: PO5537

24/F., Siu On Centre

188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai

Hong Kong

17 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

= AT L
e iEmR
For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E " _—F+_HB=+—HILFE
2021 2020
B E2ETH
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
s  ARBFRT AR®TT
Revenue Wi 5 173,974 275,541
Cost of sales SHE A (154,900) (226,537)
Gross profit EF 19,074 49,004
Other income E A 7 1,962 1,055
Other gains and losses Bz e EsiE 8 (35,701) (8,107)
Impairment loss reversed (recognised) under EMFEWRIETEHAE BE51E
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on (FEfR = EKE) B\ T
other receivables #2[0] (752 WRERSIE 729 (1,236)
Impairment loss recognised on properties  IF{EH &Y E R
held for sale B (302,818) =
Impairment loss recognised on properties  TEEY)EFERIRERE
under development (71,026) -
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHER (10,041) (2,733)
Administrative expenses THER (29,384) (29,861)
Finance costs VR ID %N 9 (804) (830)
(Loss) profit before taxation PRIRAT (B518) m A (428,009) 7,292
Income tax expense Frigfimx 10 (37,259) (14,503)
Loss for the year FAEIE 11 (465,268) (7,211)
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to: T EGENRN B58) &F) -
Owners of the Company PiN/NEIEZZ= DN (400,926) (7,775)
Non-controlling interests JEFER M e = (64,342) 564
(465,268) (7,211)
Loss per share (in RMB cents) EREE (ARIED) 14
— Basic — &K (157.55) (4.26)
- Diluted — #8 (157.55) (4.26)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

wr e 1R R ELA R E i 7

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EiZE—

s+ A=+ AILEE

2021 2020
—E—% Z_EF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Loss for the year FAEIE (465,268) (7,211)
Other comprehensive (expense) income HfthZ2 & (BIs%) Wz
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or JFT B E# FBEEE w2
loss: EHH
Exchange differences arising on translation of K& IhAE & H I E A 25| &1
functional currency to presentation currency E4 Z FER ZE%E (17,836) (1,249)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to H#& BJgEEF# I E 8w =
profit or loss: EHH
Exchange differences arising on translation of K@ B /BN EFE 2 M FEIRKE
financial statements of foreign operations 4 Z FE R Z=%8 17,998 2,928
162 1,679
Total comprehensive expense for the year FAZEMAZERE (465,106) (5,532)
Total comprehensive expense for the year LX‘FTTEKEE*%EF‘%SE
attributable to: 40%E -
Owners of the Company KATEB A (401,361) (6,096)
Non-controlling interests JEFEH M (63,745) 564
(465,106) (5,532)

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

=]

RAFSIA LR

At 31 December 2021 R-_ZE-_—F+"FB=+—H
2021 2020
—EZ & CZZTE=F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
fisE  ARETFRT ARETT
Non-current Assets ERBEE
Investment properties KREME 15 4,400 74,400
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERZE 16 15,543 16,643
Right-of-use assets FRESE 17 1,229 337
21,172 91,380
Current Assets MENEE
Properties under development ERYE 18 364,000 253,395
Properties held for sale BFIEHEYZE 18 233,744 602,714
Investment properties held for sale FELEREY = 18 10,057
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments 3% ~ EL{th & IR =R I8 K%
SEANEE] 19 44,300 26,604
Financial assets at fair value through BARBESTABRZHBEE
profit or loss 20 4,313 6,402
Tax recoverable B EIRIE = 26,620
Restricted bank deposit BRBIIRITER 21 = 22
Pledged bank deposits BIEREITER 22 4,482 11,486
Bank balances and cash RTEERRES 22 40,142 77,848
701,038 1,005,091
Current Liabilities mEmas
Trade and other payables B2 RAMENRIE 23 146,203 59,088
Contract liabilities EHNEE 24 56,718 74,154
Other borrowing HAERR 25 8,150 8,420
Lease liabilities — current portion HEEBE-—RHED 26 921 340
Amounts due to non-controlling interests P& IEIZ I M AE R IE 27 98,250 85,000
Amounts due to directors FETEERIE 34 2,325 6,624
Amount due to a former director B —%RIEEEMIE 34 14,589 =
Tax payable FETHRIE 95,016 72,228
Bank overdrafts RITEXS 22 1,959 4,039
Secured bank borrowing EIRMIRITER 28 8,020 9,150
432,151 319,043
Net Current Assets MENEEEE 268,887 686,048
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities WEERTEARE 290,059 777,428
Non-current Liabilities JEREIAE
Lease liabilities — non-current portion HEaBd—ERHID 26 321 21
Deferred tax liabilities RIEMRIEAaE 29 11,661 34,224
11,982 34,245
Net Assets BEEE 278,077 743,183

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

4R e MFEIA R

At 31 December 2021 RZE-—F+"_HB=+—H

2021 2020
B —F TZETETHF
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
s ARBTRT AR®TT
Capital and Reserve BARKEE

Share capital [N 30 222,157 222,157
Reserves EXi] 61,950 463,311

Equity attributable to owners of P /NCIE FE DN
the Company 284,107 685,468
Non-controlling interests JETHI R T (6,030) 57,715
Total Equity W 4ERE 278,077 743,183

The consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 227
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors of the Company on 17 March 2023:

Mr. PAN Shimin
BHRLE
DIRECTOR
EBE

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mAEmEER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAE 2B NEL
Share Non-
Share Share  Translation options  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
k& RiVEE hERE  BRERE Rt it IR Lh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3)
LiEal) (Hf3x2) (h53)

At 1 January 2020 RIE-TE-F-f 161,569 578,990 (42,106) 5481 (72,508) 631,426 57,151 688,577

(Loss) profit for the year £/ (B598) &7 - - - - (7,779 (7,779 564 {7.211)

Exchange differences arising on REMEELHEES

translation of functional currency SIERELVERER

to presentation currency - - (1,249) - - (1,249) - (1,249)
Exchange differences arising on RBEEINER 2

translation of financial statements MBRREEZERES

of foreign operations - - 2,928 - - 2,928 - 2,928
Total comprehensive income ENZEWE (B2 28

(expense) for the year - - 1,679 - (7,775 (6,09) 564 (5,532)
Issue of new shares BTk 60,588 - - - - 60,588 - 60,588
Transaction costs directly attributable ~ &/TH RN EREERZHA

to issue of new shares - (450) - - - (450) - (450)
At 31 December 2020 and RZZZEE+ZA=+-H

1 January 2021 RZE_-E-f—H 222,157 578 540 (40,427) 5481 (80,283) 685,468 57,7115 743,183
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (400,926) (400,926) (64,342) (465,268)
Exchange differences arising on AREERETA

translation of functional currency SIERELZERER

to presentation currency - - (17,836) - - (17,836) - (17,836)
Exchange differences arising on REEENER

translation of financial statements MBRRELZERER

of foreign operations - - 17,401 - - 17,401 597 17,998

Total comprehensive expense for the year R 2 EE % 2% - - (435) - (400,926) (401,361) (63,745) (465,106)

At 31 December 2021 RIEZ-%+ZF=1+-H 222,157 578,540 (40,862) 5481 (481,209) 284,107 (6,030) 278,077

Notes: P ST

1. Pursuant to the Companies law of the Cayman Islands and 1. RIBHEFHERERAQABERMA XRERK
the Company’s Articles of Association, the share premium of MREINETERFE A EEBREEDIKKS
the Company is distributable to the equity holders provided BEHARAREEEENBBEHAEFIRE
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is 5o
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

2. The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange 2. MEREBOEREBIINCEER M BRRSGME
differences arising from the translation of the financial A2 WPERELR -ZEBERBRESMBERRME
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in 32FMEM G TR RIR
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 3.2 to
the consolidated financial statements.

3. The share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual 3. BREREBEREMGSMBRRME32URBE

or estimated number of unexercised share options granted
to employees of the Group recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based
payments in note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

BEZRMIRPTERAE SHEER BAAERES
ERHRTEEREZRREHHEZANE.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mEREMER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

2021 2020
I8 CZZTEZ2F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REED
(Loss) profit before taxation FRiAT (B518) BF (428,009) 7,292
Adjustments for: HEIEE -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME-RERZEITE 746 838
Depreciation of right-of-use asset FREEEITE 939 1,210
Fair value change on financial assets at fair value AR EABRZ
through profit or loss MBEBEEZ ANEED) 519 (2,411)
Fair value change on investment properties KREMEZ NAEE 35,182 10,518
Impairment loss recognised on properties FIEHEYMERIHN
held for sale YRR SEi= 302,818 -
Impairment loss recognised on properties ERMERRDRERE
under development 71,026 -
Finance costs VRSN 804 830
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HENRBAR 2 W - @31
Net (reversal of impairment loss) impairment loss ~ EfERFUIETEER = E5518
under ECL model on other receivables BRI T 2z (R EREERE)
BB IR PR (729) 1,236
Interest income A E WA (162) (399)
Operating cash flows before movements in CEEETEHRI KERERE
working capital (16,866) 19,083
Decrease in inventories FaRb - 22,742
Increase in properties under development TERRYZEIE (181,631) (150,935)
Decrease in properties held for sale FIEHEYZERD 66,153 203,897
Increase in deposits, other receivables and &~ HthEWEIE K
prepayments TENRRIRIE N (16,987) (11,503)
Decrease (increase) in financial assets at fair value A RESTAERZ
through profit or loss B EERL (5) 1,400 (4,109)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables B 5 R EAME S ZIEE I Gl 87,169 (35,957)
Decrease in contract liabilities BHEERD (17,436) (181,466)
Cash used in operations KEPTAIRE (78,198) (138,248)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") paid BRI EFRER
(T ZEPT1SHR) (2,170) (4,056)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") paid BT P L #IE E R
(T H#IBER ) (8,238) =
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETHFAREEFE (88,606) (142,304)

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z=—&5#



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE_—

S =

maREMER

F+"A=+t—HLEE

2021 2020
I8 CZZTEZHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Repayment from a third party B=ZHEM 50,000 -
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties HERBEWEZMERIE 24,761 -
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits IR IRIRIRITER 11,486 55,450
Repayment from a non-controlling interest FFERERIBENR 6,000 -
Interest received BUF S 162 399
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposit IRENVA R FIRITE 22 874
Advance to a third party M5 = H iR EEM (50,000) -
Advance to a non-controlling interest EIEER iR (3R (6,000) -
Placement of pledged bank deposits FREIEFIRITER (4,482) (35,651)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME -BRERZE (112) 1)
Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary HENB AR ZRERAFEE - 18
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REETHFIFREREE 31,837 21,069
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEES
Advance from third parties B=RHBXR 48,000 =
Advance from non-controlling interests JEIEFHIME BT 30,000 106,306
Advance from a former director —HBIEERBEN 14,589 =
Advance from a director —HEFRH® 5,741 20,135
Repayment to third parties EBRE-—FHZFRIB (48,000) =
Repayment to non-controlling interests BiRIFEGIM D (16,750) (37,300)
Repayment to a director BREEZNIE (10,000) (16,475)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAR (972) (1,213)
Interest paid BFE (782) (771)
Repayment of secured bank borrowing BIEAIRRIRITER (837) (9,740)
Repayment of loan BIRE™M = (5,449)
Issue of new shares AR a) = 60,588
New secured bank borrowing raised MEEZBIRMIBITER = 17,923
Transaction costs directly attributable to BITHRMOBERBELRZHRAE
issue of new shares - (450)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEBFFRE R 20,989 133,554
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH RERBPEEBYWZ (RL) G
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R (35,780) 12,319
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RENZRERFEEEY
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 73,809 63,528
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES [E X&) > /& 154 (2,038)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZREKRIBEFEY
AT END OF THE YEAR 38,183 73,809
Represented by: Hep g4 .
Bank balances and cash RITEERRE 40,142 77,848
Bank overdrafts RITEX (1,959) (4,039)
38,183 73,809
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

1. GENERAL

China Uptown Group Company Limited (“the Company”)
is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information
section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in property development
and investment as well as trading of raw cane sugar. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37
to the consolidated financial statements.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollar ("HK$") while the consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB") for the convenience of
the financial statements users.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the
IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the
International Accounting Standards Board issued in June
2021 which clarified the costs an entity should include
as “estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when
determining the net realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Company’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Company has not early applied the new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective for the financial year beginning on 1
January 2021. These new and revised HKFRSs included the
following which may be relevant to the Company:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework'

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sales and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)
Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Policies?

Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use!

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract'

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 — 2020’

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all the new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties,
investment properties held for sale and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), which are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period,
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
confirm with the current year's presentation and disclosure.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for equity-settled share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16")
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best
use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EiZE—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o The Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o The Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects of
the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed
(either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the
Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component.
A significant financing component may exist regardless of
whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the
parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing
component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value and restricted deposits arising from pre-sale of
properties that are held for meeting short-term cash
commitments. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Properties under development and properties held for
sale

Properties under development which are intended to be
sold upon completion of development and properties
for sale are classified as current assets. Except for the
leasehold land element which is measured at cost model
in accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-
use assets, properties under development/properties held
for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a specific identification
basis including allocation of the related development
expenditure incurred. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated
cost to completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Properties under development are transferred to properties
held for sale upon completion of development.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investment properties/investment properties held for
sale

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investment properties/investment properties held for
sale (Continued)

Investment properties are classified as held for sale and
under current assets if the Group has been committed
to a sale plan at the end of the reporting period and
their carrying amounts will be recovered through a sale
transaction. This condition is regarded as met only when
the asset is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification. Investment properties classified as held for
sale continue to be measured in accordance with the
accounting policies for investment properties as mentioned
above.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z=E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of warehouse that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-
term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liability is adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset. Other than investment
properties measured under fair value model, such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business is presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor (Continued)

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Borrowing costs (Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable and
such grants are presented as “other income”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
"MPF Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as expenses, when employees have
rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages, salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employee

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve). At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of
the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to accumulated losses.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit or loss before
taxation” as reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from initial recognition of goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction
as a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same entity by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in HK$ and United States dollars to the
Group's presentation currency (i.e. RMB) are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
translation reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated
in the translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZF_

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend earned on
the financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on financial assets (including deposits, other
receivables, restricted bank deposit, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances) and financial guarantee contracts
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9”). The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZF_

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

For all instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings or in case of other receivables, when the
amounts are past due, whichever occurs earlier. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of
the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances
are recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EiZE—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
other borrowing, amounts due to non-controlling interests,
amounts due to directors, amount due to a former
director, bank overdrafts and secured bank borrowing
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised

over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z=E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z=—&5#

—F+ZRA=+—HLFE

3. g?gﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ&iggﬁﬁ

32 EEEHEE#E

WE -BERZGEURCEHESEHE

FEEARBREPREAENE -BERKRB
UREREEEZREEBE UEEXSTEER
SREHRBAEEETFR - HEHRARBRTR R
EEETEMEE 2 P WEIE % > LUEEREES
B WA EE-

NE-BERKRBUKRERRBREEZ I RO E
BATH B Bl (i 5t o fis SR L 5HE B E E Z 7 k(]

T OAERGHAREEMBRESELEEMN
_JH&EI@%EO

RAARESELBEURER HMRLGER
— B2 oREE CEXEEEHNREMABERES
EEBEA SHEOEETSEMM AR -—ED
E%ﬁﬁ%ﬁZ?$ﬁ%§$%u$°W¢¥
EEFMBzREELEUNREcEEEME
RIEER W3R I EEAFREEEBMUN
ReEETBMNMENZIREEETER

BJREIEEEAABEREHEN ST LEERE
EmERzERSE TN EERAEBER G5
REBEEREDURTRBRER T IHHGEF
BEENREE (RREELEM KA ARG
(A ETRZRIE R E H AR UL (F B B) BIFR
MATRE IR KRR ERHE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from
past events but is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of
the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and
it is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision
is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in
the reporting period in which the change in probability
occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances where
no reliable estimate can be made.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected
in the consolidated financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZF_

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3.2, the directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors have been in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that has the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the
Group's investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group's investment properties are not held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time. Therefore, in measuring the Group's
deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not
rebutted. The Group’s investment properties are situated
in the PRC and the deferred taxes on changes in fair
value of investment properties are recognised taking into
account PRC LAT and PRC EIT payable upon sales of those
investment properties.

Provision for LAT

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for
LAT is based on management’s best estimates according
to its understanding of the requirements set forth in
the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual
LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by the
tax authorities upon the completion of the property
development projects. The Group has not finalised its LAT
calculation and payments with the tax authorities for the
property development project. The final outcome could be
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and
any differences will have impact on the land appreciation
tax expense and the related provision in the period in which
the differences realise. The carrying amount of provision
for land appreciation tax at 31 December 2021 was
approximately RMB24,805,000 (2020: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZF_

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Estimated net realisable value of properties under
development

In determining whether allowances should be made to the
Group’s properties under development, the directors of
the Company make reference to the valuation performed
by an independent professional property valuer and take
into consideration the current market environment and the
estimated market value prices (i.e. the estimated selling
price less estimated costs to sell) less estimated costs
to completion of the properties. An allowance is made
if the estimated market value is less than the carrying
amount. If the actual net realisable value of properties
under development is less than expected as a result of a
change in market condition and/or significant variation
in the budgeted development cost, material provision for
impairment losses may result. At 31 December 2021, the
carrying amount of properties under development was
approximately RMB364,000,000 (2020: RMB253,395,000),
net of impairment loss recognised of approximately
RMB71,026,000 (2020: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e M FS R AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated net realisable value of properties held for
sale

The directors of the Company determines the net realisable
value of properties held for sale by using prevailing
market data mainly most recent sales transactions. These
estimates require judgement as to the anticipated sale
prices by reference to the valuation performed by an
independent professional property valuer and recent sales
transactions in the same project and in nearby location,
rate of new property sales and general market conditions.
If the actual net realisable value of properties held for sale
after considering the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale are less or higher than expected as a result of
changes in market conditions, material provision for or
reversal of impairment losses may result. At 31 December
2021, the carrying amount of properties held for sale was
approximately RMB233,744,000 (2020: RMB602,714,000),
net of impairment loss recognised of approximately
RMB302,818,000 (2020: Nil).

5. REVENUE

(i Disaggregation of revenue

An analysis of the Group's revenue arising from the
Mainland China and Hong Kong for the year is as follows:
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2021 2020
—EI 8 CZZTE=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®FT

Arising from the Mainland China IR B A ETP
Sales of properties — a point in time MZEIHE — PR 172,547 246,450

Arising from Hong Kong HEEE

Trading of raw cane sugar — a point in time [REENEE 5 — 5 Rh = 27,663
Revenue from contracts with customers EREHRE 172,547 274,113
Lease — other source MHE-HihRR 1,427 1,428
173,974 275,541
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

REVENUE (continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

For contracts entered into with customers on sales
of properties, the relevant properties specified in the
contracts are based on standardised specifications
with no alternative use. Taking into consideration of
the relevant contract terms, the legal environment
and relevant legal precedents, the Group concluded
that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment prior to transfer of control of the
relevant properties to customers. Revenue from
sales of properties is therefore recognised at a point
in time when control of completed property is
transferred to the customer, being at the point that
the customer obtains the physical possession or the
legal title of the completed property and the Group
has present right to payment and the collection of
the consideration is probable.

In general, the Group receives 30% of the contract
value as receipt in advance from customers when
they sign the sale and purchase agreement and
remaining 70% of the contract value would
be received through the banks by releasing the
mortgages to the customers in two to three months
after the agreement signing date. Such advance
payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property construction
period for the full amount of the contract price.

For trading of raw cane sugar to third party
customers, revenue from the sale of raw cane
sugar is recognised at a point of time when the
Group delivers the raw cane sugar to the customer
where its performance obligation is satisfied and
the customer obtains control of the raw cane sugar.
Payment of the transaction price is due immediately
when the invoice is presented to the customers
according to the payment terms agreed on the sales
contracts.

5. W= =&
(i) BFRAWZEHEE

(a) TFYMEHERERIJINGNMS 5
MNPEENHEBRYEDERRELEEK
TR TEHEMBEABR KZEHRH
BB ERBERREBEREM
AEERD TEBHEBYEZIZHE
TEPE A E I E WY YA E
FBMATHERN - HIt HEWEH W =N
BERIYMENEGFNRBBEETR TR
BN ERFEREANNSELRIYE
WEEZE® BXAERRRAERENRKR
B] BE WX [E] U fE o

BEARIEEWMEZT AEEBARR
WE BN EER30%EATAWMRIE M
BRTEMNEENTO%R N HEET B
BEMEZBEAZBRITAETR ERIRIE
BEMUEL - s TR et Bl BN B @
MERKHRDARGHERERNEG
Naf\-o

(b) MEF=AFRZEEWEEZMES  #
ERERNBmNAERBRTR MR
ERNEEE BENEEEMRRER
DEREBNZEWER) Bl - X Z8
RIFESHNBENMRBERRBER R
RERRAEZ-
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(iii)  Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with

customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)

5. W= @&

(i) PEEFREGHNZARTERNBEENRZE

N _E_—F+_BA=+—H HEEGRTRE
NEINRZB (RBEEXRIBDKRSE) &8

as at 31 December 2021 and the expected timing of BN EREAT
recognising revenue are as follows:
2021 2020
B CTZTH
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Within one year R—FR
— Sales of properties — MEHE 56,718 74,154
(iv) Leases (ivy #HE
2021 2020
B CT°ZTH
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
For operating leases with respect to investment ~ FLIERIREYENKZHEMS !
properties:
Lease payments that are fixed EEHENR 1,427 1,428
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on
internal reports about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker
(i.e. the executive directors of the Company) (the “CODM")
in order to allocate resources to the segments and assess
their performance.

The Group's operating segments under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments are identified as the follows:

o Property development and investment: this segment
primarily develops and sells office premises, retail
stores, commercial, residential properties and car
parking spaces. This segment also generates rental
income from investment properties and achieves
gain from the appreciation in the properties’ values
in the long term. All the Group’s activities in this
segment are carried out in the PRC.

o Trading of raw cane sugar: this segment trades raw
cane sugar on a worldwide basis.

Property development and investment and trading of raw
cane sugar also represent the Group's reportable segments.

6. DIEFR

FEARBETELERAEE (T ELEERSE
EONAATRTES) EHEBDUASD S
RS ERIGEERBECARAAEE D B2R

MREEEHKLE DB -

REEBMBRSERNFSRLE D v &
B &Sk mT

. MEZERRERE 2N TBEREKIE
EMREYXE -TEEH -BE-EEY
ERFEU-ZOBTEREVEESE
HEWARBMERPEERSE R -
AEBZOMZABEER LS HINRE
FE-

. REWRES ZoHBNERLEETR

MEERRREUARERESTATEER
ZAREDER
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

results by operating and reportable segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

6. NHEHE

() ZDERRERER

AEB WD RER

WEHWT o

ZOMBEERITRE D

BE_E-_—F+-_A=+—BLEE

Property
development Trading of
and investment  raw cane sugar Total
MEZRRK
BE REREES Mt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
Revenue G 173,974 - 173,974
Segment loss S EEEE (409,044) (1,616) (410,660)
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL @A A B ABHE Z
IBEEZANEEE (519)
Finance costs B (499)
Unallocated corporate expenses Kok ATRY (16,331)
Loss before taxation PR AIES 1R (428,009)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE_ZEHF+_A=+—HIHFE
Property
development Trading of
and investment  raw cane sugar Total
MEERK
B REREES st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT ARETT
Revenue Wi 247,878 27,663 275,541
Segment profit o EREF 22,769 2,025 24,794
Other income HieA 656
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL A A B ABZZ
MBEEZ ANEE 2,411
Finance costs AR A (662)
Unallocated corporate expenses RNBARRER (19,907)
Profit before taxation BRIR AR 7,292
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note
3.2. Segment profit or loss represents the profit or loss of
each segment without allocation of certain other income,
fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL, certain
finance costs and unallocated corporate expenses (i.e.
central administration costs and directors’ emoluments).
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment.

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and
liabilities by reportable and operating segment:

6. HWEHR
(@) AEEKRES E

MEDB 2 BT BRAMEI2FAMZ A& E
SEERAER - D E BN HNERESDBRD
EETHEMBA -BRAAREFAERZMBTE
EZRABEH ETHMHRAEIRRDERT
X (BPRTHREAREEME) 2 dF
BRI RETFEIEEBERREANERY
Bo ;e RSP AU HE I o

(b) SNWEEKRER

AEBEEREBRZDNMBERERKEE 7 EL
25mF

2021 2020
—EI—H CZTE=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTRT AR®TT
Segment assets NEHEE
— Property development and investment —MEERRKE 668,892 1,072,849
— Trading of raw cane sugar —REEES 33,455 802
Unallocated corporate assets IO hEEE
— Financial assets at FVTPL —RBAREFABEZHHEE 4,313 6,402
— Bank balances and cash —RITEERIRE 1,241 1,242
— Others —H1th 14,309 15,176
Consolidated total assets HEBEEME 722,210 1,096,471
Segment liabilities DEEIE
— Property development and investment —MEERREE (403,066) (328,330)
— Trading of raw cane sugar —RERES (1.648) (712)
Unallocated corporate liabilities RO EERE
— Other borrowing —HMER (8,150) (8,420)
— Amount due to a director —EN—R%EERIE (2,201) -
— Amount due to a former director —EN—RAIEEENIE (14,589) -
— Tax payable —ERIE (220) (227)
— Bank overdrafts —R1TEX (1,959) (4,039)
— Secured bank borrowing —BIERIRITER (8,020) (9,150)
— Others —HAth (4,280) (2,410)
Consolidated total liabilities HEaERE (444,133) (353,288)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to segments assets other than
financial assets at FVTPL, certain bank balances and
cash and certain other assets; and

o all liabilities are allocated to segments liabilities
other than other borrowing, certain amounts due
to directors, amount due to a former director,
certain tax payable, secured bank borrowing, bank
overdrafts and certain other liabilities.

(c) Other segment information

6. NHEH(E
(b) NWEEKRER #E

AEESESZENDBREMNDEE IR E
Ay

. BEARESFABRZZMBEE-ET
RITEEFERBEEURETHEMEEN
FREBEENDEEDHEE , &

. REMER - ETECMESFTHIE BY
—LARAEERE - ETRERORE A
HIRETER BTEXRETHEME
BINFrEERADEEDEER.

(0 HttaHER

2021 —E—F
Property Trading
development of raw
and investment canesugar  Unallocated  Consolidated
NERXRRRE FEEES KAE af
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETRT AEBTR AREFTR AEBTx®
Amounts included in the measure of SIES SR RIWEE
segment profit or loss and segment assets:  EFtAZAE !
Addition to non-current assets REFRBEE 112 - 1,825 1,937
Impairment loss reversed under ECL HttENRIERBES
model on other receivables BEEB TR HESE (729) - = (729)
Impairment loss recognised on properties held 25 1EH &Y R ERE
for sale 302,818 - - 302,818
Impairment loss recognised on properties  TEEYERRN B EFE
under development 71,026 - - 71,026
Fair value change on investment properties R &Y% 7 A A EEH 35,182 - - 35,182
Finance costs B - 305 499 804
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1%\ B E R REHTE 325 - 421 746
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE - 934 5 939
Amounts reqularly provided to the CODM BT BT & HEE I 21E
but not included in the measure of PN EL S B 7R
segment profii or loss and segment assets:  HEIEERIFIE !
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL A f(Est ABE 2
MBEBEZAREERE - - 519 519
Bank interest income SRITHBMA (159) - - (159)
Other income HA (1 (1,802) = (1,803)
Income tax expense FEMES 37,259 - - 37,259
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZF_

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)  Other segment information (Continued)

= .2 H
)

A5 ER R MIEE

—EH- B=+—HLEE

6. NEHEH(E
(0 EHtaHBEH

2020 —E=—=x
Property Trading
development of raw
and investment cane sugar Unallocated ~ Consolidated
WERRRKRE  REEES N aft
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETH ARETT  ARETR
Amounts included in the measure of BB RINEER
segment profit or loss and segment assets:  EFFAZFE .
Addition to non-current assets REFRDEE 21 - = 21
Impairment loss recognised under ECL model - ftEURZIETEH = B BR
on other receivables BETHR 2 AESR 1,236 = S 1,236
Fair value change on investment properties R &Y% 7 A A ELS 10,518 - - 10,518
Finance costs BBMA - 168 662 830
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4% « R R B EHTE 385 - 453 838
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREBEENE = 1,205 5 1210
Amounts reqularly provided to the CODM — E& T ZATE#E %f #e
but not included in the measure of FEA 57‘52‘%
segment profit or loss and segment assets: 7 A EERHIFE
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL %A quMEmZ
HMHEEZ ANEES - - (2,411) (2,411)
Bank interest income SRITR B WA (259) @ = (266)
Other income Het A - (133) (656) (789)
Income tax expense TSRS 14,263 = 240 14,503
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Geographical information

The Group's operations are located on the Mainland China
and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from continuing
operations from external customers is presented based
on the location of the operations. Information about the
Group's non-current assets is presented based on the
geographical location of the assets.

6. SEWEHR
d) HEBEH

AEBNEBUNPEAMKES -
FERFEBCEXEBRANIBERZERRE

B REGSEfMR B2 - AREER
FFRBEENENDEREEMBEMLUERZS -

Revenue from Non-current

External customers assets

KEIIBEE Z W ERBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
B TZ2T%F TR “TTTF
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000
AREBTFT AEETTT ARETRT ARETT
The Mainland China A B g 3t 173,974 247,878 6,065 76,277
Hong Kong 58 - 27,663 15,107 15,103
173,974 275,541 21,172 91,380

(e) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

() FEXREH

REREEREBHAERRK T EMEBR

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group 10%ERZWHWT !
are as follows:
2021 2020
g TETEE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARt AR®BT
Customer A (Note) ZHA FEE) = 27,663

Note: Amount represented revenue generated from trading of
raw cane sugar to this customer during the year ended 31
December 2020 and this customer did not contribute any
revenue to the Group during the year ended 31 December
2021.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_Z _—fﬁ—f‘ A== ElEEE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HffthgA
2021 2020
e % T T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTr ARBTT

Compensation received upon cancellation of EREUHEBZa4%

sugar trading contract by a customer W BB f 18 1,800 -
Bank interest income RITH B WA 159 266
Government grant (Note) BN (iP5 - 625
Other interest income HhF 2 U A 3 133
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HENBAR Z Wi - 31
1,962 1,055
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group Mzt : RB&E_ZT_EF+_A=+—HLEE > x&£H

received and recognised government grants of Hong Kong
Dollar ("HK$") HK$702,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB625,000) (2021: Nil) in accordance with the Employment
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government.

REE %Eﬁzlﬁ?fﬂﬁzﬁ FLEE 5T B B W E L FE SR

FHENBE (TEE
625,0007T) (ZE-—F 1 ) o

1) 702,0007% (*E%ﬁ%@)\&ﬁ%

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. Hth=KkiEsE
2021 2020
T —fF T_BF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Fair value change on investment properties KREYELADEE (35,182) (10,518)
Fair value change on financial assets at BAnEst ABmNUMHFEEEN
fair value through profit or loss NREEE) (519) 2,411
(35,701) (8,107)
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MRS
2021 2020
g5 TIZTEZHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Interest expenses on MERZ
— secured bank borrowing —BIRFIRITER 172 225
— other borrowing —HMER 498 534
— lease liabilities —HEaE 22 59
— bank overdrafts —iRITESX 112 12
804 830
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. PRSI

2021 2020
T —ETTEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARBTT
Current tax ENER#R I8

Hong Kong B5HE - 240
PRC EIT R FEPTER 159 12,575
PRC LAT FREE IR (E R 59,663 8,063
59,822 20,878

Deferred taxation (note 29) IEIEFRTE (BT5E29)
Current year KEE (22,563) (6,375)
37,259 14,503

Under the two tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%. Tax provision for the prior year was
provided based on the assessable profits and unused tax
losses brought forward.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law"”) and
Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The provision of PRC LAT is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. PRC LAT has been provided at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, with certain allowable exemptions and deductions.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZF_

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

= .2 H
)

A5 ER R MIEE

—EH- B=+—HLEE

10. FRSIRAX (&

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled RERNZMERBEZEESEARPIRRA
to the (loss) profit before taxation per the consolidated (B518) mA 2 HERM T :
statement of profit or loss as follows:
2021 2020
B CTTTH
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
(Loss) profit before taxation BRI AT (B518) a7 (428,009) 7,292
Tax (credit) charge at the domestic income tax rate 32 Z<#1FF SRR F25%
of 25% (2020: 25%) (Note) (CE-FHF :25%) 582
I8 (%) Bz (HEH) (107,002) 1,823
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax FAHRAZ 2 RBEE
purpose 3,063 4,584
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose  JEERFURA Z RTS8/ & (246) (107)
Provision of PRC LAT for the year AR I E AR B 59,663 8,063
Tax effect of PRC LAT deductible for PRC EIT BI LR B B SR PR IR N
Rl LB EIR 2 INB B (14,916) (2,016)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not FRHERAI IR G RF =R
recognised NI E 93,461 =
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised & FRiB 1 R FESE 2~ 1 1B 18 - (1,245)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBNEERKE 2
operating in other jurisdiction MEARFREIRE & 2,108 3,548
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RETDMIBEIBZMBEE 1,128 -
Income tax at concessionary rate REERXFAHE ZMMER - (147)
Income tax expense Frigfi 37,259 14,503

Note: The domestic income tax rate (which is PRC EIT rate) in the

jurisdiction where the operation of the Group is substantially
based is used.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary differences of approximately
RMB302,818,000 (2020: Nil) arising from impairment loss
recognised on properties held for sales and approximately
RMB71,026,000 (2020: Nil) arising from impairment loss
recognised on properties under development respectively.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to
such deductible temporary differences as it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 29.

MisE : REARERKEXBEEMERERE ZAMFE
MK RIFRREEEPERE) o

RBEEHR ZEBDNBEEELEBFMEL
EYECRIBAEEENTNREREEY
AR#302,818,000c (ZE_ZTF : #) &
EXfEERYERINAEBFENARKE
71,026,00070 (ZBE_Z4F | ) o

MR KNEISER BIRAE A A jUEHD_HEHD
BE Rt Z & FILEERIEE E KD A
BOEREEEER-

HEFIRSF BB MY EE29
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 11. FRNEEE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging FREEEMNR GTA) X TEIE
(crediting):
2021 2020
B CT°ZTH
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Directors’ remuneration (note 12a) S (5E12a) 7.356 7,592
Other staff costs HMBE T pia 10,248 6,746
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRIREFET B 845 861
18,449 15,199
Gross rental income from investment properties & EYELEHE S WA (1,427) (1,428)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred for A FERELAHESBRANKEEY =
investment properties that generated EENEREERS
rental income during the year 199 173
(1,228) (1,255)
Cost of properties held for sale recognised as RAREZNRFIEHEMERAR
expenses (included in cost of sales) (Gt ASHE i AS) 154,900 203,896
Cost of raw cane sugar recognised as expenses R REER A
(included in cost of sales) (Bt ASHE R ZS) - 22,641
Auditor’s remuneration Z BB & 1,162 1,201
Net foreign exchange loss (FERN = DT = 1,054
Impairment loss (reversed) recognised under ECL ~ EMEWIETERAE EREE
model on other receivables I~ (B[o) MEsR 2 mERS 1R (729) 1,236
Impairment loss recognised on properties L B EHESD
held for sale By E RS 1E 302,818 =
Impairment loss recognised on properties ERMERRNRERE
under development 71,026 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME--BERZEITE 746 838
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEERE 939 1,210
Expenses related to short-term leases FRHATR EAERIR 806 20
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12. ESE-FETHAEREEME
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments () EFRFIETHAEMSE
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven BERXERLtU(CEI2F N\ ESERE
(2020: eight) directors and the chief executive were as BTHAELZNZBMEWM T
follows:
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
BES BUFHTES

Mr. POON Mr. CHAR
Mr. CHEN Mr. LAU Mr. LIU Mr. LIU LaiYin, ~ Shik Ngor, M. CHEN
Xian  Sai Chung Feng  Zhongxiang Michael Stephen  Weijiang Total
BREXE MBRE  WEZE  ABHRE  BRERE THERE RRIRE st
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEETR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(notes v, vi) (note iv) (note iv) (notevii)  (note viii) (note ii)

(Mstvevi)  (fiskv) (Msiv)  (ftshvi) (i) (Wi

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ-Z-—%+-F=+-H

LLEE
Directors' fees LSk - - - - 147 147 147 am
Salaries and allowances FehEsh 1,936 1,746 2,232 805 - o > 6,719
1,936 1,746 2,232 805 147 147 147 7,160
Retirement benefits scheme contributions &K@ F I BT 49 49 49 49 - - - 19
Total At 1,985 1,795 2,281 854 147 147 147 7,35
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
ez BUkanES

MrPOON  Mr CHAR
Mr. CHEN Mr. LAU Mr. LU Mr. LI LaiYin,  Shik Ngor, Mr. CHEN Ms. Ll
Xan  SaiChung feng  Zhongriang Michael Stephen Wejiang ~ Jiansheng Total
RERE ERRE  HBRE ARARE  BEERE THERE REIRE TRERL st
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
AEETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(notes, vi) (note v) (note i) (note i) (note vii) (note il (note i)

(fsbev) (M) (skv) b)) (Fizki) (FrzHii)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ-F-FF+-A=+-H

LEE
Directors' fees BZie - - - - 152 152 152 = 456
Salaries and allowances HekEt 1993 1,804 2307 83 = 5 5 = 6,936
1,993 1,804 2307 832 152 152 152 - 7392
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3B f4& R sHEIEET 50 50 50 50 - - 5 = 200
Total st 2083 185 2357 882 152 152 152 = 7592
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

12.

(a)

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Chen Weijiang was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 3 January 2020.

Ms. Li Jiangsheng resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 3 January 2020.

Mr. Liu Feng and Mr. Liu Zhongxiang resigned as executive
directors of the Company on 28 January 2022.

Mr. Lau Sai Chung resigned as an executive director of the
Company on 10 February 2022.

Mr. Lau Sai Chung was also the chief executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael, resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 6 June 2022.

Mr. Char Shik Ngor, Stephen resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 30 June 2022.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments paid by the Group during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with highest emoluments in the
Group, four (2020: four) were directors and the chief
executive of the Company whose emoluments are set out
above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2020: one)
individual were as follows:

12. EF FETHAEREEME (&

(b) EEME

rEELAESMNEENALTH OR (T3
TEF IR RERBZEFREZTHA
B REZMEER EXIH - RtF—% (=
TEFE ) EANATZMENT

2021 2020

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AREFTRT ARBTT

Salaries and allowances e SoRRL 971 1,003
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIABEHEHEHERR 48 50
1,019 1,053

Emoluments of the five individuals with highest
emoluments including directors were within the following
bands:

I%EeMEENAL (BFEES) 2N
FUTHER :

Number of individuals
(including directors
and chief executive)

BEIHE (BREFEK

FETHAS)
2021 2020
—E—8§ CZZTIEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT AR®TT
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 21,000,001 T E
H#1,500,0007T 2 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 A2, 000,001 E
H 2 500,0007T 2 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 HH£2 500,001 E
53 000,0007T 1 1

No emolument have been paid by the Group to the
directors and the chief executive of the Company or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of
office during the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

HE_S-_—FR-_P-BF+-F=+—
AR cEEBROAAIEERIER
MABRELBBMSEIA LS A S
AR 3] M A A0 A A 5 B B 2 9 o 15 2 B
B
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 34, no significant transaction,
arrangement and contract in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company and
the director’'s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

13. DIVIDEND

No dividends were declared and proposed by the Company
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period.

14. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculations of the basic and dilutive loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

12. EF -FETHAEREEME (&

(b) EEME

EFRRG ZHAEHBIEAXE R

SR SES4FTIRBEE N A AT EEFREEN
HELDBERERNERNEMEBDAFE
UERBRNEEANBADERTITNTHA
FEBEFERNEARZ LRGN TE
FERHBENERED -

13. kB

RBEE_ZE_—FK_ZFT_ZFTF+_H
S+—BLEEE ARTHEERKEIKEM
RE TERSHRETERKEARE

14. ©BREE

ERBBEAEANBEESREARBESEDR
BUTHIRSE

2021 2020
8§ IZZTIETF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFRT AR®ETT
Loss EsiE
Loss for the purposes of basic and st EEREAREEEE
diluted loss per share ms 2 &8
— loss for the year attributable to owners of — A REHEE ANEBILFEANEIER
the Company (400,926) (7,775)
Number of shares KR &8
Weighted average number of share M EEREAREEHEEMS 2
for the purposes of basic and AR NORE I
diluted loss per share 254,469,052 182,666,312
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

14. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purposes of basic and diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2020 presented has been adjusted for
the shares consolidation effected on 20 October 2020.

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s share options because the
exercise price of those options was higher than the average
market price for shares for both years.

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out retail stores under operating leases
with rentals receivable monthly. The leases typically run
for an initial period of 3 to 5 years, with unilateral rights
to extend the lease beyond initial period held by lessees
only. Majority of the lease contracts contain market review
clauses in the event the lessee exercises the option to
extend.

The lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee
and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end
of lease term.

14. SKREE &

HE-S-SE+-A=+—HILFERH
#oi s+ g I
RYHHERN _S-_SE+A_THE
2RI EHHETEE

SAESRBEFERIERKEIATZER
RESTE RARZEBEREZTEESIKR
DEMEFEZFIEIHE-

15. KREYE

AEERBEECEHERALTEERILE A K
WS AER—RIZIESFER Y6 HIRE K
EHE MABALEEVRABRIEREAS
E’J%Eﬁ%ﬂ fid K FH A 1T fEIE RZE = > K
DHEGHHETHRET IR -

%H%é%’]]tﬂt%z*ﬁ_ﬂ FEEERKRHEME
ARBEREREBEEYENEE-

2021 2020
g IZZTZTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT ARETT

FAIR VALUE ’AJ’-ME
At 1 January "w—HB—H 74,400 84,918
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss ﬁ"?ﬁm BZARERD (35,182) (10,518)
Disposals HE (24,761) =
Transfer to investment properties held for sale BRETHFHEREME (10,057) =
At 31 December W+-_B=+—H 4,400 74,400

The fair values of the Group's investment properties of
approximately RMB4,400,000 as at 31 December 2021
(2020: RMB74,400,000) have been arrived at on a basis
of valuation carried out by Norton Appraisals Holdings
Limited, an independent professional property valuer not
connected with the Group.

rEEKE

EMER _Z_—F+RA=+—

HZAREBEHARKA4,400,000c (ZEE =
THE . ARMT4,400,0007) JhER EAE
B EEEBYUEEYEMSEMNOrton

Appraisals Holdings Limited#

o

Tz mEZE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
recognised the loss in fair value of approximately
RMB32,814,000 (2020: Nil) in fair value change on
investment properties under other gains and losses in the
consolidated profit and loss upon the disposal of investment
proprieties. The fair value change related to unrealised losses
of investment properties is approximately RMB2,368,000
(2020: RMB10,518,000) for the year.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
third party qualified valuer to perform the valuation. The
management works closely with the Valuer to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs and data to
the model. The management reports the valuation report
and findings to directors semi-yearly to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
independent professional property valuer adopted the
investment approach for the properties which are currently
held for earning rental income and capital appreciation.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the highest and best use of the investment properties is
their current use. The fair values of investment properties
have been adjusted to exclude prepaid or accrued
operating lease income to avoid double counting.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair
values of the investment properties were determined by
the independent professional property valuer by reference
to capitalised income to be derived from the tenancies and
the reversionary income potential of the properties.

The following tables give information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs and data
used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair
value measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based
on the degree to which the inputs and data to the fair
value measurements is observable.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
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15. KREWE &)

HE_Z-_—F+ZRA=+—HILEFE &%
ERNLEREMERNAEEAANEME A
REBETZREMEAABEETRI AN
BEEEHOARK32,814,000c (ZE 54 .

BEEH AN ARE2,368,000 0 (ZE-24F
ARM®10,518,0007T) ©

RESFEEZRAANER  ZEBRBIRNEZ
TSI EHRHBE - HILETRAZE —REAHK
BoRAEBEEGEMETHE - EEER
HEMERSF URILABZhHERMTRE
BB AEREE - EEESYFRNERER
HMERESRER  UBEBEERAAEBRIZR
& o

BE_ T _—FABEEF+_H=1—
BLEFE BYFEXYELEME [ FIFR
RESWRARERBEZMERBREE

RIEFRENVEZANEBR  REVEZRS
RREREARHEERRAGZ KENENARE
EEEE URAMIET Z2EEREK
AN BREEFHE-

ME-S-—#R_F_FE+_A=+-—
IR BENEZ ARG BB EEY
EEEDSEFBBEEENASRLRAR
MEERBEAENMEE -

TRIITEMUNEEXZSEREMELANE
ZEH (CHEGAERMRMAH AERHK
B URBERAANEFEFMRHAEREERN
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
As at 31 December 2021

15. KREYE &)

R-ZF_—%+-A=+—H

Range
Fair value Valuation techniques (weighted
Category Fair value hierarchy and key inputs and data Significant unobservable inputs average) Sensitivity
RERTAEEHAE #E
5 RRAE RREER  REE EXFIHRBAE (NEFI9E) HEE
RMB000
ARBTR
Retail stores 4,400 Level 3 Investment approach - 1. Term yield 4.0% A slight increase in term yield would
in the PRC F=MH income capitalisation of 1. EHIKE result in significant decrease in fair
KAz ZERE the net income and made value, and vice versa

provisions for reversionary
income potential

REE-BFWABWAE
KNMERFERBAENE
R

2. Reversionary yield 5.0%
2. EHERE

3. Unit rent RMB29 to
3. Bfifig RMB43
AEE297TE

AER#437T

4. Monthly market rent RMB50
4. BRMTHEE AR50

EHE R EHN AR ERE
B R Re

A slight increase in reversionary
yield would result in significant
decrease in fair value, and vice

@Emllﬁlmfﬂ%fﬁ HAREKRE
ﬁ"“)ﬁZ?T*

A significant increase in unit rent
would result in significant increase
in fair value and vice versa.

BAESABENRERARE
KB K2 TR

A significant increase in the market
rent would result in significant
increase in fair value and vice
versa.

MIHHRS KRB MR ER QA E
KRB R 2T59R
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. KREWE &)
As at 31 December 2020 N _ETEF+"HA=+—H
Range
Fair value Valuation techniques (weighted
Category Fair value hierarchy and key inputs and data Significant unobservable inputs average) Sensitivity
fhERITREEBAR _ il
85 RAE RREER  REE EXFIHRBAE (NEFI9E) HEE
RMB’000
ARBTR
Retail stores 74,400 Level 3 Investment approach - 1. Term yield 3.35% Aslight increase in term yield would
in the PRC F=MH income capitalisation of 1. EHIKE result in significant decrease in fair
KAz ZERE the net income and made value, and vice versa.
provisions for reversionary THRGREEERNAEAR
income potential R RZ I Re

REE-BFWABWAE
RERMERBNEE
B

2. Reversionary yield 5.0% A slight increase in reversionary
2. BRWE yield would result in significant
decrease in fair value, and vice

versa.
ERBEBERER AR EAE

A RZIRe
3. Unit rent RMB26 to A significant increase in unit rent
3. Bfifig RMB43  would result in significant increase

ARE267TE  infair value and vice versa.

ARE43T BUESAREMEERANE

ARG k2 TR
4. Monthly market rent RMB77 A significant increase in the market
4. BRMBER AE777c  rent would result in significant
increase in fair value and vice
versa. .
TSHEERBEMEERARE
ARG RZTRR e
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the BE_Z_—FKRZZE_E E‘f— B=+—
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. BEFE #SIESANEHE=
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. YE - -BERRE
Leasehold
land and Leasehold Motor
buildings improvements  Equipment Furniture vehicles Total
etttk
BF %L *fE & AE g
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
cosT A&
At 1 January 2020 R_E_Z&E-A-H 21,455 927 1,708 172 2,991 27,253
Exchange differences ERER (1,246) (54) (43) (5) = (1,348)
Additions hE - = 21 = S 21
At 31 December 2020 and R-B_EE
1 January 2021 +ZA=1+—-8k
“E"-E-A-H 20,209 873 1,686 167 2,991 25,926
Exchange differences EREE (648) (28) 2 - = (678)
Additions NE - - 109 - 3 112
At 31 December 2021 RIEZ—4
+-A=+—-H 19,561 845 1,793 167 2,994 25,360
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION RiHrE
At 1 January 2020 RZ2_%E-A-H 5,327 927 1,415 172 1,039 8,880
Exchange differences ERER (334) (54) (42) (5) = (435)
Provided for the year ENEE 451 = 88 = 299 838
At 31 December 2020 and R-B_EE
1 January 2021 +ZA=1+—-8k%
“2”-4%-fA-H 5,444 873 1,461 167 1338 9,283
Exchange differences ERESE (182) (28) 2 - = 212)
Provided for the year FREE 41 - 51 - 274 746
At 31 December 2021 RIEZ—4
+-A=+-H 5,683 845 1,510 167 1,612 9,817
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 December 2021 R_EZ-F
+-A=1+-H 13,878 - 283 - 1382 15,543
At 31 December 2020 R_E_%E
+-B=+-H 14,765 - 225 - 1,653 16,643
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

16.

Notes:

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, after taking into account
their estimated residual values, at the following useful lives or
rates per annum:

Over the shorter of the term of
the lease or 50 years

Over the shorter of the term of
the leases or 5 years

Leasehold land
and buildings
Leasehold improvements

Equipment 18% to 25%
Furniture 18% to 25%
Motor vehicles 10%

The leasehold land and buildings are situated in Hong Kong.

Leasehold land and buildings with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately RMB13,878,000 (2020: RMB14,765,000)
have been pledged to secure general banking facilities granted
to the Group.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET

17. FEREEE

Leased Office
properties  equipment Total
HEME MIERE st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTFT AREFTT ARBTT
At 31 December 2021 R_Z2_—H+”"H=+—H
Carrying amount FREE 1,217 12 1,229
At 31 December 2020 RZE-EH+”°"A=+—H
Carrying amount FREE 320 17 337
For the year ended BE_ZT_—F
31 December 2021 +ZRB=+—HILEFE
Depreciation charge mEER 934 5 939
For the year ended BEZZE"Z
31 December 2020 +TZB=t+—HLEFE
Depreciation charge mEEA 1,205 5 1,210
2021 2020
—E—8§ IZZTIETF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETT
Expense relating to short-term lease FEEATE SRR 806 20
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRHARZE 1,778 1,233
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFTREEE 1,825 -
The leased properties and office equipment are depreciated MEMERBAEREERES L E M

over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term using the straight-line method.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
leases a staff quarter, an office, car parking spaces and
a copier (2020: a staff quarter, car parking spaces and a
copier) for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for original fixed terms ranging from 1 to 5 years. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a range of different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract
is enforceable.

PR FRRERNREERE-

BE_T_—F+-RB=t—HLFE T&%

EnmHEEHEEIES MAE FEAK
THE (CE-ZF  BEIBEE - FEMAKRT
) - HESNDEBENFIEFEZREESE
MRS - HERRBRENEEER THAES
BARMRR ARG - RBERAERRKFER
HEENERER  ZEBEBSNNER
I E B AR SR B SATRI AR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET (Continued)

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately RMB1,242,000
(2020: RMB361,000) are recognised with related right-
of-use assets of approximately RMB1,229,000 (2020:
RMB337,000) as at 31 December 2021. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets cannot be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

The Group regularly enters into short-term leases for
warehouse. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed above.

18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT/
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE/
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE

Properties under development are classified as current
assets as the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to be completed in the
normal operating cycle.

Properties under development substantially represent
the cost of the land situated at JIXIANG-23, Maoming
Jixiang District* (& 51/ &) in the PRC (the “PRC
Land”) and costs incurred for construction work. As at 31
December 2021, properties under development were not
scheduled for completion within twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT/
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE/
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE (Continued)

Properties held for sale/investment properties held for sale
are situated on leasehold land in the PRC. Properties held
for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value while investment properties held for sale are stated
at their fair values with reference to the selling prices
contracted in the sale and purchase agreements signed on
or before the end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
management of the Group identified impairment indicators
over its properties held for sale and properties under
development by reference to the cities and locations
where the properties held for sale and properties under
development are located, the pre-sale status and other
relevant market factors. The management of the Group
then assessed the net realisable values of the properties
held for sale and properties under development as at
31 December 2021, with reference to the valuations
conducted by an independent professional property valuer.
The net realisable values of the Group's properties held
for sale and properties under development were arrived
at by the independent professional property valuer with
reference to transaction prices of comparable properties
in the similar or same locations with adjustments made
according to nature of each property and its specific
location and condition.

The Group engaged Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited,
an independent professional property valuer, which has
appropriate qualification and recent experience in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations. The
properties held for sale were valued individually on market
value basis.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, in view of
continuous slow turnover of the properties held for sale
and downturn of the property market in the PRC, the
management of the Group, after considering the results
of valuations conducted by the Valuer and recent Sales
transactions, has determined that the net realisable
values of properties held for sales and properties under
development are less than their carrying amounts and an
impairment loss of approximately RMB302,818,000 (2020:
Nil) and RMB71,026,000 (2020: Nil) has been recognised in
the profit or loss respectively.

* The English name is for identification purpose only
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EHTMNUBE -FBEBERREMEREADTHE
RHAERFHEVERERFYEZFETS
R AEEEEERRSERBUEXYEMLE
Bl & 17 m@@%&@%ﬁﬁ%%¥&ﬁf$
MER_ZT_—F+_A=+—HHFNEH
FE - FEEFFLENERERTYEZH
SRFENBUSEEYELEMES S AN
@ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ%%?ﬁ&%%z 257 [BAE o LA
REEESEVENEEREFENMUEMIX
PR ER B EMERR

AEBEZEBIEEYEMERMNoOrton
Appraisals Holdings Limited’ #EBESEH
B UERREHMUNREBUENELYEE
ﬁJrggE’]ﬁ(« BoRFHEMENZTBEERE
El o

BEE_T_—F#+-_RB=+—H1
ﬁ"ﬁf’ﬁu”f%%%h%;/mfﬁu&qj%
MTB AEREIEEKE B L E 63
Tﬁﬁ,\u%&aﬁﬂﬁﬁa%“%ﬁ’aﬁéi
’%#@%&é‘*@tﬂ%%zﬁj%fﬁ@@f
SHREEITDMNE EP%%IJE@EM’\J)\
302,818,00075(_§ gfﬁ:’ﬁ)&)\
71,026,000 0 (B -5 &F  #) 2 HEE#

_FH
mﬂﬁ%m

5t 021 G e I
ZFRIEN SHHE

o
o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

19. DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 19. ¥EE -HtEWRRIERBEMRIE
PREPAYMENTS
2021 2020
—B—F CTTEZH
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Other receivables (Note 1) Hahpgugsris (MsE1) 17,984 24,914
Less: impairment losses recognized, net B BRESRERE FEB (905) (1,647)
17,079 23,267
Deposits and prepayments (Note 2) BEREMSRE (fsE2) 11,955 3,337
Value-added tax receivables FEWIE ER 15,266 -
44,300 26,604
Notes: B EE
1. It includes loan receivables of approximately RMB2,882,000 1. BERE_—F+_RA=+—HRAEERET
(2020: RMB10,675,000) extended to the buyers of properties ZEWERANAR2,882,000T (T ZFF 1 A
as at 31 December 2021. The amounts are interest-free, FE#10,675,0007T) c :ZEMIEARE - BIEFE KA
unsecured and repayable within twelve months. R+ZEAEAREE-
Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set H AR UGRIERY R B S A B & M 5541 (b) o
out in note 41(b).
2. It includes a deposit paid of approximately RMB10,000,000 2. BERZE—F+ZB=+—HHEREERENE

(2020: Nil) for purchasing sugar as at 31 December 2021.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZF_
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——H+tZR=+—HLEE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 20. BRAAMBESAAEZZHMBEEE
2021 2020
—EZ 5 C"ZTTEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTr ARBTT
Listed securities held for trading: FERXH 2 LTS .
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —REB LM ZRAEFES 4,313 6,402

21. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSIT

As at 31 December 2020, the restricted bank deposit
represents a guarantee deposit for the construction of
project required to be placed in a designated bank account
by the PRC Construction Bureau of Maoming City* ([
Ra™MERB). The amount will be released upon the
bank receiving the certificate of property ownership.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no restricted
bank deposit for the construction of project required
to be placed in a designated bank account by the PRC
Construction Bureau of Maoming City.

Restricted bank deposit carries interest at a market rate of
Nil (2020: 2.25%) per annum.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only

22. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, BANK
BALANCES AND CASH AND BANK
OVERDRAFTS

As at 31 December 2021, pledged bank deposits
amounting to approximately RMB4,482,000 (2020:
RMB11,486,000) have been pledged to guarantee the
mortgage loans granted by the banks to the customers of
the Group and are therefore classified as current assets.

The pledged bank deposits carry interest at a market rate of
0.30% (2020: 0.30%) per annum.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which ranged
from 0.01% to 0.30% (2020: 0.01% to 0.30%) per
annum.

Bank overdrafts carry interest at overnight HIBOR plus 3%,
effectively at 3.06%, per annum (2020: HIBOR plus 3%,
effectively at 3.04%, per annum).

21. ABMRHIRITER
N_E2_EF+"_B=+—H ' BRHETHE

RIEAFATEHXETRERBIEERITRS
WARIERRZFRES ZMERNRITH

HR%%FEE*&‘“%%Z&B% 0

N B —F+__B=+—H ' AEBITESR
FATERLTERBEERTELARAR
TEREBERXZARGIEITESR.

ERHHETERETSENEXRST(ZE_F
F1225%) 5t R0

22. BIERIRITERRIT
BiRITEX

n\l:l 7— &iﬁﬁl‘x

RZIEZ—F+ZA=+—H ' BHEHOA
K14,482,000 (Z2EZZ2F I AR
11,486,00070) 2 BERIFIRITERE(EIRIR
MERBTHAEBREAREZERIBERE
Jtt/\JrE%/)lL@JﬁEO

EREFRITERETSENX0.30% (ZZZ
TE 10.30%) TR

RITEEFERTISENE0.01%ZE0.30% (=
:7£E . OO1%:|:O30%) D-I—/%\O

RITEXRBREBERETERFEMEN X
3% (BR#3.06%) (Z g_gﬁ-*%ﬁﬁ
REHFEMENEK3I% (BERA3.04%)) 5t
Be
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. B RHMEMRE
2021 2020
—B—F EBTEHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTT
Trade payables BRI 7,404 388
Value-added tax payable FETIZER 38,099 41,910
Other tax payables HhENIRIE 2,798 3,241
Other payables H A& TRIB 10,313 10,715
Accrued charges fEst& A 87,589 2,834
146,203 59,088

Credit periods granted to the Group by suppliers range

from 0 to 180 days.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables,
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the

reporting period:

HEBETAEROEIBOKRZIEER -

RBREHAZESBRARBZEZEHREY

ZEREDHWMT

2021 2020
e —F —E_EHF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AEBBTT

Within 90 days 90K LUK 7,404 388
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_=

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

e —F+_A=+—HLEFE

2. EHAEME

2021 2020

—R_—F "EBEF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFTT ARBTT

Receipts in advance for sales of properties HEMETAWRIE 56,718 74,154

As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB255,620,000.

Contract liabilities decreased during the year ended 31
December 2021 because the Group focused on delivering
the properties held for sale to the customers and the
amounts significantly outweighed the amounts received in
advance from pre-sale of properties in prior year.

Contract liabilities are expected to be settled within the
Group's normal operating cycle.

Revenue recognised during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 that was included in the contract liabilities
balance at 1 January 2021 and 2020 amounted to
approximately RMB18,867,000 and RMB161,466,000
respectively.

25. OTHER BORROWING

Other borrowing to an independent third party amounted
to approximately RMB8,150,000 (2020: RMB8&,420,000)
which is unsecured, interest-bearing at 6% per annum and
repayable on 30 April 2022 (2020: repayable on 30 April
2021).

é:v—vg H E’DI\’]%\T/\%IQ\@)\E%
255,620,0007T °

ﬁ%:%:—¢+:ﬁz+—5¢$§:mﬂ
BEEMREL TEHRAERFEINRAELR
ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%¥’ﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬂt—¢§ﬁ
EMEzBNRFHIE-

FHRANERRNAEREZERKE

‘;% g o

BHR

FARZE_—FER_ZFEFEF—HF—H
MEeNaBEnnEBE_S _— Kk _Z
T EE+ B+ HIEFEERIKSE
DAY ARMKI8,867,0000 Xk AR UE
161,466,0007T °

25. HthfEmR

M—Z2BIYEF=ZFRERHEEMEIROARK
8,150,000t (ZE=ZF : AKE 8,420,000
TT) A EAEIRIE BEMEE6%TE W
BER_E__FYB=Z+HEE (ZE_Z
FIER_E_—FMA=+RHERE) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. THE&E
2021 2020
—EC—F TEEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREBTFT ARETT
Lease liabilities payable: FENHEEEE
Within one year —FR 921 340
More than one year, but not exceeding two years —E BB BB M & HARH 316 8
More than two years, but not exceeding MEBEBIEBBAFEAM
five years 5 13
1,242 361
Less: Amounts due for settlement within 12 monthsiE : 731218 3 R EIEREE R RIS
shown under current liabilities FrRsafE iR (921) (340)
Amounts due for settlement after 12 months P12E B % B HR B ENFIE
shown under non-current liabilities FRIEREEEE TR 321 21

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities is 3.52% (2020: 5.83%).

27. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON- 27.
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The amounts represent the advances from the non-
controlling interests in respect of acquisition of the
PRC Land and construction cost for properties under
development which are unsecured, interest-free and have
no fixed repayment term.

It includes the amount of approximately RMB46,500,000
(2020: RMB37,500,000) due to non-controlling interests of
the subsidiary, which is also the substantial shareholder of
the Company.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z=—&5#
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

28. SECURED BANK BORROWING 28. HIRWPITEM
2021 2020
—E-— “EIEHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Secured bank loan BRIRIRITEMN
— Variable-rate borrowing — B EER 8,020 9,150
Carrying amount of bank loan that contain a HAEBRERBEMKRREER
repayment on demand clause (shown under UTHIBEZRITEM
current liabilities) but repayable: ZEREE ORsafBE T
FER) -
— Within one year ——FRN 865 865
— More than one year, but not exceeding two ——F BB BEMFERRE
years 884 893
— More than two years, but not exceeding five — M FRERBE R FHAME
years 2,779 2,806
— More than five years — A F B/ 3,492 4,586
Amount shown under current liabilities RREBaEE YR58 8,020 9,150
The Group’s variable-rate borrowing carries interest at KEBZIFHANERERTLZ =B EF BRI
3-month HIBOR plus 1.75% per annum (2020: 3-month BEFBEMEMNEKI75% (T & =@
HIBOR plus 1.75% per annum). BEABRITEZEREMEFNZEI75%) 578 ¢
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal AEEERERANX (HTFHERSONX)
to contracted interest rates) on the Group's borrowing are SEEWT :
as follows:
2021 2020
Effective interest rate EEES
— Variable-rate borrowing —FBRRER 2.29% to E 2.31%2.30% to & 2.38%
29. DEFERRED TAXATION 29. RERIE
2021 2020
-8 IZZTI=THF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTr ARBTT
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEEaE 11,661 34,224

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF 1 93
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 EiZE—

29. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities

e+ A=+ BILEE

29. RIEFRIE (&
RAEE DRINTEECLREEERES

recognised and movements thereon during the current E R
year:
Fair value
adjustments Change in
arising from  fair value of
PRC LAT properties  investment
provision  held for sale properties Total
BifE  REWEZ
hELH  HEWMEZ ARME
EREE ARKERE £ st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT ARBTR ARBTt ARBTR
1 January 2020 R_E_EF—F—H (1,725) 26,422 15,902 40,599
Charge (credit) to profit or loss PIERINMRE Gt A) 1,362 (5,371) (2,366) (6,375)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 R-E-F&+_F=+—HAK
“E_-F—-F—H (363) 21,051 13,536 34,224
Charge (credit) to profit or loss RiERNRE GtA) 1,828 (11,480) (12,911) (22,563)
At 31 December 2021 KB —F+"A=+—H 1,465 9,571 625 11,661

At 31 December 2021, the Group had unused tax losses
of approximately RMB35,837,000 (2020: RMB32,086,000)
available for offset against future profits. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
RMB5,291,000 (2020: RMB779,000) with expiry dates

as disclosed in the following table. Other losses

may be

carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been

N _E_—F+_B=+—H ' &x"EBEBEX
FARERFENARIEK35,837,000 T (ZE
—ZE ARHK32,086,0007) B BIEKIE K
Kaf FEXREEEEEBEBNARE
5,291,000 c (ZE =% : AR#¥779,000
70) CEIHHR TRINE - EM BB o EIR A
HEEH N _E_—F+_"_A=+—H HRX

recognised in respect of such losses as at 31 December 7?5 ﬁ:ﬁF'JPK/}_ZT_HE%D Mo WEMZEEER

2021 (2020: Nil) due to the unpredictability of future profit RIRIERIEEE (CE _ZSF | H) o
streams.

2021 2020

B CTZH

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AR®TFT

2022 _EF 159 159

2023 “ET=F 184 184

2024 —_ENF 50 50

2025 —ETRHEF 386 386

2026 TETRE 4,512 -

5,291 779
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

29. IRIEFRIA (&

RIB(PETLEMESRE)  BZEEN\EFE—HF—
HiE Bt E M B A BT BEE A B =Kk IR
EHWFENR RN AEE MG TR =28
MBI REREREAIER Y RARKRE A
B W E T A B A AR 184,114,000t (Z&
T AR ME344,099,0007T) A AR EIRG B A B R 5t
A ENEEEREEN SRR BRI

29. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to approximately RMB84,114,000 (2020:

RMB344,099,000) as the Group is able to control the MRIEE M o
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
30. SHARE CAPITAL
N
30. R Equivalent to
Number of HER
shares HK$'000 RMB'000
BeEs AT ARBTT
Ordinary shares of HK$1 at REERERTECF
31 December 2020 and 2021 +ZA=+— Hiﬁ%)ﬁ%‘s
(1 January 2020: HK$0.10) each (CE-2F—-F—H:BkK10m)
Z2EiEk
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2020 AZEZTF—HF—H 3,000,000,000 300,000 281,070
Share consolidation (Note 1) Rein &6t (fi5E1) (2,700,000,000) = =
At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 and R_E_TFE+"F=+—H
31 December 2021 “E_-#-A-Hk
B —F+°"A=+—H 300,000,000 300,000 281,070
Issued and fully paid: Eé’;“/_&ﬁ‘%ﬂb@ :
At 1 January 2020 RZEZRF-F—H 1,824,690,520 182,469 161,569
Share consolidation (Note 1) RH &0 (k1) (1,642,221,468) = =
Issue of new shares (Note 2) BiTIRRD (2) 72,000,000 72,000 60,588
At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 and RZEZEFS+A=+—H"
31 December 2021 —E-f5-A—-Hk
- —f#+"A=+—H 254,469,052 254,469 222,157
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174 AS

30.

Notes:

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

On 16 October 2020, the Company held an extraordinary
general meeting and approved the consolidation of every ten
issued and unissued ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the
share capital of the Company into one consolidated share
of HK$1.00 in the share capital of the Company. The share
consolidation became effective on 20 October 2020.

On 2 September 2020, arrangements were made for a private
placement to an independent private investor of 72,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each in the Company at a price
of HK$1 per ordinary share after share consolidation (as
mentioned above) representing a premium of approximately
51.51% to the closing market price of the Company’s ordinary
shares on 29 December 2020. The placing was completed
on 30 December 2020. The proceeds were used to pay part
of property project development and construction fee and to
provide additional working capital for the Company.

These new shares were approved to issue at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 16 October 2020
and rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all respects.

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the Group
to maintain its listing status on the Stock Exchange is that it
has to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares. Based
on the information that is publicly available to the Group
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Group has
maintained sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2021 as required under the Listing Rules of the
Stock Exchange.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The old share option scheme (the “2009 Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 30 November 2009. The 2009 Share Option
Scheme remained in force for a period of 10 years
commencing from the date of adoption of the 2009 Share
Option Scheme from 30 November 2009 (that is from 30
November 2009 to 29 November 2019).

On 13 July 2017, the Company granted a total of
64,000,000 share options to subscribe for 64,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company to certain
eligible individuals without vesting conditions under the
2009 Share Option Scheme.

The 2009 Share Option Scheme was terminated and a new
share option scheme (the “2019 Share Option Scheme”)
was adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 May
2019. The 2019 Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing from the date of
adoption of the 2019 Share Option Scheme from 29 May
2019 (the “Date of Adoption”) (that is from 29 May 2019
to 28 May 2029). Following the termination of the 2009
Share Option Scheme, no further options will be granted
under such scheme, but in all other respects the provisions
of the 2009 Share Option Scheme will remain in full force
and effect and options granted prior to such termination
will continue to be valid and exercisable.

On 16 October 2020, the Company held an extraordinary
general meeting and approved the consolidation of every
ten issued and unissued ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
in the share capital of the Company into one consolidated
share of HK$1.00 in the share capital of the Company. The
share consolidation became effective on 20 October 2020.

31. FBRiEstE

EEkagstd (T2 NEBERESED) ER
ARABARZZEEANF+—RA=+HETZK
RBERGLEEEARTRERM - _ T/
BRESEHE _FEAF+—BA=THHE®
“ETABRESIBRESTEHRRB (BN
EENET+—A=+tHE-FE-NAE+—A8
“t+hAB) RBABEN-

RIE—tTtFEtA+=-—HBH AREREBEZZEZE
NEBERESTEEE S3£64,000,00017 B AL #
FTEFLEERAL LUEEEG64,000,0008%
AATIEREEBKOIOTZEZER  WER
& 151 o

“ETNBRESIER L MTERES
g (ITZ—hBRESE ) ERNERANZ
E-NERR-+NHBEGZREBEKRE
ERAREDRERP - _TE—NEBRESS
B-Z-AFRAZ+NAB (MRMEBH) K
M_T— N BRESEIHBRES -FHE (B
—E-AFERARZTAHEZE-AEREAR
“HTNANB)RNMABR - —EZNERESE
RIEB TBREZASREEAERE B
EFREEMAE —TTNABRESEINEE
RIDE+TRMARER R LEATR LAY BB AR &
R EANER TR

RIZEZEF+AT B AR 2TRRR
AREBTLHERAEARTDREAFE-RERE
BABONOTZERTRAETERR S H
mERBREFT-—REREEBE1.00TZ
BHRMN - RNEHNR _FEZTFE+A-+H
FIYEE R
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The Company may grant to eligible participants (including
any directors, non-executive directors, employees, advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers of any member of
the Group whom the board of directors consider, in its sole
discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group)
options to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to
a maximum of 10% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the Date of Adoption and as at the
approval date of refreshment from time to time, excluding
for this purpose shares issued on the exercise of options.
The subscription price will be determined by the Company’s
board of directors and will not be less than the highest of (i)
the nominal value of the Company’s shares, (ii) the average
of the closing price of the shares quoted on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately
preceding the grant date and (iii) the closing price of the
shares on the grant date.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the number of share
options granted and remained outstanding under the 2009
Share Option Scheme and the 2019 Share Option Scheme
are 6,400,000 and Nil respectively after adjusting for the
effect of the share consolidation on 20 October 2020. No
share option has been exercised under the 2009 Share
Option Scheme and 2019 Share Option Scheme during the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31. HER#EE @)
The following table discloses movements of the 2009 Share TREBBE_E_—F+“H=+—HL
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021: FEZZZNERESE Z2EFHBR -

Number of share options

EREXE
Balance Balance Exercise
as at Granted Exercised as at price
Category of 1 January during during 31 December per share
participants Date of grant 2021 the year the year 2021  Exercise period HK$
RZEZ-f
gt +ZB
—-A-AH =t+-H gRITERE
SHEER FiAH 2&EH  FRERYE  FRETE pa - BT
Directors 13 July 2017 4,500,000 - - 4,500,000  13July 2017 to 2.50
£ “Z—tFtA+=H 12 July 2022
“EtE
tB+=H%
S
tA+ZH
Employees 13 July 2017 1,900,000 - - 1,900,000 13 July 2017 to 2.50
== “Z—tFtA+=H 12 July 2022
EBtf
tB+=H%
“ETCF
tA+ZH
6,400,000 6,400,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 EiZE—

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The following table discloses movements of the 2009 Share

31. BRiEstE @

e+ A=+ BILEE

TEREBEBEE_ZE_ZF+_HA=+—HL

Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2020: FEZZZNERESE 22BN -
Number of share options
EREYR
Balance Balance Adjusted
as at Granted Adjusted as at Exercise exercise
Category of 1 January during during 31 December price price
participants Date of grant 2020 the year the year 2020 Exercise period per share per share
EA L= E
RITITE TZR
—A—-H =1+-8 gk L#EEEk
SEEER RHAH &% FRERL  EAEHE 285 7 e e
Directors 13 July 2017 45,000,000 - (40,500,000) 4,500,000 13 July 2017 to 0.25 2.50
2 “E-tH5tA+=H 12 July 2022
“-tf
tAT=HZE
_BCCE
tA+ZH
Employees 13 July 2017 19,000,000 - (17,100,000) 1,900,000 13 July 2017 to 0.25 2.50
& “Z-tH5tA+=H 12 July 2022
S
tAt=HZ
_BTCE
tA+ZH
64,000,000 6,400,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Hong Kong

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
its Hong Kong employees. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the subsidiaries in
Hong Kong and its employees makes monthly mandatory
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employee’s
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The mandatory contributions from
each of the employers and employees are subject to a
cap of HK$1,500 per month. During the year ended 31
December 2021, a total contribution of approximately
RMB775,000 (2020: RMB989,000) was made by the Group
in respect of this scheme.

During the vyear, there were no forfeited contributions
which arose upon employees leaving the scheme prior to
their interests in the Group's contribution becoming fully
vested and which are available to reduce the contributions
payable by the Group in future years.

The PRC, other than Hong Kong

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the
PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute to a state-
managed retirement plan for all its employees at a
certain percentage of the basic salaries of its employees.
The state-managed retirement plan is responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to all retired
employees. Under the state-managed retirement plan, the
Group has no further obligations for the actual pension
payments or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
a total contribution of approximately RMB266,000 (2020:
RMB72,000) was made by the Group is respect of this
scheme.

32. RAEFIEE
&

AEBLZHEERESERBTBEARGFELTE
SBKPBRENRELTE Bt E B
RAEHDENRFE HBUITAETE R
EaEests SEEMBLARAKRERESAH
HIREBEBEZS%Z2WA (EERBHEAD
Bt E8EA) FHRFIMRF BT REES
ZEEZAAERTUSHEEBEE1,500Tc AR
BE_S_— S+ _A=+—HLEFEE &K
EERIL B EH LA AR KT775,0007T
(ZZE-ZF : AR%989,0007T) °

REAFEE BENEENRAEBREHRERTTH
¥R B B B 59 5t 8 o WL RR - M H 8] A PR30 BR
FEEBRRREEBOHMHER

PE - BFRERS

RIBTFBENEOERERRE PENBAEA
BAFMEREMIKEZBEREBAKRERTEI/E
HEHFH - HEREALAREELAFSNE—EH
tbe-EAREKREBAFEESESOMEERKEES
SFREERRKE AEEEIREKREHNtE 2
T AEBREEHRIINFBHAEME R ENK
X HFBKREENMEH T A E— T KIE &
EF_E_—F+_A=+—HILEE KxEH
FUILST B ER BT AR 266,000t (Z
E-FF . ARM®72,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z=E

33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, certain assets of the
Group were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to
the Group and to obtain the mortgage facilities provided
to certain purchasers of the Group's properties for which
guarantees were provided by the Group to the banks as
follows:

—F+ZRA=+—HLFE

33. KREE

REREHMAR AEBZETEEBFER/KRT
AEERTEERNSEOAEEAYEETE
HREZZERNE (THAEERRITRMIE
R) Z|IBUT

2021 2020
—E—8§ IZZTIZTHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFTT ARBTT
For banking facilities BLIRITIEEM

Leasehold land and buildings e i%)ﬁ’z%—‘ﬁ 13,878 14,765

For mortgage facilities IEIEHET
Pledged bank deposits BIERIEITEMR 4,482 11,486

34. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

34. FBIEFKE

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020 are as follows:

Compensation of key management personnel

BE_S--ER-B-SE+-A=+—
AUtEE EEREMISEREREZME
m

TEERREME ZH

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARBTT

Salaries and other benefits in kind HEREMEYHE 8,131 8,395
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIREFFHEIHRR 244 250
8,375 8,645

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

34. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

Related party transactions and balances

Other than the disclosures in notes 12, 27 and 34, amounts
due to directors and amount due to a former director,
disclosed on the consolidated statement of financial
position which are unsecured, interest free and repayable
on demand, there were no other significant related party
balances or transactions.

35. COMMITMENTS

Operating leasing arrangements
The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately RMB1,427,000 (2020: RMB1,428,000). The
properties held had committed leases mainly running for
the three to five years.

34. BAELHKE &

B R 7 KRASER

BREGEE12 27 R34PTIRE %Ezﬁ%?é.\ﬁﬁ%ﬂjﬁ
MEREBERIF RERAREREZEZRE
NEFHEREMN —RAETESFREN HE
EREMBRMESERALS -

35. KiE
ST E R HE

FEEEBLHTAN

RERNBRZZ2YEHEHSBRAAELG AR
1,427,000c (ZE - F : AR#1,428,000
TT) o FIEMEZAEZEHEBIENFEF=ZET
Fo

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as MMERWKREIRAENSRAOT
follows:

2021 2020
—BC-F T ZTHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Within one year —FR 86 2,986
In the second year E_F 78 1,748
In the third year B= 82 657
In the fourth year FrHE 35 160
In the fifth year BHF - 53
281 5,604
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

35. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
Other commitments
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the

following capital commitments for development of
properties:

35. g (&
Hfth iz

T

REBREHMAR AEEREYEZERKEN

2021 2020
-8 IZTIZTHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®BTT
Contracted for but not provided in the BN ERBEASHMBRE
consolidated financial statements SRR 316,705 369,138

36. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's maximum
obligations in respect of the mortgage facilities provided to
certain purchasers of the Group’s properties amounted to
approximately RMB80,814,000 (2020: RMB163,165,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group provided
guarantees in respect of the mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks to certain purchasers of the Group's
properties and pledged its bank deposits and properties
to the relevant banks. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, upon default on mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued
interest and penalties owned by the defaulted purchasers
to the banks.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE Lifs&EmMARAR
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N_EBE-_—HF+_B=+—B ' x&EEMLE
EYECETEREREBEZEBERZRS
SEEHAREER0,814,000 0 (ZE_FF . A
R #163,165,0007T) ©

RBERR EBERETRITAOEERYE
ZETERRHZBBEMREHRER LEA
AIRTHEBPEBTERARDE - REERKE
HZEERKREEERBNRE AIXEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

36. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS
(Continued)

Under the above arrangement, the bank deposits were
pledged to the banks as securities on the mortgage loans.
Upon default on mortgage payments by these purchasers,
the banks are entitled to take over the bank deposits
and legal titles of properties and can realise the pledged
properties through open auction, or the banks transfer the
pledged properties to the Group, then the Group sell the
properties through open auction. The Group is obliged to
repay the banks for the shortfall if bank deposits and the
proceeds from selling the properties through the auction
cannot cover the outstanding mortgage principals together
with the accrued interest and penalties.

The Group's guarantee period starts from the dates of grant
of the relevant mortgage loans, and ends upon the earlier
of (i) the issuance of real estate ownership certificates to
purchasers, which will generally be available within one
to two years after the purchasers take possession of the
relevant properties; and (i) the settlement of mortgage
loans between the mortgage banks and the purchasers.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of these
financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the directors consider that the
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote;
accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception
of these guarantee contracts and at the end of the each
reporting period.

The Company engaged an independent professional
valuer, Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited, an independent
professional valuer not connected with the Group, to
assess the fair values of the financial guarantees of the
Group and the directors of the Company concluded that
the effect is insignificant, and accordingly, no provision
for guarantee has been recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

36. MBEMEELN (E

REBELXLZE BRARTEMREFERSRIBEM
ZHEARBERFRT - HZFERREEERS
mE ASRTTARBRBIRTERRYMERIEE
FROVAIEBARMEZRITNYE > R
TRERYEBETFTAER EMEFERZSE
BARPEHEZFYE - HIRTERRBE
HEMEFMSMBEZBAEREEZRBE
TEREFMNERIR AAEBRARRTE
BAE

AEBZERPERLEBRIBEERB R
B EUTRERREREA L (IBDERE
HEMEFMBERE —MRRERBEEERDE
B—EMFEAFEL; RINEBRBIRTHRE
RZEHRBEN

EERR rEEZSMBEERGNZANE
ROFTEIEHEMFIRE BEEFBRITNES
B Z A BB/ FIE - BEEE R ] 1L
FERGOFTRNBREHARERD -

KRB EZEMEBNorton Appraisals
Holdings Limited (8% B B EN B L
SEXGEM THEAEEMBRERZANE
BARBIZEERATENAER FAIEHER
REMBHRRERDIEREE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 37. BRARNETEMBATIZEHE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2021 B FRZEZEFF+ZRA=+—H
and 2020 are as follows: ZEFENBRABFASERNT @
Place of
establishment/ Issued and fully
incorporation/ Class of paid capital/ Proportion ownership
Name of subsidiary operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company  Principal activities
R/
Bl BRTRBERE/
MEARBHE R BERHERN ARER AT RAEREE LA TELH
2021 2020
ZEZ-F CECEE
Directly Directly
E# E#
Techwayson Management Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100% 100% Provision of management services
Limited &8 ZiEk 7#1%10,0007T RIHEERY

BUHRERERAT

Techwayson Trading Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100% 100% Trading of raw cane sugar
BERESARAT &8 BER 71£10,0007 ]
Weina Land Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100% 100% Property holding
KBREBRAT e BRER 7#£10,0007 MEER
Maoming Huada Real Estate The PRC Contributed capital  RMB50,000,000 90% 90% Property development and investment
Development Limited** (“Maoming & BABR AR #50,000,0007T MERBRERE
Huada")
RETEARMEBEBRAR
4 EN)
Maoming Shang Cheng Real The PRC Contributed capital - RMB30,000,000 65% 65% Property development and investment
Estate Company Limited*# FE UN=TS A 30,000,0007% WERERRE
("Maoming Shang Cheng")
RELHEEERA
U1
Shenzhen Qianhai Shang Cheng The PRC Contributed capital  RMB38,000,000 65% 65% Trading of sugar
Supply Chain Management FE BAER AE38,000,0007% FRES

Limited*# (2020: Inactive)

("Shenzhen Qianhai”)
‘hf\\%ﬁ@iiﬁﬂﬁﬁ\ﬁ@é@

BERAR (CEZEE . FED

(TRYIATE)
* The English name is for identification purpose only * B BBEMHHT
i These companies were established in the PRC as non-wholly ? ZHERB BN PRI ZFIIEERE-

sino-foreign owned enterprises.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding as at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority
of these subsidiaries operate in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The principal activities of these subsidiaries are summarised
as follows:

Principal activities

Principal place of business

37. ZREEEBMBRRZHE &

ERZBINERAFDEEZIR/IBRETERE
BHEEZAEBENBRAB AADEERR
SIHEMMBATENKSREBN AR

BMEEANE QR EARFLNEFANEAE
BEERNAREERBEES-

REBESHR 2R EHEAEEMEIABER
ZHMMHB AR ZEWBRAAZHNETER
TEEE ZEMBARZEIEREBHAN
B

Number of subsidiaries

FEERB FEERME MEBAS#®E
2021 2020
B ETZTHF
Investment holding Hong Kong 1 1
REER BE
Investment holding The British Virgin Islands 1 1
BEER HERLHS
Investment holding The PRC 3 4
BEER HE
5 6
Inactive Hong Kong 1 1
| BE
Inactive The British Virgin Islands 1 1
WmER EEBRREHS
Inactive Cambodia 1 1
HmET RIHFE
Inactive The PRC 2 2
| HE
5 5
10 11

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

38. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned

38. JEEEHItH#EZE

TRINTEERFEFNERTZAERIFE

subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling BB AR zEMER !
interests:
Proportion of ownership  Total comprehensive
interests and voting (expense) income
Place of incorporation and rights held by non- allocated to Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary principal place of business controlling interests non-controlling interests controlling interest
FERIREMFRER AR THINMREZ
WERE % EMBIREE B HERRAELA 2E (A% AL REtIFEmI R
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
3% ZZCTF Z%C-f BCSE ZEC-F ZEIEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARETR ARBFRT ARETR
Maoming Huada The PRC
RAER HE 10% 10% (36,173) 851 11,327 47,500
Maoming Shang Cheng The PRC
gt HE 35% 35% (27,572) (287)  (17.357) 10215
(63,745) 564 (6,030) 57,715

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

BEEARFEFRMEaZAEENBEAT /M

subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests are HBERBEHIWT -
set out below.
2021 2020
- -
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®Tr ARBT
Maoming Huada RBEK
Current assets MENE E 298,461 550,653
Non-current assets ERBEE 5,939 76,249
Current liabilities REEE (179,476) (117,678)
Non-current liabilities JEREIEE (11,661) (34,224)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KBRS NEILER 101,936 427,500
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests FEIEFIME MR 11,327 47,500
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38. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

4= O

i 3

A5 ER R MIEE

—EH- B=+—HLEE

38. JEEEWIMEDR 2

(Continued)
2021 2020
— B "B EF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETT
Revenue & 175,484 247,878
(Loss) profit for the year FR (B8 &mH (367,211) 8,511
(Loss) profit attributable to owners of Company ~ ASA SIS AFELL (B518) #F) (330,490) 7,660
(Loss) profit attributable to JEITEH MR R E(L (B518) /& H)
the non-controlling interests (36,721) 851
(Loss) profit for the year FR (B518) & (367,211) 8,511
Other comprehensive income attributable to KABHEE ANELEMEERE
owners of the Company 4,926 -
Other comprehensive income attributable to FFEFIMEREEEMEEN G
non-controlling interests 548 -
Other comprehensive income for the year FAHMEEUWE 5,474 =
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) R (F8) EM AE2E (%) Wi
income for the year 4B zA (361,737) 8,511
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) — ANABHEE AREMLERN (E518) HF)
income for the year attributable to owners of the K&Z2E FIs) WHALEE
Company (325,564) 7,660
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) — FEFZEHIIER R ELER (B518) HF
income for the year attributable to non- Ra2m ) WamHAREE
controlling interests (36,173) 851
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) — F A (E518) w2 E ) W
income for the year 4B EE (361,737) 8,511
2021 2020
—EBE-F CT°ZTH
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TFT
Net cash outflow in operating activities KEEBPTRARE MR (36,883) (12,378)
Net cash inflow from investing activities KREEBMRRERAEERE 43,976 20,672
Net cash outflow in financing activities B ESFARE MR8 - (6,000)
Net cash inflow REMAFEE 7,093 2,294
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38. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 38. JEIEHIM4EE (&
(Continued)
2021 2020
-8 IZZTIZTHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TFT
Maoming Shang Cheng X%
Current assets MBEE 384,354 279,597
Non-current assets JERENEE 116 19
Current liabilities mEaR (434,064) (250,434)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company Zliﬁﬂ%ﬁ/\ﬁhfﬁfb# (32,237) 18,967
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests FEFEBIE R LR (17,357) 10,215
2021 2020
B TZETEZTHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR®TT
Revenue g - -
Loss for the year FAEE (78,918) (811)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KABHEE AFELEIR (51,296) (527)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interest FEREH MM T PR 5 1R (27.621) (284)
Loss for the year FERNEE (78,917) (811)
Other comprehensive income attributable to KRB B ANEEEHME2E N E
owners of the Company 92 -
Other comprehensive income attributable to non-  JEFEHI 14 # 2 FE L EAth 2 T W &=
controlling interests 49 -
Other comprehensive income for the year FAHMPEUWE 141 =
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FFRIE5IE K 2 2 48 %8 (78,776) (811)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year ZNA B A AFE(LEANEE K&
attributable to owners of the Company P HEBEZERE (51,204) (524)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FE3ZEil)14 1 23 FE 15 £ N5 18 K%
attributable to non-controlling interests P HEBEZERE (27,572) (287)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year EWEE?EE’ZE@F'%i%%E (78,776) 811)
2021 2020
B T TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Net cash outflow in operating activities &SRS R REE (122,615) (56,114)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities & EEENFFEIREE CRH) RAFE (108) 110
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEEHFAERERA L 99,000 71,506
Net cash (outflow) inflow BE (Rd) mAZEE (23,723) 15,502
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 39. AATMFFERAR
OF THE COMPANY
2021 2020
B — = =
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT
Non-current Assets EREEE
Interests in subsidiaries R EB AR 2w 965,573 1,009,623
Amounts due from subsidiaries R EYNCIE O] 58,194 60,625
1,023,767 1,070,248
Current Assets MENEE
Other receivables HApE W FIE 58 171
Bank balances and cash R1T4E Y_)S’ziﬁi 564 760
622 931
Current Liabilities mENAaE
Other payables HAEIFIE 3,746 2,138
Other borrowing HEmR 8,150 8,420
Amount due to a director B —%EERIE 2,201 =
Amount due to a former director R —ZaifEEE A 14,589 =
28,686 10,558
Net Current Liabilities mENAEFEE (28,064) (9,627)
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities BEERREAE 995,703 1,060,621
Non-current Liability JEREEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries N NGIE O] 796,871 822,599
Net Assets BEFE 198,832 238,022
Capital and Reserves B RG#E
Ordinary share capital Eim AR 222,157 222,157
Reserves EX (23,325) 15,865
Total Equity AR 198,832 238,022

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

Directors of the Company on 17 March 2023: R AR E
Mr. PAN Shimin Mr. CHEN Xian
BHELE PRE LY
Director Director
= s

RIE_=ZF=ZR+tHEXATEFEH#
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

==

39. ARBMBRRAER &

The movements in reserves are as follows: EESHANOT
Share
Share  Contributed options  Translation ~Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
i aE BARE  BRERHRRE ER G BHER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBFr  ARETn ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Note)
i3]
At 1 January 2020 RZE-ZF-B-H 578,990 67,614 5,481 (58,711) (610,881) (17,507)
Loss for the year FRER - - = = (17,440) (17,440)
Exchange differences arising on translation of functional A SR EA2H EE
currency to presentation currency EEZERER - - - 51,262 - 51,262
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year FRZENE (%) 258 - - - 51,262 (17,440) 33,822
Transaction costs directly attributable to issue of new shares E{THRMBERELERZRA (450) - - - S (450)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RIFZZE+ZA=+-BE
“2Z-F-f-H 578,540 67,614 5,481 (7,449) (628,321) 15,865
Loss for the year ERER = = = = (64,285) (64,285)
Exchange differences arising on translation of functional A SAEA2H M
currency to presentation currency EEZERER - - - 25,095 - 25,095
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year FRZENE (%) 2% - - - 25,095 (64,285) (39,190)
At 31 December 2021 RIE_-F#+-B=1+-H 578,540 67,614 5,481 17,646 (692,606) (23,325

Note:  Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the nominal value of the ordinary shares issued by
the Company and the net asset value of subsidiaries acquired
through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 2001.

40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include other borrowing, lease liabilities, amounts due to
non-controlling interests, amounts due to directors, amount
due to a former director and secured bank borrowing, and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

The directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associate with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

40. BEFEBEER &

EETEMRASBEARB - F/Z BT Z—8F
D EBEFERELANAREAKSBESARAZA
B RBEEFZHERER FXEBERZEZBIKM
RE-FRETRROBEUKRETHESNK
BOREEBTHHEBRERRBE -

41. BEIA
(a) BT AER

2021 2020
—EC-F EEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBTT

Financial assets HREE

FVTPL BAREST ARG
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL BEEANEBESABRTE

— Held-for-trading —FHER 5 4,313 6,402
Financial assets at amortised cost RSN A B EEE 61,966 112,901
66,279 119,303

Financial liabilities BEasE
Amortised cost I AL AR 151,010 124,336

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include deposits,
other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL, restricted bank
deposit, pledged bank deposits, bank balances, trade and
other payables, other borrowing, amounts due to non-
controlling interests, amounts due to directors, amount
due to a former director, lease liabilities, secured bank
borrowing and bank overdrafts. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with the Group’s financial instruments include
market risk (interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(b) MBEBREZEBRKRER

FEBIEUBIACEZRS  HMEWK
RE-BAREFABZZIVBEE AR
RITEF - EERRTER - RTEF - BES
Fe B A FE (S FRIE ~ Eo A8 7R~ B8 A IR 14
mRE - BNEERE BN —RAEESN
E-HEER -AHBEMETEARBETEX -
MBETAZFBREHBANERE - ARAELE
BB IAZEAREETSRR RIXERKR
REAERER) - GEREBRABHETER-
MEAEZEFRBZBREIN N T - EEES
EEREEZSTRR BREFAENMEKE

EE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to other borrowing and lease liabilities. The
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to restricted bank deposit, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances, variable-rate secured bank borrowing
and bank overdrafts. Interest rate risk is managed by
the management on an ongoing basis with the primary
objective of limiting the extent to which net interest
expense could be affected by adverse movements in
interest rates.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of
some interbank offered rates (“IBORs"”) with alternative
nearly risk-free rates. Details of the impacts on the
Group’s risk management strategy arising from the
interest rate benchmark reform and the progress towards
implementation of alternative benchmark interest rates
are set out under “interest rate benchmark reform” in this
note.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate secured
bank borrowing and bank overdrafts at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
50 basis points (2020: 50 basis points) increase or decrease
is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel. Restricted bank deposit, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances are excluded from
sensitivity analysis as the directors of the Company consider
that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from
them is insignificant.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZF_

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rates had been 50 basis points (2020: 50
basis points) higher or lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately RMB42,000 (2020:
RMB55,000).

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
equity investments measured at FVTPL which are quoted in
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the management will
monitor the price movements and take appropriate actions
when it is required.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end of
the reporting period. If the prices of the respective equity
investments had been 10% (2020: 10%) higher/lower, the
post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 would
decrease/increase by approximately RMB360,000 (2020:
RMB535,000) as a result of the changes in fair value.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 EiZE—

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 41.

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b)
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
In addition, the Group performs impairment

debts.

assessment under ECL model under application of HKFRS 9 BT {d o BLLL >
on other receivables individually. In this regard, the directors EERMR-
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment AEBNRNEE
comprises the following categories: 58 .

e+ A=+ BILEE

BT A @
MBERREEERREBER (&

FERER BTG (&)

ABEEERRE EEEENIEERMEE
EEEEREBE-EEMRAEMEERERF U
FERIREURETEERIE IR - L5 IR
REBUYGREENFTIRE  xEERER
HAS & 5 18 15 = Bl H 4th /8 IR IR & 17 18 Bl R

EEARTARBEAERRN

EERBERNFEHEEENTS

Other financial assets/

Internal credit rating Description other items

AEBE & T4 it Hitgi#EE " HithlER

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does ~ 12-month ECL
not have any past-due amounts

ERbE R HNELNRBERK B B fEEARIE 128 B FERRE B8

Medium risk There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
since initial recognition and had past-due amounts
but have been settled subsequently

R R R BYFEBE EERREXRIEMN BEFAR 2HEREEHE—RKERES
FRIE TE'EEC,Jﬁ/aTa BB

High risk There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
impaired

= g BRBRASECHRESHE THITRIEEEE—E5RIE

Written-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

e BERBRAEHFABARENBRE MAEEH SHEEME
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZF_

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group's other receivables, restricted bank deposit, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances which are subject to ECL
assessment:

41.
(b)

B#EIA @
MBERREEERREER (@)

A5 ER R MIEE

—EH- B=+—HLEE

FERER BTG (&)

TRFLAEBHEMBWRIA - BRFIETHE
FCoBHHBETERKRRITESF (BBRETE

HEEBEBNMG FEERZEERR :

External Internal
credit credit 12-month or Gross
Notes ratings ratings lifetime ECL carrying amount
X NRER  AEER @R
(i R 4R 2HRBEEEE MR E
2021 2020
—E_-F “EI%R
RMB'000 RVB'000
ARBTT ARETFTT
Financial assets at AP EZ
amortised cost HEEE
Bank balances RITER 22 A1-Bal N/A 12-month ECL 40,114 77,830
B 12BREHREERSE
Restricted bank deposit ~ BRFIFTHER 21 A2 N/A 12-month ECL - 22
B 12BREHREERSE
Pledged bank deposits BHEHRITER 2 A1-A2 N/A 12-month ECL 4,482 11,486
B 12BREHREERSE
Other receivables HinEWEE 19 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 17,110 23,840
B EER 12BREHEERSE
Medium risk  lifetime ECL 476 663
RERR  (not credit-im mpaired)
%ﬂﬂiﬁﬁﬂ SE18
(RHRE ff/ ({8)
High risk lifetime ECL 398 411
BER  (credit-impaired)
EHRBEERE
(EERB
Deposits Be 19 /A Lowrisk ~ 12-month ECL 263 278
TER HaE R RMEREHEERSE
Other items AEL
Financial quarantee MBRREN 36 /A Low risk 12-month ECL 80,814 163,165
contracts (Note) (Rt 3E) B EER 12BREHREERSE
Note: For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount Mzt . MMBERSAMES  REREEEFAEERESS

represents the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed

under the respective contracts.

MEERNERS TR
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Bank balances, restricted bank deposit and pledged bank
deposits

The credit risks on bank balances, restricted bank
deposit and pledged bank deposits are limited because
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk
in relation to its restricted bank deposit, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances placed with a bank amounted
to approximately RMB21,608,000 (2020: RMB42,664,000)
which accounted for approximately 48% (2020: 48%) of
the Group’s total restricted bank deposit, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances.

Other receivables

For other receivables under 12m ECL and under lifetime
ECL (not credit-impaired), the directors of the Company
make periodic individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. The other receivables mainly
represent loan receivables which are not past due and with
settlement during the year and after assessing the ECL,
an allowance of approximately RMB729,000 was reversed
(2020: RMB1,236,000 was recognised) for the year ended
31 December 2021.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZF_

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables (Continued)

For other receivables under lifetime ECL (credit-impaired),
receivables which are past due more than five years are
considered as default and irrecoverable and has been fully
impaired.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk in
relation to its other receivables and deposits from the
Group's five major debtors amounted to approximately
RMB10,493,000 (2020: RMB9,317,000) which accounted
for approximately 57% (2020: 40%) of the Group's total
other receivables and deposits. The major debtors of the
Group are property buyers. The management considers that
the credit risk is limited in this regard.

Other than disclosed above, the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit risk.

Financial guarantee contracts

The credit risk of financial guarantee contracts are limited
as any default on mortgage payments by the purchasers,
the banks are entitled to take over the bank deposits
and legal titles of properties and can realise the pledged
properties through open auction, or the banks transfer
the pledged properties to the Group, then the Group sell
the properties through open auction. The directors of the
Company believe that there are no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition. For
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group
assessed the ECL for financial guarantee contracts as
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.
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41. BMEITH &=
(b) HFEEREEEREREE &)

FERER BTG (&)
HthfEWHE (&
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RBEN AR I B HRE -

AEEBRELEBFIEBRRARABHEAZEHME
WHBENREEALANRE®¥10,493,00075T (=
7_7$ AR #9,317,0007) 2EHEE
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)
The following table shows the movements in 12m ECL and

lifetime ECL that has been recognised for other receivables
under the general approach.

41. BMEITH #H)
(b) HFEEREEEREREE &)

FERER BTG (&)
HEEERER (&
TREIREFE—RF AR A HME WA

MI2EAEREAGER BERGEEER
e 1R

Other receivables Bt =8
Lifetime ECL
2HAEREEES
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
1B EMAE CREREER
8518 AE) (EERIE) Mt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T AREF T AREF T ARET T
At 1 January 2020 R-E-T&—B—H - - 448 448
Changes due to financial R_E-_TF—F—HP
instruments as 1 January MBI RS :
2020:
— Impairment loss recognised -EFESRRER1E 85 138 - 223
New financial assets originated B E£ R EEE MU HE
or purchased I3 1,013 = = 1,013
Exchange differences fERER - - (37) (37)
At 31 December 2020 and NZEIE
1 January 2021 +ZA=+—Hk
:%E: F—HA—H 1,098 138 411 1,647
Changes due to financial N ZE—F—HF—HK
instruments as 1 January T AESH !
2021:
— Impairment loss - (B#E) ERZRAERE
(reversed) recognised (991) 24 - (967)
New financial assets originated BE4 HEEEN MM HE
or purchased B 238 - - 238
Exchange differences [ERZELE = = (13) (13)
At 31 December 2021 RZB-—F
+ZA=+—H 345 162 398 905
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowing and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

Liquidity risk analysis

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity
for their non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)

41.

MBIAR®E

(b) MBERMRBEBRKRER &

TEEEmE (&

TBEE REIT (B

Carrying
Weighted ~ On demand Total amount at
average  or less than 3 months 1 year to 2to5 undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 3 month to 1 years 2 years years cash flows 2021
RZIEZ-F
REXH FERRE +ZA=+-H
T 7= DR=ER =ERE-£ —FEmE MEELE k£ ZIREE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTFR AEBTFR AEBTFR AEBTFT AEBTFR AEBTFR
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEfT4 M &E
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENTE N/ARER 17,117 - - - 17,117 17,7117
Amounts due to directors ENESHE N/ARER 2,325 - - - 2,325 2,325
Amount due to a former director E—RATEETE N/ATBR 14,589 - - - 14,589 14,589
Amounts due to non-controlling interests  JEft 514 HEEFIE N/ARER 98,250 - - - 98,250 98,250
Bank overdrafts iﬁmj 3.06 1,959 - - - 1,959 1,959
Secured bank borrowing BRAERITER
- variable rate —FETE 2.30 8,020 - - - 8,020 8,020
Other borrowing HitfER 6.00 - 8,395 - - 8,395 8,150
Lease liability HEBE 3.5 234 704 318 5 1,261 1,242
Financial quarantee contracts HMBEREH N/ARER 80,814 - - - 80,814 -
223,908 9,099 318 5 233,330 152,252
Carrying
Weighted On demand Total amount at
average or less than 3 months 1 year to 2to5  undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 3 months to 1 year 2 years years cash flows 2020
RIEZEE
BRERY FURRE +°A=+-H
il SilES PR=@ER =ZERE-F —FERE MEERE MERE ZEEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NS AEEFRT AEEFT AEEFT AEEFT AEEFT
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JFfT4 M &R
Trade and other payables B RAMENTE NATER 11,103 - - - 11,103 11,103
Amounts due to directors EREZHE NATER 6,624 - - - 6,624 6,624
Amounts due to non-controlling interests ﬁg IR R R E NATER 85,000 - - - 85,000 85,000
Bank overdrafts RITEX 3.04 4,039 - - - 4,039 4,039
Secured bank borrowing BHRABRITER
- variable rate o LS 2.30 9,150 = = = 9,150 9,150
Other borrowing Hﬁﬂ%?)’\ 6.00 - 8,673 - - 8,673 8,420
Lease liabilty el 5.83 255 91 9 14 369 361
Financial quarantee contracts Eﬁ%%%ﬁé%@ NATER 163,165 - - - 163,165 -
279,336 8,764 9 14 288,123 124,697
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)

Secured bank borrowing with a repayment on demand
clause is included in the “on demand or less than 3
months” time band in the above maturity analysis.
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of the secured bank
borrowing amounted to approximately RMB8,020,000
and RMB9,150,000 respectively. Taking into account the
Group’s financial position, the directors do not believe that
it is probable that the banks will exercise its discretionary
right to demand immediate repayment. The directors
believe that such secured bank borrowing will be repaid
nine years (2020: ten years) after the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreement, details of which are set out
in the table below:

41. BMEITH &=
(b) HEERETEEERKE @)

TEEEmEE (&)
TEEE REIHT (B

EEREREZERAZBIRIFRITERS
SFALMBEBEOMIBEERI LR =@AH]
CEEEERN R _E - —GFRER_E2E_F2F
+ZB=+—H > BEFRITERZREIRL
ZEHHEHEAHNAREES, 020,000 AR
19,150,000 o st M A E B 2 AR RE >
EEFHEERTUETHEEERIBERZ
MiE# EXHE ZBIBRFRTERBENR
LHHBNE (CTE2F . +45) NIRES
ApEFMEAECERHPEE HFEBHNT
%=

Carrying

Weighted Total amount at

average 1 year to Over  undiscounted 31 December

interest rate ~ Within 1 year 2 years 2to 5 years 5 years cash flows 2021

RIEZ-%

*uRRE +°A=+-H

MiEFgHI= —%R —FEME MEELE AEME RERE ZIREE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEBTFR AEBFT AEBFT AEBTFR AEBTFR AEBTFT
Non-derivative financial FHEHBaRE

liabilities

Secured bank borrowing BIARRTER

~ variable rate o EIGIES 230 1,065 1,065 3,195 3,726 9,051 8,020

Carrying

Weighted Total amount at

average 1 year to 2 years to Over undiscounted 31 December

interest rate Within 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows 2021

RIBZ-%

KERRE +°A=1+-H

il SailES —&R —FERE MEERE RENE MERE ZREE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEEFT NSO AREFT ARETT AEEFRT AREFT
Non-derivative financial FHEHBER

liabilities

Secured bank borrowing BIRARITER

- variable rate — 28R 2.30 1,065 1,065 3,195 4,791 10,116 9,150
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 EiZE—

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectation at
the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that
it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable
under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee which is a function of
the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

(c) Fair values

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

o the fair values of financial assets at FVTPL are
determined with reference to quoted market bid
prices and ask prices respectively; and

o the fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding financial assets at FVTPL) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on a discounted cash flow
analysis using prices from observable current
market transactions. The directors consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at amortised cost recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_ZE_—F+_FA=+—HIEFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

One of the Group’s financial assets is measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period. The following
table provides an analysis of financial instrument that is
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which

the fair value is observable.

41. BMEITH &=
(d HEIAZARELHES

AEBZHEP-—BYHFEERBSHRER
ARESHE - TREIUHZIREZDH HIHR
NPEIBEAAEAELRBETEHERELA
BERIAFT—HREF =R

As at 31 December 2021

Recurring fair value measurements:

Financial assets at FVTPL

KZEZ-F+ZB=+—H
EEUNERE:
BARAEHABGZMBEE

As at 31 December 2020

Recurring fair value measurements:

Financial assets at FVTPL

R-EBZBE+-A=+-H
RENARESE:
BAREABRZMHEE

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during
both years. The fair value of the financial assets at FVTPL is
from quoted bid prices in an active market.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—1 - EE ] st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR#EFT AREF T ARETT AREFT
4,313 - = 4313

6,402 - - 6,402
PREFE  F—REF R B EESEEo

BRAAREBFABHGZHMBEEZRAAERE
REBHISEREAE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE_E_—F+_A=+—HI-FE

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing

activities are those for which cash flows were, or

future

cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

42. RMETBFFEEREZHER

TEFINAEERMETHMELEERGZE
o OERERIFREEH -RETHRMELE
BEREREAECARKRBEEARENTE
HaRoReERBERDEAMETHEERE
Zz8f&-

activities.
Amounts Interest
due to Amount payable
non-  Amounts due to Secured  (included
Lease Other  controlling dueto  aformer bank in other
liabilities  borrowing interests  directors director  borrowing  payables) Total
FEf Ef—% FEfIFIS
IR EMEE AiREES AEA GtAHM
HE&fE HMER wE MR RE O OBAER EAFSH Mt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTR ARETT ARBTrn ARETR ARETT AREFn ARETR ARETT
At 1 January 2020 RIE-ZE-F-H 1,612 14,389 15,994 3,139 - 1,776 54 36,964
Financing cash flows BERSHE (1,213) (5449) 69,006 3,660 - 8,183 ) 146
Exchange differences ERER (97) (520) - (175) - (809) 3) (1,604)
Interest expenses fIERE 59 - - - - - m 830
At 31 December 2020 and RZB_ZE
1 January 2021 +ZA=+-A%
Z32-F-A-H 361 8,420 85,000 6,624 - 9,150 51 109,606
Financing cash flows HERERE (972) - 13,250 (4,259) 14,589 (837) (782) 20,989
Exchange differences EREH 6 (270) - (40) - (293) = (597)
Interest expenses MEFY 2 - - - - - 782 804
Inception of new leases BiemiEE 1,825 - - - - - - 1,825
At 31 December 2021 RZB_-F
+ZA=1+-H 1,242 8,150 98,250 2,325 14,589 8,020 51 132,627
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZF_

43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 27 January 2022, the Board was informed by the
management of Maoming Huada and Maoming Shang
Cheng, each of which being an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company in the PRC, that certain bank
accounts (collectively referred to as the “Bank Accounts”)
of Maoming Huada and Maoming Shang Cheng were
frozen (the “Incident”) and based on the records of the
Group, the balances of the Bnmank Accounts of Maoming
Huada and Maoming Shang Cheng are approximately
RMB16,120,000 and RMB1,000,000, respectively. Prior to
the Incident, the Group has not received any notice and/or
documents in respect of the Incident from any party.

The Group having made immediate preliminary enquiries
with the respective banks and being verbally informed
by the respective banks that the Bank Accounts were
purportedly frozen by Zhanjiang City Public Security Bureau
GESITH/A% /) (the “Security Bureau”). The Group has
forthwith engaged a PRC legal adviser to make enquiries
with the Security Bureau and provide the Group with legal
advice. As at the date of this report, the Group has not
been provided with any formal replies about the details of
the reasons behind the Incident.

On 9 March 2022, in order to expedite the unfreezing of
the Bank Accounts, Maoming Huada and Maoming Shang
Cheng, as advised by the PRC legal adviser for the interest
of the Group and its related party, each has executed an
agreement (“Custodian Agreement”) with a PRC bank, for
the joint custodian of company chops and U-keys for the
Bank Accounts.

On 21 March 2022, the Security Bureau unfroze all the
Bank Accounts and Maoming Huada and Maoming Shang
Cheng can operate the Bank Accounts for their ordinary
business normally under the joint custodian arrangement
since then.

As at the date of these consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are of the view that the
Custodian Agreement does not have material adverse
effect on the normal business operations of Maoming
Huada and/or Maoming Shang Cheng. The management
will continue to assess the impact of the Incident on
the Group. Further details of the Incident are set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 28 January 2022,
28 March 2022 and 31 October 2022.

iR e MRS IR AR MIEE

——H+tZR=+—HLEE

43. HREHRFE

RIE_—_F#—B_+tH EFZEXL
EARRLLEH (ZFEAETRARHFEHZE
EBE2ERBEAD) SEEEN RELEAK
XA LA TIRITERS (RBIRITRP)) B
RBiE (TEH) BEAER 2R RBEK
REL EHZBITRPEHDNANARE
16,120,000t & AR #1,000,000 0 c N EH
BAERF O AEBUEMRSHBZETANALZME
B R, oS o

AEEERNFEAMEBRTELN T EHR > WE
MR OB |RITRELRETIHAR
BAZBNIETRE FAEBBHEZE—X
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Schedule of Properties

YIEBE R

At 31 December 2021 R -_—F+_"_A=+—H
A. PROPERTIES IN THE PRC A, (IRHPEZME
Stage of
development
Group's & Date of
Location Usage Area Lease term interest Classification Completion
rEE RERRR
Uk B#& il THEH i e EIHH
Portion of Maoming Project, Commercial Gross floor area—  Medium to 90% Completed, 2016
Zhangian 7th Road, approximately long term investment
Yuehua East District, 4,000 sg. m. properties
Maoming
2Rl T [ES BREEE- FHE RS 90% BRI “ERE
BER/E #94,000 75 K =L/
ReBEEZHBD
Zhangjian 7th Road, Commercial and Gross floor area = Medium to 90% Completed, 2016/2018
Yuehua East District, residential complex ~ approximately* long term properties
Maoming 245,000 sg. m. held for sale
2Rl TR HEKAERERE HARERR- FEHERH 90% Bl FHE _f—/\ﬁ/
BER/E #9*245,000F 5 kS —N\F
VN
JIXIANG-23, Jixiang District, Commercial and Gross floor area = Medium to 65% Under- N/A
Maoming residential complex  approximately* long term development
118,000 sg. m.
REMEHNEIXANG-23 BERETHREE BREEE- FHERE 65% FE T TER
49%118,000 5
VN
g Including sold and unsold portion. * BIEEERKREE D
B. PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG B. INREBEBZME
Approximate Lease Group's
Location Usage saleable area term interest
EMH
Uk itfas MAaRHERR HES it
Suite 1501, 15th Floor, Tower 1, Silvercord, Office premises — Own use 242 sq.m. Medium 100%
30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon.
NEERDIBEREOFMABRL—HIEBI01E  BFEYE—8R 282F 5K i HA 100%
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